




www.tbcbank.ge



CONTENT

BUSINESS REVIEW
01. CHIEF EXECUTIVE�S REVIEW
02. STRATEGY
03. BUSINESS LINES:

- Retail Banking
- Corporate Banking  
- SME Banking
- Micro-Banking � Constanta
- TBC Kredit 
- TBC Leasing 
- TBC Invest

31
34
36

ABOUT TBC GROUP
01. WHO WE ARE
02. ABOUT GEORGIA
03. BANK HISTORY
04. GROUP CHAIRMAN�S STATEMENT
05. MEMBERS OF GOVERNING BODIES

05
10
13
20
23

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

01. SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 47

PERFORMANCE

01. 2012 PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
02. FINANCIAL REVIEW

53
54

01. RISK MANAGEMENT
02. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

63
72

RISK MANAGEMENT 
& CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS OF TBC GROUP

01. AUDIT REPORT 81



TBC GROUP
ABOUT





05

A
B

O
U

T 
TB

C
 G

R
O

U
P

Established in 1992, within a decade we became one of the largest financial institutions and 
strongest Georgian brands.  Along with the 20th anniversary celebration this year, we are proud that 
in 2012 we continued creating opportunities for people and businesses, which in turn contributed to 
the creation of additional wealth in the country.

2012 was another year of strong performance, during which we considerably expanded our 
business, further strengthened our position in the market and delivered results with strong 
profitability. 

Total assets grew by 18.2%, increasing our market share to 25.8%. Similarly, total loans and total 
deposits grew by 17.0% and 24.4% respectively, resulting in the growth of total loans market share 
to 26.2% and total deposits to 31.5%. Furthermore, we have retained and strengthened our position 
as the leading Georgian bank in retail deposits with 35.2% of the market share. Along with the solid 
growth rates, the Group continued delivering strong ROE of 18.6%.   

During 2012, the Group (TBC and Constanta) expanded its service coverage in Georgia by increasing 
its branch, ATM and POS terminal network. As a result of this expansion, as of 31 December 2012, 
the Group had 105 branches and service-centers, 274 ATMs and 2,888 point of sale (POS) terminals 
throughout Georgia.

In addition, the Group made significant breakthroughs in its multichannel product and service 
offering which included launching new internet and mobile banking (first iPhone banking) and 
extending the functionality of TBC Pay terminals (cash payment machines and banking kiosks). 
This success was recognized by Global Finance magazine, which awarded TBC Bank �Best 
Consumer Internet Bank in Georgia� and �Best Integrated Consumer Bank site in Central and 
Eastern Europe� in 2012. 

Another significant event that the Group celebrated in its 20th anniversary year was a capital raising 
transaction whereby the Group increased its equity by GEL 25 million and increased tier 2 capital by 
GEL 25 million from its existing shareholders. This new capital will enable the Group to continue 
sustainable growth.  

Shareholder structure broadly remained the same: EBRD, IFC, DEG and FMO, jointly have 57%, JP 
Morgan and Ashmore 9%, two founders 26%, with the remainder belonging to management and 
others. 

WHO WE ARE
We are a leading Bank in Georgia, offering a wide range of 
products through our extensively developed retail, corporate, 
SME and micro-banking business lines, with a wide presence 
within Georgia and an expanding network in the region.
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Our aspiration is to continue sustainable growth while remaining committed to our social and 
environmental responsibilities.  We aim to become the finest financial institution in the region and, 
in turn, promote the international image of Georgia, and the Caucasus as a whole.

OUR MISSION:
We create new opportunities for the success 
of people and businesses.

 have the largest franchise of medium and high-income retail and SME business segments;

 be the core bank for large corporate businesses;

 be the leader in micro-finance; 

 be the leader in the non-resident deposits segment;

 be the bank of regional importance.

OUR VISION:
Through the best employees, strong branding and superior customer 
experience provided via innovative, multichannel facilities our goal is to:
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BUSINESS LINES

In 2012 TBC Bank further solidified its position as the leading retail bank in the market with the 
largest market share in retail deposits of 35.2% and a 23.1% market share in retail loans.

In 2012 the retail segment grew by 13.3% in loans and 27.2% in deposits reaching total portfolios of 
GEL 954.5 million and GEL 1,398.1 million in loans and deposits respectively. In addition in 2012 the 
Group significantly increased the number of retail accounts, which reached 835,000 � an increase of 
approximately 190,000 or 30% from Y.E. 2011. 

The Group�s retail business has been historically differentiated by the best customer experience 
and the strongest brand, while the Group�s multichannel capabilities have become another 
differentiating factor.

RETAIL BANKING

2012 marked another successful year of growth for the Group�s corporate banking division, with the 
Group achieving 28.5% of the market share in loans and 27.8% of the market share in deposits. 

The Group�s corporate loan portfolio grew by 13.8% and deposits portfolio by 14.4% reaching GEL 
1,142.1 million for total loans and GEL 800.3 million for total deposits. Furthermore, the Group�s 
number of corporate accounts reached 4,600 as of 31 December 2012 � an increase of 240 accounts 
during the year. 

The Management believes that the Group�s broad sector coverage, main industry expertise, 
flexibility and long-term partnerships with clients, differentiates the Group from its competitors. 

CORPORATE BANKING

In 2012 the Group continued providing financial solutions to its existing and new clients with the 
objective of supporting their growth and helping to turn them into large corporate businesses. With 
such aspirations, we are proud to be one of the fastest growing SME lenders; in 2012 our loan and 
deposits portfolios grew by 24.7% and 42.8% respectively, achieving a total loan book of GEL 294.2 
million and total deposits book of GEL 285.2 million. In addition the SME client base reached 33,000 
� an increase of 4,300 or 15% over prior year. 

The Management believes that the Group�s sophisticated service and sales model, flexibility and 
individual client approach makes the Group stand out from its competitors. 

SME BANKING
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Already into our second year in the micro-banking market, through the acquisition of Bank 
Constanta, we have further strengthened the expertise and knowledge in this segment, as shown 
by the Bank Constanta financial results.

In 2012 Bank Constanta demonstrated its position as a leading player in the micro-finance sector by 
the significant growth in the size of the business, client base and countrywide branch coverage.  

Bank Constanta increased its loan portfolio by GEL 60.9 million and deposits portfolio by GEL 2.2 
million reaching GEL 145.9 million and GEL 3.3 million for total loans and deposits portfolio 
respectively.  

The Management believes that Constanta�s extensive branch network, wide range of available 
products tailored specifically for the micro-finance segment as well as its strong expertise in the 
sector, clearly differentiates the Group in this market. 

MICRO-BANKING � CONSTANTA
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TBC Bank holds a 75.0% equity interest in TBC Kredit � a rapidly growing non-banking credit 
organization, which has been operating in Azerbaijan�s MSME market since 1999. 

TBC Kredit has extensive experience in dealing with MSME finance, as well as consumer loans and 
mortgages. 

In 2012 TBC Kredit continued active growth and achieved a gross loans portfolio of GEL 60.5 million, 
a year-on-year increase of 31.3% resulting from the increase in active client base by 500 to 3600 as 
of 31 December 2012. The growth in client numbers was partly due to the branch network 
expansion in which TBC Kredit opened another branch in Azerbaijan�s capital, Baku. 

TBC KREDIT
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TBC Invest is a fully owned subsidiary of TBC Bank, operating in Israel as an intermediary between 
potential clients and TBC Bank. The main aim of this company is to attract deposits from the Israeli 
market which are believed to be a less expensive source of funding. 

2012 was a very successful year for TBC Invest � it attracted more than 230 new customers and 
increased deposits by USD 28.4 million during the year, reaching a total deposits portfolio of USD          
42.1 million.

TBC INVEST

SUBSIDIARIES
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TBC Leasing JSC was founded by TBC Bank in 2004, which as of 31 December 2012, holds 90% of 
total TBC Leasing shares. In 2005, EBRD became a shareholder of TBC Leasing, holding 10% of the 
total shares. 

In 2012 the TBC Leasing portfolio grew by GEL 4.7 million reaching a total of GEL 25.2 million. 
Despite the very small rise in the portfolio, along with the leasing market development in the 
country, TBC Leasing has ambitious plans for portfolio growth. 

TBC LEASING 
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Georgia is located in the Caucasus region between the Black Sea and the Caspian Sea. It has 
borders with the Black Sea, Turkey, Russia, Armenia and Azerbaijan. The population is 4.5 million. 
During 2010-2012, Georgia had one of the fastest growing economies in Europe, with a real GDP 
growth of 6.3% in 2010, 7.2% in 2011 and an estimated 6.1% in 2012 . According to the World Bank, 
Georgia was among the top three fastest growing economies in Europe for two consecutive years � 
2010 and 2011.

The Georgian economy demonstrated strong performance in 2012. In 2012 GDP reached USD 15.3 
billion  while over the year inflation fell to �1.4%. The exchange rates remained fairly stable with the 
2012 year-end USD/GEL exchange rate at 1.6567. FDI also increased reaching USD 865.2 million in 
2012. The key industries that benefit from FDI are transport and communication, energy and 
manufacturing.

Georgia has a relatively strong and diversified economic structure with low taxes and one of the 
least bureaucratic environments. The outlook for the Georgian economy remains promising with 
the IMF real GDP growth forecast being 5.0% for 2013 onwards. The country is currently involved in 
discussions on lifting the trade embargo with Russia and about free trade agreements with the 
European Union and the United States, both of which will further support economic growth. 

GEORGIAN ECONOMY

ABOUT GEORGIA

Economy
  * * *GDP: USD 15.8 billion ; GDP per capita: USD 3,520 ; Real GDP Growth 2012: 6.1%
  Inflation, December 2012 (Y-o-Y): -1.4%

Exchange Rates
  1 USD = GEL 1.6567, 1 EUR = 2.1825
  USD/GEL during last five years: Max 1.89, Min 1.40

Ratings
  Fitch : BB-/Stable / Standard & Poor's: BB-/Stable/ Moody's: Ba3/Stable

Recent Achievements
  The World�s No. 1 Reformer, the World Bank & IFC Doing Business Report 2013
  No. 9 globally on the Ease of Doing Business the World Bank & IFC Doing Business Report 

2013
  No. 1 globally in terms of registering property, the World Bank & IFC Doing Business Report 

2013 

KEY FACTS ABOUT GEORGIA 

*   Source: National Bank of Georgia and GeostatTB
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The IFC/World Bank �Doing Business 2013� report again ranked Georgia as the No. 1 �reformer� in 
the world.  According to the same source, Georgia took 9th position for the �Ease of doing business� 
and was ranked No. 1 in the world in terms of registering property. In the Index of Economic 
Freedom, an annual guide published by The Wall Street Journal and The Heritage Foundation, 
Georgia is ranked 11th out of 43 countries in the European region and its score was the most 
improved in the 2013 Index.

The recent parliamentary election in Georgia resulted in a democratic power transition to a new 
government, which has announced it will continue the country�s pro-western international 
aspirations. This smooth transition is exemplary across the region and most of the CIS countries 
and is believed to strengthen fundamentals for sustainable growth.

In 2012, Fitch and S&P affirmed Georgia�s rating at �BB-� and Moody�s at Ba3 with a stable outlook. 

The Georgian Banking industry is one of the largest sectors in the country and is, arguably, the best 
in the region. It is comprised of 20 banks, entirely privately owned and relatively concentrated, with 
the five largest banks accounting for 82% of the total banking assets. At the end of 2012, total 
banking assets were GEL 14.4 million and total banking loans increased by 13% during the period.

During 2012 total loans increased to GEL 8.7 billion, compared with GEL 7.7 billion in 2011.  
Corporate loans accounted for 57.4% of the total loans, reaching GEL 5.0 billion, while total 
individual loans amounted to GEL 3.7 billion.

The same year, total deposits increased to GEL 7.6 billion, compared with GEL 6.7 billion in 2011.  
Corporate deposits accounted for 49.4% of the total deposits, reaching GEL 3.8 million, while total 
individual deposits amounted to GEL 3.9 million.

GEORGIAN BANKING SECTOR
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Competitive Position
(December 31, 2012)

In 2012 the Georgian Banking sector remained highly capitalized with an equity to assets ratio of 
17%, well provisioned with a reserve coverage of 7% and liquidity ratio of 31% . 

At the end of 2012 the loan/deposit ratio in Georgia was 114% and the loan to GDP ratio stood at 33%, 
indicating future growth potential.

Retail Deposits 1,364
1,187
BANK OF GEORGIA

296

109

209
BANK REPUBLIC

87
KOR STANDARD
BANK

VTB BANK

LIBERTY BANK

TBC BANK

88
TAO PRIVAT

BANK

361
PROCREDIT BANK

Total Gross Loan 
Portfolio

3,090
BANK OF GEORGIA 2,289

TBC BANK

728
PROCREDIT BANK

572
BANK REPUBLIC

403
LIBERTY BANK

371
VTB BANK

256
TAO PRIVAT

BANK214
KOR STANDARD
BANK

Total Deposits 2,530
BANK OF GEORGIA 2,413

TBC BANK

688
LIBERTY BANK

530
PROCREDIT BANK

427
BANK REPUBLIC

293
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263
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BANK
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The joint stock company TBC Bank was founded on December 17.

1992

TBC Bank was granted a license to conduct international transactions. 

1993

In June, Coopers and Lybrand conducted the first international audit of the Bank.

Mr. Vakhtang Butskhrikidze was appointed the CEO of TBC Bank.

TBC Bank was awarded �The Best Georgian Company 1995�, while Mr. Mamuka Khazaradze, the 
founder of the Bank, was named �The Best Georgian Businessman 1995� at the Georgian Business 
Rating Ceremony. The event was organized by the Georgian Times newspaper and the market 
research company GORBI.

1996

The World Bank provided a USD 1 million line of credit to TBC Bank. 

1997

IFC provided a USD 3 million line of credit to TBC Bank for financing small and medium-sized 
enterprises.

TBC Bank and EBRD signed an agreement on the Letter of Credit Support Project, aimed at further 
developing trade in Georgia.

Deutsche Investitions Entwicklungsgesellschaft (DEG) provided a 3 million German Frank line of 
credit to TBC Bank for financing small and medium sized enterprises.

1998

BANK HISTORY

EBRD increased TBC Bank�s Letter of Credit Support Project by USD 2 million and became a 
guarantor of the Bank for first class banks.

TBC Bank co-founded Microfinance Bank of Georgia, now ProCredit Bank.

1999
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DEG provided the second EUR 2 million line of credit to TBC Bank.

International Finance Corporation (IFC) and DEG acquired 11.95% and 9.65 % equity interest in TBC 
Bank respectively.

Thomson Financial BankWatch awarded TBC Bank an international rating, making it the first 
Georgian company to obtain an international rating.

2000

TBC Bank co-founded Georgian Pension and Insurance Holding (GPI Holding), the first Georgian 
insurance company offering pension insurance services.

TBC Bank was recognized as �The Best Georgian Company 2001� and �The Most Effective 
Management�, while the Bank�s CEO, Mr. Vakhtang Butskhrikidze was named �The Best Georgian 
Businessman 2001� at the Georgian Business Rating Ceremony. The event was organized by the 
Georgian Times newspaper and the market research company GORBI.

2001

TBC Bank became the largest Georgian bank at the end of the first quarter in terms of total assets, 
liabilities and the size of its credit portfolio.

TBC Bank�s branch network expanded further into the eastern Georgian region of Kakheti by 
opening a fifth branch in Telavi. Other regional branches included Samtskhe-Javakheti, Kvemo 
Kartli, Kutaisi and Poti.

TBC Bank sold its shares in the Microfinance Bank of Georgia, now ProCredit Bank.

The Banker magazine, a Financial Times Group publication, awarded TBC Bank �Bank of the Year 
2002 in Georgia�.

TBC Bank was awarded for �Special Achievements in the Development of Business and 
Management� at the Euromarket Business Forum-2002. 

2002
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The Banker magazine awarded TBC Bank �Bank of the Year 2003 in Georgia� for the second 
consecutive year.

EBRD provided a USD 6 million line of credit to TBC Bank, which was the organization�s first 
investment in the Georgian commercial sector following the 2003 Rose Revolution.

TBC Bank and IFC signed an agreement on risk insurance worth EUR 2 million (or USD 3 million).

2003
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TBC Bank founded TBC Leasing, thus entering the Georgian leasing market.

TBC Bank opened its 6th regional branch in Batumi, Adjara.

TBC Bank was named �Best Foreign Exchange Provider in Georgia 2004� by Global Finance 
magazine. 

The Banker magazine awarded TBC Bank �Bank of the Year 2004 in Georgia� for the third 
consecutive year.

2004

IFC granted TBC Bank a subordinated loan of USD 4 million, making TBC Bank the first Georgian 
commercial bank to receive a subordinated loan from an international financial institution.

On February 26, TBC Bank opened its new Head Office in a unique historical building in Tbilisi 
constructed at the beginning of the 20th century. The Bank spent USD 6 million on renovating the 
building that is listed among the city�s architectural monuments. 

TBC Bank increased the maximum mortgage term to 20 years. This was a significant step for the 
entire Georgian banking sector considering that the previous maximum loan term in Georgia was 
10 years.

IFC provided a USD 3 million line of credit to TBC Leasing � the international organization�s first 
investment in the Georgian leasing sector.

TBC Bank received USD 10 million from EBRD for financing small and medium sized enterprises.

Global Finance magazine awarded TBC Bank �Best Bank in Georgia 2005�.

The Banker magazine awarded TBC Bank �Bank of the Year 2005 in Georgia� for the fourth 
consecutive year.

TBC Bank was named �Best Foreign Exchange Provider in Georgia 2005� by Global Finance 
magazine for the second consecutive year.

Fitch Ratings raised TBC Bank�s long-term IDR from �CCC+� to �B-�, while its short-term IDR 
improved from �C� to �B�. 

2005
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project, aimed at strengthening TBC Bank�s position in the retail segment.

DEG provided a USD 10 million subordinated loan to TBC Bank.

2006
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EBRD purchased a 10% stake in TBC Leasing and also provided a USD 3 million loan to the 
company. This was the first EBRD investment in the Georgian leasing sector.

Citibank provided a USD 35 million unsecured loan to TBC Bank. This was the largest line of credit 
ever provided by a foreign commercial bank to a Georgian bank.

EBRD provided a 6-year USD 15 million line of credit to TBC Bank for mortgage lending.

Nerlandese Financierings-Maatschappi Voor Ontwikkelingsladen N.V. (FMO) provided a 5-year 
USD 10 million line of credit to TBC Bank.

Global Finance magazine awarded TBC Bank �Best Bank in Georgia 2006�.

Fitch Ratings revised its outlook for TBC Bank from �Stable� to �Positive�.

International organization �Business Initiative Directions� awarded TBC Bank a Gold Star � their 
international quality award.

For the first time Moody�s Investors Services gave TBC Bank credit ratings in the following 
categories: a long-term rating of B3 for foreign currency and a Baa 3 for local currency.

TBC Bank was awarded the international certificate of quality management systems ISO 9001:2000 
requirements.

Global Finance magazine awarded TBC Bank �Best Bank in Georgia 2007�. 

Deutsche Bank awarded TBC Bank for USD STP Excellence for the exceptional quality of payment 
messages.

Fitch Ratings raised the Bank�s long-term Issuer Default Rating (IDR) by two levels, awarding it a �B+�. 

Moody�s Investors Services gave TBC Bank the following ratings for 2007: appraisal � stable; bank 
deposits in foreign currency � B3/NP; bank deposits in national currency � Ba1/NP; bank�s financial 
stability �  �D-�.

EBRD provided USD 15 million credit line for financing mortgage loans.

TBC Bank's total assets exceeded USD 1 billion, representing an 80% increase during the first 9 
months of the year.

TBC Bank expanded its presence in the region by acquiring 75% of the share capital of SOA Credit 
(currently TBC Kredit), a non-banking credit organization operating in the financial services market 
in Azerbaijan since 1999.

In cooperation with international consulting company SENTEO, TBC Bank introduced a completely 
new type of branch office design to the local market, created in line with modern international 
standards. 

2007
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TBC Bank opened 23 new branches, 3 new service centers and installed 80 new ATMs throughout 
the country.

On August 13, in order to support victims of the 2008 armed conflict, TBC Bank established a charity 
organization �TBC Foundation� with an initial donation of GEL 5 million. This was the largest social 
investment by a Georgian company to date.

Deutsche Bank awarded TBC Bank for USD STP Excellence for the exceptional quality of payment 
messages.

2008

EBRD, FMO, JP Morgan and Ashmore became shareholders in TBC Bank.

TBC Bank sold its shares in the Georgian Pension and Insurance Holding (GPI Holding).

Fitch Ratings upgraded TBC Bank�s long-term IDR to �B+� from �B�. TBC Bank was the only bank in 
Georgia to receive an upgrade.

For a second time TBC Bank was granted the international certificate of quality management 
systems ISO 9001:2008.

Deutsche Bank awarded TBC Bank for USD STP Excellence for the exceptional quality of payment 
messages.

2009

TBC Bank launched its SMART CLUB customer loyalty program � the first of its kind in the local 
market.

EBRD named TBC Bank as �The Most Active Issuing Bank in Georgia in 2009� under the Trade 
Facilitation Program.

Fitch Ratings affirmed TBC Bank�s long-term IDR at �B+� and revised the outlook from �Negative� 
to �Stable".

The Banker magazine named TBC Bank �Best Bank of the Year 2010 in Georgia�. 

Deutsche Bank awarded TBC Bank for USD STP Excellence for the exceptional quality of payment 
messages.

2010



TBC Bank celebrated its 20th anniversary. Founded in 1992 with an initial capital of USD 500, today 
TBC Bank is a leading Georgian universal bank, serving up to 1,000,000 customers in its four 
business segments: corporate, retail, SME and micro (through its subsidiary Bank Constanta). 

TBC Bank maintained its leadership in Retail Deposits with a 35.2% market share.

Fitch Ratings upgraded TBC Bank�s long-term deposit rating to �BB-� from �B+� and Viability 
Rating to �BB-� from �B+�, with a Stable Outlook.

TBC Bank launched the first iPhone Internet bank in Georgia, followed by the new Android and 
Smartphone Internet banking applications.
 
TBC Bank was awarded �Best Consumer Internet Bank in Georgia� by Global Finance Magazine and 
was the first bank in the Caucasus to win a regional award for the �Best Integrated Consumer Bank 
site in Central and Eastern Europe� by the same publication.

Euromoney, Global Finance, and EMEA Finance Magazines named TBC Bank as the �Best Bank in 
Georgia 2012�.

Deutsche Bank and Commerzbank awarded TBC Bank for USD STP Excellence, and for the first 
time, Deutsche Bank also recognized TBC for EUR STP Excellence, in 2012.

TBC Bank was named �Best Foreign Exchange Provider in Georgia 2013� by Global Finance 
Magazine.

2012
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TBC Bank entered the lucrative micro-finance segment by acquiring 80% equity interest in Bank 
Constanta, one of the leading micro-finance institutions on the Georgian market.

Moody�s Investors Services upgraded TBC Bank�s long-term deposit in foreign currency rating by 
two notches from B3 to B1 and assigned a �Stable� outlook.

Fitch Ratings upgraded TBC Bank�s Viability Rating (VR) to �B+� from �B-� and revised the Bank�s 
outlook to �Stable�.

The Banker magazine named TBC Bank �Bank of the Year 2011 in Georgia�. 

Deutsche Bank awarded TBC Bank for USD STP Excellence for the exceptional quality of payment 
messages.

The UK-based publication Euromoney, one of the largest financial magazines in Europe, awarded 
TBC Bank �Best Bank in Georgia 2011�.

2011
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TBC Bank raised GEL 192 million in new financing through various equity and debt transactions:

 GEL 25 million additional equity was injected by existing shareholders; 

 A EUR 50 million agreement was signed with the European Investment Bank (EIB), the  
largest supranational borrower and lender in the world;

  A USD 20 million loan agreement was signed with the French Investment and Promotion 
Company for Economic Cooperation, Proparco on the Bank�s 20th anniversary. This is 
Proparco�s first investment in Georgia; 

  The second USD 10 million loan agreement was concluded under the Caucasus Energy 
Efficiency Program (CEEP) between TBC Bank and the European Bank for Reconstruction 
and Development (EBRD);

 A USD 5 million loan agreement was signed with Triple Jump, an investment management  
company based in Amsterdam, The Netherlands.



Mamuka Khazaradze
Chairman of the
Supervisory Board
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GROUP CHAIRMAN�S
STATEMENT

When moving to a new stage in its development, a 
company must evaluate its past and try to identify what, 
among its many achievements, were the main ones � 
those significant ones which have conditioned its history 
up till now. 

From the perspective of the 20th anniversary of TBC Bank, 
I would like to say that our main distinguishing feature and 
achievement is that we have always been focused on the 
creation of new opportunities for our brand, team, users, 
partners, in fact any citizen who somehow connects their 
own activities with TBC Bank. 

The creation of new opportunities means so much more 
than a proper business strategy and proper vision for 
development of the company� it is a kind of philosophy or 
idea of how to make the success of your business more useful for other organizations, individuals 
and society in general; and how to make the results of your activities much more than just profit and 
market share.   

The success achieved in business during these past 20 years has 
enabled us to create more opportunities and the realization of these 
opportunities has determined the success of our business.  

We came up with a formula and have continued with the same philosophy throughout the Bank�s 
history - the Bank�s mission statement is to create new opportunities for success for both people 
and organizations.

The current report provides details of the results of these 20 years. What stands out as most 
impressive is that we have about 1 million bank accounts; thousands of new businesses have been 
able to develop with the help of TBC Bank and about a hundred international partners and investors 
have found a place in Georgia in partnership with TBC Bank ... 

The data provided in the report confirms that a good team working to strengthen the brand,  
implement innovations and develop a cooperative culture is extremely important for success. I am 
proud that the Bank is still managed by those who founded and led this business from the 
beginning. I think that the values developed by these people over the last 20 years distinguish TBC 
Bank from any other business unit and make it attractive for cooperation.  

It is also a great achievement of our team that, together with success locally, TBC has also received 
international recognition. The Banker magazine, Global Finance magazine, Deutsche Bank, 
Commerzbank, Euromoney and EMEA Finance all named TBC Bank as �The Best Bank in Georgia�. 
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It is even more important when an international award is for rapidly changing innovative 
technologies. In 2012 we received international acknowledgment for development of the best 
Internet banking in Eastern Europe. 

I am particularly proud of our more than 4 thousand professionals � 
some of the excellent new generation, who create the results of TBC 
Bank. 

These people with their model thinking and behaviour are not just setting high quality banking 
standards in Georgia, but establishing the rules for achieving success in general.   

I greatly appreciate that TBC employees are distinguished with their positive and transmissible 
energy. One example of this is the unique programme initiated and implemented by TBC Bank staff 
� Employee for Employee � it is a real demonstration of humanism and cooperative patriotism. As 
part of this programme, every month, each TBC employee contributes to a special fund to provide 
support for colleagues and members of their families if they have health problems.   

I would like to mention our social responsibility and high levels of activity in social areas, which are a 
kind of a trademark of our brand. 

We, as successful company, have a moral and ethic responsibility to contribute to the welfare of our 
community and support the changes and initiatives that help our country to build a better future. In 
2012 we celebrated our 20th anniversary, dedicating the implementation of various social � cultural 
projects to this ideal.   

One of TBC Bank�s anniversary projects turned out to be a very important cinema event for the 
country � �20 Years/12 Months� �  a cinema project unprecedented in terms of innovation and scale. 
As part of its birthday celebrations, the Bank gifted hundreds of young film artists with the 
opportunity to make real movie.    

Participants for the project were selected by an expert jury, with filming carried out throughout 
Georgia. Tens of young cinematographers and artists could be seen in various locations at any time 
� they were shooting a movie. 12 short stories created by young artists were combined into one film 
and presented to society at the end of the year, with almost every cinema in Tbilisi hosting the       
�20 Years/12 Months� premiere! After the event film critics pointed out that several talented 
cinematographers had been discovered through this film � some of whom might go on to create the 
Georgian cinema of tomorrow.  

A parallel TBC Bank anniversary initiative was tbcartarea.ge � the first culture focused web 
television to be established on the Internet. It already has thousands of permanent users;  Artarea 
is the only media where people can obtain information about the new processes and current 
projects in the field of art and culture. In addition Artarea has become the place to be for talented 
modern artists to gather to create programmes, arrange events and so on.  

Last year was ten years since the founding of TBC Bank�s successful annual literary competition 
�Saba�; and on this 10th anniversary a new direction was added to what is now the most prestigious 
literary prize � �Saba�, the house of electronic books. Today, thanks to saba.com.ge, thousands of 
Georgian citizens both within and outside the country are able to read modern and classic Georgian 
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literature, as well as world best sellers.  The Saba house of electronic books has made the literary 
process permanent, the culmination of which is the annual Saba Awards Ceremony. 

In our anniversary year we further developed our second traditional direction � TBC Gallery. We 
established a new gallery space in our head office � TBC Art Gallery, which only houses works of 
prominent modern artists and is focused on their popularization abroad.  

And finally TBC Bank�s gift to the city � the sculpture �TBC Clocks� � we celebrated our company�s 
birthday with the unveiling of the TBC Clocks statue; the culmination of a year of celebrations. A 
famous contemporary artist created the monument at the request of TBC Bank and it was added to 
the city's sights.  

Time, precision, time management, people and hours is the most accurate and solid mechanism of 
any time � this is main idea of TBC Clocks and is the best expression of our attitude towards time. 
That�s why we have started to count the next 20 years with TBC Clocks.   



MEMBERS OF
GOVERNING BODIES

SUPERVISORY BOARD
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Mamuka has chaired the Supervisory Board since the establishment of TBC Bank in 
1992.

Mamuka Khazaradze was a founder and has been a partner of GG&MW Co. N.V. (now 
Borjomi Beverages Co. N.V.) since 1995 and has been a founder and partner of 
Georgian Reconstruction and Development Company (GRDC) since 2004. He has also 
led Lisi Lake Development since 2007.

Mamuka contributed to the foundation of the American Academy in Tbilisi, where he is 
one of the chairmen of the Supervisory Board.

Mamuka Khazaradze
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Badri Japaridze is a founder of TBC Bank and has held the position of Vice-Chairman 
of the Supervisory Board of TBC Bank since its establishment. 

Badri Japaridze is the chairman of the Supervisory Boards of TBC Kredit and TBC TV. 
He served as the Vice President of Borjomi Beverages Co. N.V. from 1995 to 2005.

He is also a member of the Board of Directors at Georgian Reconstruction and 
Development Company (GRDC), the American Chamber of Commerce in Georgia, 
Geoplant, Bank Constanta and TBC Leasing. In addition he is vice-chairman of the EU-
Georgia Business Council. 

Badri Japaridze is the head of Lisi Lake Development and a member of its Supervisory 
board. 

Badri Japaridze
Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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David Khazaradze is General Director of the Open Heart cardio surgery clinic as well 
as General Director of Hospital No. 5. He is also the Director of the company �Tiflisi 
Marani�. David was an assistant in the Skin and Venereal Diseases department at 
Tbilisi State Medical University and a member of the Tbilisi City Assembly.

David Khazaradze has been Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board of TBC Bank 
since 1998.

David Khazaradze
Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Eric J. Rajendra has extensive experience in the financial services industry where he 
has served global clients in North America, Europe, Latin America and the Asia-
Pacific region. For his role in financial services he was named in Consulting 
Magazine�s global list of the Top 25 Most Influential Consultants. Eric has diverse 
managerial experience; he has served as an executive at Chemical Bank, Equitable 
Life, Wells Fargo Bank and American Express. He is currently a senior advisor at the 
World Bank Group�s International Finance Corporation where he has been working 
since 2005 as a Board director and Consulting Advisor for financial institutions in 
selected emerging markets. He also leads major strategic initiatives for the firm.

Eric J. Rajendra joined the Board in 2010.

Eric J. Rajendra
Member of the Supervisory Board

Michael Hesketh has been with the European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development since 1991 in a number of roles including Banking, Risk Management 
and Corporate Recovery. Michael is currently a Senior Banker within the Financial 
Institutions team focusing on bank investments in Central Asia and the Caucasus 
region and in an advisory capacity on problematic transactions outside the region.

Michael Hesketh joined the Board in 2009.

Michael Hesketh
Member of the Supervisory Board
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Emil Groot was employed at the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs and worked for 
several years for UNESCO and the International Labor Organization (ILO) in Mexico, 
and among others, at the Polytechnic University teaching economics. Later he was an 
advisor to the Nicaraguan Investment Fund in Managua. At the Netherlands 
Development Finance Company (FMO) he started in project finance in Latin America 
and then served as the manager of FMO�s Small scale Enterprise Fund responsible for 
all FMO�s SME investments worldwide. 

Emile has extensive experience in the financial sector and served as a Financial 
Sector Specialist, first in the Asia department, then in the newly-created Financial 
Institutions Group. He now works in the Special Operations department dealing with 
distressed assets in FMO�s investment portfolio. Mr. Groot has served as a Board 
member in several Banks and Private Equity Funds in emerging markets and is 
involved in the organization of external Corporate Governance courses.

Emil Groot joined the TBC Board in 2009 and is also a member of its Audit Committee.

Emile Groot
Member of the Supervisory Board

Irina Schmidt has been with Deutsche Investitions und Entwicklungsgesellschaft 
mbH (DEG) since 2001 in a number of positions including Investment Manager and 
Senior Investment Manager with Power of Attorney (Prokura). She has been serving 
as a Vice President of DEG in Europe/Middle East/Central Asia since 2007 with 
responsibility for new business development, project evaluation and the management 
of DEG�s portfolio in Caucasus region, etc. 
 
Irina Schmidt joined the Board in 2012. 

Irina Schmidt
Member of the Supervisory Board
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS: 
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Vakhtang Butskhrikidze became CEO of TBC Bank in 1995 and has dedicated his 
career to TBC Bank�s development since its early stages. He has extensive board level 
experience and is currently a member of the Supervisory Board at the Association of 
Banks of Georgia and the Georgian Stock Exchange. Vakhtang is also the Chairman of 
the Financial Committee at the Business Association of Georgia.

Vakhtang Butskhrikidze
Chief Executive Officer

Paata Gadzadze has been the First Deputy CEO at TBC Bank since 2001. He first joined 
TBC in 1994 as the Deputy CEO. Before joining TBC, Paata was an assistant to the 
Minister of State Property Management. He also served as the CEO of Georgian 
Pension and Insurance Holding.

Paata Gadzadze
First Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Giorgi Shagidze joined TBC Bank as Chief Financial Officer (CFO) in September 2010, 
before which he had worked across the financial service sector for more than 17 years. 
From 2003-2005, he worked as deputy CEO and then CEO of Tbiluniversalbank and 
afterwards was appointed Deputy CEO of the People�s Bank of Georgia. After obtaining 
his MBA degree at Judge Business School, University of Cambridge in 2008, he joined 
Barclays Bank where he held the position of Global Operations Executive for 2 years. 
His first degree is Ms in Engineer Economics from Tbilisi State University and he has 
completed several executive education courses. Giorgi is also a member of the 
Supervisory Board of Bank Constanta.  

Giorgi Shagidze 
Deputy Chief Executive Officer 
Finance 
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Vano Baliashvili joined TBC Bank in May 1999 as the Head of the Internal Audit 
Department with 7 years experience of working in different banks in Georgia. Step-by-
step Vano was promoted up the ranks of TBC bank. He was initially appointed head of 
the Financial Department, then Deputy Chief Executive Officer and Operations 
Director. Vano Baliashvili is also the head of Supervisory Board of United Financial 
Company and a member of Supervisory Board of Real Estate Management Company. 

Nino Masurashvili began her career as a financial analyst in the Financial Department 
at TbilComBank followed by the position of Head of the Financial Analysis and 
Forecasting Department at the same bank. In 2000, Nino joined TBC bank as a 
manager in the Planning and Control Department and was later promoted to Head of 
that department before becoming Head of the Sales Department. Since 2006, Nino 
has served as the Deputy CEO of Retail banking. Nino is also a member of the 
Supervisory Board of TBC Kredit and Bank Constanta. 

Mariam Megvinetukhutsesi was a state Advisor at the State Council of Georgia from 
1994-96. She held a number of positions at the European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development. Mariam joined TBC Bank in 2007 as the Director of Investment Banking. 
Currently she serves as the Deputy CEO at TBC Bank and is the head of Corporate 
Banking.  

Vano Baliashvili
Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Operations

Nino Masurashvili
Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Retail and SME Banking

Mariam Megvinetukhutsesi
Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Corporate Banking
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Tea Lortkipanidze joined TBC bank as a cashier in 1993. She was later promoted to 
Deputy Head of the Credit Department and then Risk Management Director. Tea also 
served as the CEO at TBC Leasing. Her current position in TBC Bank is Deputy 
CEO/Risk Management Director. 

Tea Lortkipanidze
Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Risk Management
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Management Board

The Management Board carries out the day-to-day management of the Bank. The members of the 
Management Board are: the CEO, First Deputy CEO, Deputy CEOs (directors). The members are appointed 
and dismissed by the Supervisory Council.

The directors shall be appointed for a maximum term of 4 years. The scope of authority of a director is defined 
by a contract entered into with them upon appointment.



BUSINESS
REVIEW
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE�S
REVIEW

In this year�s report I will try to review TBC Bank�s 
performance in 2012, as well as highlight the main 
achievements of our 20 years operation.  

Last year TBC Bank not only celebrated a landmark year � 
our 20th anniversary, but we began a new decade. 20 years is 
a long time for a company in Georgia, since private business 
has only existed since our country�s independence. We are 
especially proud that during the country�s recent history, full 
of difficulties and political and economic cataclysms, TBC 
Bank has always remained stable in its development and 
today is one of the leading banks in Georgia, with a working 
capital of USD 370 million and assets of USD 2.5 billion. 

The Bank provides services to about 1,000,000 clients in 4 business segments, offering a wide 
range of products to corporate, retail, SME and micro-finance banking clients.  We have a growing 
network throughout  Georgia, including the regions and fulfil an important role in the functioning of 
the country�s financial system.   

Twenty years after the Bank�s founding, we remain very proud that we have always followed the 
company�s mission � to create new opportunities for people and businesses, which contribute to 
the country's economic development and growth.

Last year we have significantly expanded the business, further improved our positions in the 
market and, at the same time, made our company's anniversary year both a profit generating and 
memorable one for our community. I will speak more about this later, but first I would like to review 
the key financial results we achieved in 2012. 

Last year the total assets of TBC Bank increased by 18.2%, which increased our share of the market 
to 25.8%. The Bank�s total credit portfolio increased by 17% and its total deposit portfolio, by 24.4%. 
As a result, its share of the credit market was 26.2% and of the deposit market � 31.5%. Our position 
as the leading bank strengthened, particularly on the individual deposits market, where TBC 
Bank�s share exceeded 35%.    

In 2012 the TBC Group significantly expanded its services with more branches and ATMs and 
extending its fast pay terminals network. As a result, by the end of the year, the TBC Group offered 
its clients a vastly expanded network consisting of 105 branches and service centres, 274 ATMs and 
2,888 fast pay terminals throughout Georgia. 

Vakhtang Butskhrikidze
Chief Executive Officer
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Last year TBC Bank attracted funds totalling GEL 192 million, in particular:

The Bank received 50 million euros from the biggest international financial institution � the 
European Investment Bank (EIB);

A USD 20 million loan agreement was signed with the French company PROPARCO. This is 
Proparco�s first investment in Georgia;

A USD 10 million loan was allocated by EBRD, as part of the Caucasus Energy Efficiency Project 
(CEEP); 

A USD 5 million loan agreement was signed with the Dutch investment management company, 
Triple Jump.

It was very important for us that after 20 years of operations, the 
capital of shareholders� group increased by GEL 25 million and Tier 
2 Capital- by GEL 25 million. 

The past year was also successful in terms of international acknowledgements. International 
ratings agency Fitch Ratings upgraded TBC Bank�s international rating in different categories: long 
term rating from  �BB-� to  �B+� and viability rating from  �bb-� to  �b+�; the Bank�s rating outlook 
was assessed as stable.  

The magazines Euromoney, Global Finance and EMEA named TBC Bank as �The Best Bank in 
Georgia�. 

Deutsche Bank and COMMERZBANK named TBC Bank as the best bank in Georgia for its high 
quality currency transfers. This was the seventh time Deutsche Bank has awarded TBC Bank in the 
currency transfers category. 

Global Finance Magazine named TBC Bank as �the Best Foreign Exchange Provider in Georgia 2013�.

In addition, we had significant success in terms of offering a variety of products and services.                       
I would especially like to highlight the implementation of ultra modern Internet and mobile 
banking.

In particular, it is worth mentioning that TBC was the first bank in Georgia to offer its clients Internet 
banking applications for the iPhone, Android and other smart phones. This project was 
acknowledged internationally � the magazine Global Finance named TBC Bank as provider of the 
best Internet and mobile banking in Central and East Europe. TBC was the only bank in Georgia to 
receive an award in this category and to have any regional acknowledgement. 

What do we expect from future and what do people expect form TBC Bank?  Of course new projects 
that should be equally useful for both our shareholders and society, as well as loyal and new clients 
of the bank. 
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2013 should stand out for the development of innovative banking 
technologies, in particular the implementation of high-level at-a-
distance services, since today the most crucial requirement for 
citizens and businessmen is to minimize the amount of time spent 
on technical services. 

This is a special challenge of the modern era and at TBC Bank we anticipate it rather well. In 
addition great attention will be paid to providing expert support for our corporate clients. I think this 
is a really valuable contribution to the success of their businesses.   
 
Another of the Bank�s goals is development in the country�s regions with a significant increase in 
the penetration of TBC banking services. 
 
I am sure that our tasks are sufficiently ambitious, yet realistic. I believe in my team and our 
partners, from whom we have always felt support and respect.
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STRATEGY 

TBC Group continues to deliver on its strategy to retain and further strengthen its position as a 
leading Georgian universal financial group by increasing its market share in each of its corporate, 
retail, SME and micro-finance businesses. 

The main strategic objectives are:

The Group aims to continue to strengthen its retail and SME segments. The Group plans to continue 
to provide high quality products and services to its retail and SME customers and to maintain and 
further solidify its status as the leading brand in the retail sector. The Management believes that 
there remains significant growth potential in the retail and SME business sectors in the under-
banked Georgian market. In order to capture this growth, the Management plans to leverage the 
Group�s strong reputation, expand its range of new products and retain its strong levels of service 
quality.

MAINTAIN AND FURTHER STRENGTHEN THE MARKET 
SHARE OF ITS RETAIL AND SME SEGMENTS
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The Management considers the Group�s large corporate client base to be of core importance and 
accordingly intends to continue to focus on the corporate segment. The Management believes that 
its innovative services and individual client approach, as well as its established reputation as being 
one of the most trusted business partners in Georgia, will facilitate rapid growth and will sustain 
and expand its existing corporate client base.

BE A CORE BANK FOR 
LARGE CORPORATE BUSINESSES



With the acquisition of Bank Constanta in May 2011, the Group entered the micro-finance market, 
which is considered to be lucrative. The Management believes that this segment offers particularly 
high growth potential with an attractive spread. Through Bank Constanta, the Group has acquired 
significant expertise and resources in the micro-finance sector, together with additional branches 
that complement the Group�s network, particularly in rural areas where the Group previously had 
no presence. The Management believes there is significant growth potential in the 
underpenetrated rural market and aims to attract a significant new client base in the short term, 
both in terms of deposits and micro-finance lending.

BE THE LEADER IN THE MICRO-FINANCE BANKING 
BUSINESS AND EXPAND INTO UNDER-BANKED 
RURAL AREAS

Following its expansion into Azerbaijan with the acquisition of TBC Kredit in 2007 and TBC Kredit�s 
recent strong growth of 31% in total loans and advances to customers in 2012, the Management 
intends to continue its focus on developing its presence in the underpenetrated Azerbaijani banking 
market. 

DEVELOP ITS AZERBAIJANI PRESENCE
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The retail segment represents 56.2% of the total deposit portfolio and 37.6% of the total loan 
portfolio, making it the Group�s largest segment in terms of deposits and the second largest in 
terms of loans. 

As of 31 December 2012, the number of retail deposit accounts was about 645,000. The segment 
issued 216,000 credit cards, 6,800 mortgage loans and 146,000 other kinds of loans. 

TBC Group offers a full range of loan products for the retail market:  consumer and mortgage loans, 
credit cards and overdrafts, instant loans, pawnshop, etc. 

By December 31, 2012 the Group�s total loans portfolio reached GEL 954 million; this was an 
increase of GEL 111.9 million, or 13.3% compared to 31 December, 2011 (2011: GEL 842.5 million). 
TBC Bank�s retail loan portfolio represented a 23.1% share of the Georgian retail market as of 
December 31, 2012.  
 
TBC Group also offers a wide range of different kinds of retail deposits specifically designed to meet 
the clients� requirements. For example,  child deposit, term and term plus deposits, my safe, gold 
deposit, bonus deposit, deposit my goal, etc. 

As of 31 December 2012, the Group�s total retail deposit portfolio reached GEL 1,397 million � an 
increase of GEL 298 million, or 27.1% over the previous year (2011: GEL 1.099 million). 

The growth in the retail deposit portfolio resulted in an increase of the Bank�s market share to 
35.2%, further solidifying TBC Bank�s position as the leading retail bank in the market.

The strengthening of the Bank�s positions in the retail market and increase of sales were mainly 
due to the successful introduction of new products and effective marketing campaigns. 

RETAIL BANKING

BUSINESS LINES
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As part of TBC Bank�s strategic project, Multichannel and Remote Services such as Internet and 
mobile banking were improved significantly. The Multichannel Services project aims to develop the 
best model of remote banking in the region by providing ideal banking services to clients anywhere 
24/7, removing the need to visit the bank.   

NEW PRODUCTS

In May 2012 TBC Bank launched yet another first for Georgia � a convenient remote banking service 
for its clients � special versions of mobile banking for any type of mobile phone � iPhone, Android 
and other smart phones.   

Applications created for the new and improved TBC mobile banking service enable the user to 
connect to the bank at any time, conduct a variety of transactions or receive banking or financial 
information, via a modern mobile phone. 

For example, using the TBC mobile banking application clients can use their mobile phones to 
check personal accounts, make utility payments, top-up their phone, transfer money around 
Georgia, etc. 

TBC bank�s new mobile bank is the first ever mobile bank of full value in Georgian banking sector.

Mobile Banking for 
All Modern Smart Phones   
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In February 2012 TBC Bank implemented the best model of Internet banking in Georgia, providing 
clients with remote access to all of the services available at branch offices or service centers.   

With the help of its new Internet banking the TBC customer has service 24 hours a day. He/she is 
able to carry out any transaction and receive information at any time, anywhere.   

Global Finance magazine named TBC Bank�s updated Internet banking among the best Internet 
banks and presented it with two awards: �Best integrated consumer Internet bank in the Central 
and Eastern European region� and �Best consumer Internet bank in Georgia�.

This recognition by one of the most respected publications further strengthened TBC Bank�s 
reputation of having the best at-a-distance services.   

Updated Internet Banking � 
the Best Integrated Consumer Internet Banking in the Region.  



At the beginning of 2012 TBC Bank introduced one of the most secure and stable banking products � 
the Gold Certificate of Georgian National Bank.

The Gold Certificate is a security that represents a liability of the National Bank of Georgia to its 
owner for a specific gold bar kept in the National Bank of Georgia's vault until such time as the 
owner requests it. 

A Gold Certificate indicating the weight of the gold bar purchased is presented to the client by      
TBC Bank. The price of the gold bar is determined by National Bank on daily basis.   

The Gold Certificate is a unique banking product since it insures the client against risk, protecting 
the client�s property from any economic, social or monetary crisis. 

Gold Certificate 
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MARKETING CAMPAIGNS 

Last year TBC Bank planned and implemented several successful programmes which resulted in a 
significant increase in the retail deposits portfolio and further strengthened the Bank�s position as 
leader in Georgia�s retail deposit market.  

During the first half of the year TBC Bank carried out a campaign involving an adventure game with 
a specially designed character. Over several months thousands of TBC depositors were given the 
opportunity play the game on the Internet and win prizes. 

At the end of each month, a number of winners were awarded various prizes by the Bank. The one 
who completed every stage of the game without any errors won the grand prize of USD 10,000. 

Interactive Campaign of Deposits

In the second half of the year the Bank launched another campaign for depositors who opened a 
new deposit account with TBC Bank in which they could collect lottery tickets and have the chance 
to win cash prizes.  

The lottery draw took place on 14 January. There were 516 thousand tickets in the lottery drum; 
three lucky depositors with winning tickets won GEL 10,000, 15,000 and 20,000.  

As a result of these campaigns, the deposits portfolio increased by 25%, reaching a level 
unprecedented on Georgian market � GEL 1,360,459. 

Lottery for Depositors
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On 11 December 2012, TBC Bank launched its Festival of Cards during which clients using their 
TBC issued Visa or MasterCard to pay for shopping or services would automatically collect lottery 
tickets with the chance to win cash prizes, travel vouchers, Apple, and other branded prizes.  
  
There were 500 prizewinners of the Festival of Cards lottery. Of these, two won GEL 10,000 each, 
while another two won travel vouchers to a destination of their choice. 

Festival of Cards 

In 2012 a separate lottery was organised for clients who only use TBC Bank�s Internet and mobile 
banking services, offering the chance to win various Apple prizes such as an iPhone 4, iPhone 3G 
and a MacBook Pro; while the winner of the final lottery won the grand prize of a car.  

Internet and Mobile Banking Lottery
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CORPORATE BANKING

The corporate segment is the largest segment of the Group by loan portfolio and the second largest 
segment in terms of share of total customers� deposits portfolio, holding a 45% share in total loan 
portfolio and 31% share of the total customers� deposits portfolio. 

As of 31 December 2012, the corporate segment had approximately 1.8 thousand clients with 
around 3 thousand customer deposit accounts and about 650 outstanding loans.

The corporate segment offers its clients a diverse product range, including: current accounts, 
credit, deposit, documentary, treasury, hedging and other financial products tailored to customers� 
needs.

Apart from current accounts, the two most demanded product categories on the market include 
credit and deposit products.

According to data published by the National Bank of Georgia (NBG) , as of 31 December 2012,       1

TBC Bank�s corporate loan market share stood at 28.5% .

Credit products include: balance sheet finance, trade finance, overdrafts, working capital 
financing, project finance loans, syndicated loans and energy efficiency loans, as well as other 
customized financing packages.

As of 31 December 2012, loans to the corporate sector were GEL 1,142 million, representing a 12% 
Y-o-Y growth.

According to data published by the NBG, as of 31 December 2012, TBC Bank�s corporate deposit 
market share stood at 27.8% .

The Group offers a range of current and savings accounts and term deposits to its corporate 
customers, as well as deposits with terms specifically tailored for our clients. Deposit products 
include Term Plus, My Safe and Golden Deposit.

As of 31 December 2012, the Group�s total corporate deposits amounted to GEL 775 million, 
representing an 11% Y-o-Y growth. 

TBC Bank expects a further increase in lending to the corporate segment in 2013. In addition the 
bank also plans to explore new opportunities in the healthcare, agriculture, food, energy and 
consumer service sectors.

1   Data regarding the market shares, published by the National Bank of Georgia (NBG), contains all legal entities, including large, medium and small 
   companies, while the data on total amount of loans and deposits of corporate division is calculated according to internal standards of TBC and includes only 
   data on large corporate clients.



41

B
U

SI
N

ES
S 

R
EV

IE
W

SME BANKING 

The third biggest segment of TBC Bank is SME (small and medium enterprise) banking, with an 
11.5% share of the Group�s total loans portfolio and 11.1% of the total deposits portfolio. 

The SME segment offers its clients various credit, deposit and operation services, including 
transactions for financing trade and currency exchange. 

As of 31 December 2012 the number of TBC Bank SME clients was 39,000, while the number of 
deposits stood at 98,000. The number of loans issued showed an increase of 47% compared to the 
same period of last year, reaching 2,200 (1,500 in 2011). 

TBC Group offers its SME clients a wide choice of credit products, including short and mid-term 
loans for the satisfaction of seasonal needs for working capital, the increase of sales and 
procurement and for the extension of construction and production. These credit products are 
tailored specifically to meet the requirements of small and medium businesses.   

As of 31 December 2012 loans issued for the SME segment comprised GEL 261.8 million, which is 
GEL 49.3 million (23.2%) more than the figure as of 31 December, 2011 (2011: GEL 212.5 million).

As with the Corporate segment, the Group offers its SME clients current and savings accounts as 
well as term deposits and special deposits, for example Term Plus, My Safe and Gold Deposit.   

On 31 December 2012, total deposits in this segment reached GEL 266.7 million, which is GEL 86.1 
million (47.7%)  more than on December 31, 2011 (2011: GEL 180.6 million). 

Last year a special effort was made to improve the level of service quality and client satisfaction. 
Today every small and medium company has their own personal manager � their contact person in 
the bank who is able to advise on, and help solve any issues concerning banking products.  

Also worth mentioning is the improvement of remote banking methods, particularly since there is 
an increase in the proportion of remote transactions in relation to the number of total transactions 
(from 74% to 82%). Finally better quality and much easier banking at-a-distance is available. 
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MICRO-BANKING � CONSTANTA

Since the acquisition of Bank Constanta in May 2011, the Group classifies all of its micro-finance 
clients as customers of Bank Constanta. Micro-finance  is the smallest segment of the Group, with 
a 5.5% share of the total loans and advances to customers� portfolio and 0.7% of the total customer 
deposits portfolio. As of 31 December 2012, the micro-finance segment had approximately 220 
thousand accounts and about 57 thousand outstanding loans.

Through Bank Constanta, the Group offers specifically designed short- to medium- term loans to 
its micro-finance clients, and has a diversified loan product range, including loans for various 
specific purposes such as increasing working capital, purchasing fixed assets and expanding the 
borrowers� businesses. 

Bank Constanta has continued to increase its micro loan portfolio and as of 31 December 2012 
loans and advances to micro-finance customers reached GEL 197.0 million, having increased by 
GEL 78.0 million, or 66%, from GEL 118.9 million as of 31 December 2011.

The Group offers different types of current and savings accounts and term deposits to its micro-
finance clients. In addition the Group offers special types of deposit accounts for its micro-finance 
clients, including on-call deposits, cumulative deposits and a deposit product specifically tailored 
for children. As of 31 December 2012, the Group�s total micro deposits stood at GEL 55.9 million.

During 2012 the Bank also significantly expanded its branch network by opening 22 new branches 
and by adding 15 more ATM�s across the country, bringing the total number of branches and ATMs to 
47 and 40 respectively. 
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TBC KREDIT

TBC Kredit is operating successfully in the credit market in Azerbaijan. The company has a broad 
experience of funding small and medium enterprises as well as in consumer and mortgage lending. 
The shareholders of TBC Kredit are TBC Bank (75%) and ShoreBank International, USA (25%).

In 2012, the company continued to work intensively to increase the credit portfolio; by the end of the 
year it reached USD 36.6 million, which is 33% higher that last year�s portfolio. The improvement in 
sales for the year was due to raising awareness through increased publicity and offering attractive 
terms and conditions for micro and consumer loans. 

In 2013 TBC Kredit aims to increase its total credit portfolio to USD 45 million.

TBC LEASING

Founded in January 2004 by TBC Bank, JSC TBC Leasing began operations immediately. Starting 
operations with GEL 0.5 million; by the end of the same year the assets had grown to GEL 2 million. 

In 2005 EBRD purchased TBC Leasing�s newly issued stock, accounting for 9.94% of its total shares. 
TBC Leasing is one of the leading companies in this sector, with 56% of the SME market share. SME 
enterprises are our main targets.  

TBC Leasing offers a variety of leasing products tailored to company size, as well as to industry-
specific requirements, thus providing flexibility and a high quality of service. 

The main highlights of 2012 were:  total company assets reaching GEL 39 million by the end of the 
year; attracting new debt capital of USD 8 million from local as well as international lenders (TBC 
not included) and piloting agro-leasing business.  



TBC INVEST

TBC Invest Georgia is the wholly owned subsidiary of TBC Bank in Israel. Incorporated in 2011, TBC 
Invest operates as an intermediary between potential clients and TBC Bank. The main purpose of 
the company is to develop a new customer base for deposits and business activity. 

2012 was very successful year for TBC Invest attracting more than 230 new customers and tripling 
its existing portfolio of deposits.
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SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY





High social responsibility is something which differentiates TBC Bank from many other companies. 
During its 20-year existence, TBC Bank has regularly contributed to the implementation of various 
cultural and social projects; while in 2012 the Bank decided to commemorate its 20th anniversary 
by dedicating the whole year to providing support for culture and the arts.  

At the beginning of 2012, TBC Bank started a series of long-term, innovative cultural projects, 
which would not only impact the development of culture in general, but also be of great significance 
to the lives of many talented artists, actors, filmmakers and writers.  

TBC Bank�s 20th Anniversary projects  implemented in 2012 included:

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Feature Film 20 Years / 12 Months

In January 2012, TBC Bank started the year-long project 20 Years/12 Months. The project�s 
objective was to give young beginner filmmakers opportunities to create their own films.  

To launch the project a competition was held; it attracted more than 400 young novice filmmakers. 
The judging panel was made up of famous film professionals � experts in their field: film director 
Otar Ioselianii, composer Gia Kancheli, film director Michael Kobakhidze, director and cameraman 
Alexander Rekhviashvili and screenwriter Tamar Bartaia.  

The jury selected 60 winners for each of the 5 categories: screenwriter, film director, cameraman, 
cinema artist and composer. A creative group made up of the young winners went on to develop 12 
short films.     

During the year of the cinema project, TBC invited famous Georgian and European film directors, 
such as Krzysztof Zanus and Istvan Szabo to provide master classes for the young filmmakers. They 
visited Georgia as part of the project to share their experiences with the participants, as well as help 
shoot the films. 

The premiere of the feature film 20 Years/12 Months was held on 17 December � the anniversary of 
TBC Bank. Through the project, the Bank gave young cinematographers a unique opportunity to 
make feature films in accordance with modern cinema standards and share the experiences of the 
world-famous artists. 
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Artarea � First Internet TV on Culture 

As part of its anniversary project, TBC Bank established the first Internet TV devoted to culture � 
Artarea � which is unique for Georgia.  

www.tbcartarea.ge � is multimedia web television, focused solely on culture and its development, 
with a cognitive education function. Artarea is unique in that it brings together all branches of 
culture and art. It provides people interested in art and culture with a matchless opportunity to 
learn from competent specialists.  

House of Electronic Books Saba 

In 2012 the house of electronic books, Saba appeared on the Internet at www.saba.com.ge, as a kind 
of extension of the Saba literature competition founded by TBC Bank back in 2003. Available to 
everyone via the Internet, Saba gives Georgian readers access to the best in modern literature � 
books that were nominees and laureates of the Saba Award in many different years, as well as 
classical literature and popular best sellers in electronic format. 

Saba, the house of electronic books enables people to develop their own electronic library and to 
read books any time, anywhere on a computer, iPad or iPhone without the Internet, using a special 
programme - Saba Reader.
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www.saba.com.ge



TBC Art Gallery � Only for Great Art  

Another large-scale anniversary project, TBC Art Gallery was 
launched in 2012 to promote Georgian artists. The main idea 
behind the gallery was to seriously promote the Georgian art 
market, encouraging Georgian artists by arranging exclusive 
displays and exhibitions of Georgian art in Georgia, the 
Caucasus region and beyond.    

In 2012 the gallery hosted works by famous Georgian artists 
Zurab (Piko) Nizharadze, Mamia Malazonia and Gia 
Gugushvili, most of which were created exclusively for TBC Art 
Gallery. 
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Statue of Clocks � Gift to the City   

The grand unveiling of a new sculpture took place on December 17th, TBC Bank�s 20th Anniversary, 
in one of Tbilisi�s main squares, near the Galaktioni Bridge. The TBC Bank commissioned sculpture 
is a nine-figure monument of clocks, created by talented modern artist Tamar Kvesitadze.  

The Statue of Clocks expresses the relationship between people and time. The statue�s role is two-
fold � on the one hand it is city clock, displaying the time for Tbilisi�s citizens and visitors, while on 
the other, it is a piece of modern art for the city, a gift from TBC Bank.  
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Expedition Dedicated to 20th Anniversary

TBC Bank shareholders, Mamuka Khazaradze and Badri Japaridze, dedicated an expedition to the 
South Pole to TBC Bank�s 20th anniversary, where they raised the TBC Bank corporate flag. 

Other Projects

In addition to the above-mentioned projects launched in its anniversary year, TBC Bank has  
continued to finance the implementation of its social, public and cultural projects that have 
developed as traditional priorities for the Bank:  

 Financing the restoration and improvement of historical architectural monuments: the 
Museum of Georgian Cinema and Theatre; Skhalta Monastery, dating back to the 10th 
century; Church of the Annunciation in Shatili (Khevsureti); St. Nickolas Church of Lagodekhi;  
Saint Nino Church of Poka, Poti Cathedral, etc.  

 
 Promotion of tourism development in Georgia�s 

mountainous regions: construction of a guest 
house in Khevsureti, financing a programme for 
the development of horse riding tourism, 
restoration of historical tower, etc.

 Providing support to people affected by the war of 
August 2008 � the TBC Fund finances several 
specially developed social projects. 

 Promotion of modern art and culture � the Saba 
literature competition, Kolga (Umbrella) photo 
competition, several picture exhibitions in TBC 
Gallery, classical and modern concerts by young 
musicians, book and film presentations, etc.

In 2012 TBC Bank invested a total of GEL 3 million  in 
social responsibility projects, affirming its commitment 
to leading the way in Corporate Social Responsibility. 



 PERFORMANCE
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GEL 97.8 MILLION

GEL 326.8 MILLION

18.6%

ROE 
(RETURN ON AVERAGE RATIO)

CAR
(CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIO)

26.6%

GEL 112.3 MILLION

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME

56.3%
C/I (COST TO INCOME)1

GEL 3.9 BILLION

GROSS LOANS TO CUSTOMERS

GEL 2.5 BILLION

CUSTOMER DEPOSITS

GEL 2.5 BILLION

1  Cost to Income ratio excludes provision charges

NET INCOME

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

TOTAL ASSETS

2012 PERFORMANCE 
HIGHLIGHTS



FINANCIAL REVIEW 

P&L Discussion 
In millions of GEL 

Interest income  

Interest expense 

Net interest income

Provision for loan impairment

Net interest income after provision for loan impairment

Net fee and commission income

Other operating income

Other provision for impairment charges

Administrative and other operating expenses

Profit before tax

Income tax expense

Profit for the period

Pre-provision ROE

ROE

Change in %2012

456.5

217.9

238.7

-23.2

215.5

39.3

48.8

-7.5

-183.8

112.3

-14.5

97.8

24.4%

18.6%

2011

360.2

151.1

209.1

-16.0

193.0

28.7

30.7

-0.1

-145.3

107.1

-15.5

91.6

25.7%

21.8%

26.7%

44.2%

14.1%

44.3%

11.6%

36.9%

58.8%

5212.1%

26.6%

4.9%

-6.3%

6.8%

-1.3%

-3.2%

The Group delivered a net income of GEL 97.8 million in 2012, an increase of GEL 6.2 million or 6.8% 
from GEL 91.6 million as of 31 December 2011. The increase in net profit for the year was driven by a 
general improvement of our business due to the increased scale resulting in the growth of net 
interest and non-interest income and an improvement in the performance of our subsidiaries. 

With such profitability results, the Group�s pre-provision Return on Average Equity (ROAE) reached 
24.4% and Return on Average Equity (ROAE) reached 18.6%. 

Despite a strong performance in 2012, the Group�s ROAE fell from 21.8% as of 31 December 2011 to 
18.6% in 2012. The main reasons were increased provision expenses and a reduced NIM  caused by ¹

the general trend of declining NIM in Georgia and a temporarily increased liquidity position as well 2 
as an increase in capital of GEL 25 million from the existing shareholders during 2012.

 Net interest margin (NIM) is net interest income (before provision for loan impairment), divided by average interest-earning assets.1  

2  The Management intentionally increased the liquidity of the Bank to withstand any volatility due to possible political tensions related to the country�s 
parliamentary election which was held in October 2012. The elections resulted in a change in government. According to the Management�s assessment, 
the transition of power has so far proceeded smoothly. 

54

TB
C

 B
A

N
K

 A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
EP

O
R

T 
20

12



55

P
ER

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E

Net interest income

In millions of GEL 

Loans and advances to customers

Investment securities available for sale

Due from other banks 

Investments in leases  

Investment securities held to maturity

Other

Interest income  

Due to other banks 

Customer accounts   

Other borrowed funds  

Subordinated debt   

Other

Interest expense 

Net interest income  

 

NIM

Change in %2012

414.2

27.2

7.0

5.7

2.4

0.0

456.5

5.4

156.6

42.6

13.2

0.1

217.8

238.7

7.7%

2011

323.5

23.3

6.1

3.4

3.6

0.3

360.2

3.0

105.4

28.2

14.5

0.0

151.1

209.1

8.7%

28.0%

17.0%

13.9%

66.8%

-34.8%

-93.2%

26.7%

78.0%

48.6%

51.0%

-8.8%

134.2%

44.2%

14.2%

-1.0%

In 2012, the net interest income was GEL 238.7 million, up GEL 29.6 million, or 14.2%, compared to 
GEL 209.1 million in the prior year. This increase was a result of 26.7% growth in interest income to 
GEL 456.5 million from GEL 360.2 million that fell behind the 44.2% growth in interest expense to 
GEL 217.8 million from GEL 151.1 million. 

This increase in interest income was primarily due to the 17.0% Y-o-Y growth in gross loan portfolio 
in 2012. As a result of such loan book growth, interest income from loans increased by GEL 90.7 
million or 28.0% to GEL 414.2 million. During 2012, loan yields experienced a minor fluctuation 
achieving 17.4%, down 10 bps, compared to 17.5% in the previous year. Similarly, the interest yield 
on average interest earning assets was 14.8%, down 20 bps, from 15.0% in 2011. This fall is 
attributable to the general trend of the reduction of the interest rates on investment securities and 
the increased liquidity due to the above-mentioned reasons (for detailed explanation, see note 2, 
page 54).

The increase in interest expense was a reflection of the strong Y-o-Y growth in the customer deposit 
portfolio by 24.4% during 2012. Such solid growth in customer deposits drove the interest expense 
on total customer deposits up by GEL 51.2 million, or 48.6%, to GEL 156.6 million. Furthermore, 
deposit rates increased 60 bps to 7.1% from 6.5% in 2011 being in line with the general upward 
trend in deposit rates in the same period. 

The above-mentioned reasons resulted in declining NIMs of the Group by 100 bps to 7.7%, 
compared to 8.7% in the previous year. 



Provision and impairment charges

In millions of GEL 

Total provision & impairment charges

                                                                                     Out of which:

Provision for loan impairment

Cost of Risk

Change in %2012

30.6 

23.2

1.0%

2011

16.2 

16.0

0.9%

89.3% 

44.3%

0.1%

In 2012, the Group�s provision and impairment charges equaled GEL 30.6 million, up GEL 14.5 
million, compared to GEL 16.2 million in 2011. This growth was primarily due to an increase in the 
provision for loan impairment charges by GEL 7.1 million reaching GEL 23.2 million as of the 2012 
year end. This increase was in line with the Y-o-Y loan portfolio growth of 17%. 

As a result of the increase in the provision for loan impairment which was generally in line with the 
loan book portfolio growth, the Bank�s cost of risk ratio increased immateriality by 10 bps to 1.0%. 
NPL ratio, defined as loans overdue for more than 90 days over gross loan portfolio, was also up 40 
bps from December 2011, but the Management believes that it is still very low at 1.0%. 
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Other operating/non-interest income

In Millions of GEL 

Fee and Commission Income

Fee and Commission Expense

Net Fee and Commission income

Gains less losses from trading in foreign currencies and 

foreign exchange translations

Net losses from derivative financial instruments

Other operating income

Total non-interest income

Share of Non-interest Income in Total Income

Change in %2012

58.1

-18.8

39.3

32.9

-3.8

19.8

88.1

27.0%

2011

43.8

-15.1

28.7

25.8

-5.0

9.9

59.5

22.2%

32.7%

24.8%

36.9%

27.3%

-23.7%

99.3%

48.2%

4.8%

Total other non-interest income in 2012 was GEL 88.1 million, an increase of GEL 28.7 million, or 
48.2%, over the previous year. Major driver of this growth was net fee and commission income which 
grew by GEL 10.6 million or 36.9% Y-o-Y and was largely driven by GEL 4.4 million, GEL 2.5 million 
and GEL 2.3 million increases during 2012 in net card operations income, income from guarantees 
issued and income from settlement transactions, respectively. The growth in net fee and 
commission income was a result of the Group�s increased offering of fee generating products which 
was generally in line with increased business activities in the country.

Other operating income also contributed to the increased total non-interest income, which 
increased by GEL 9.8 million or 99.3% mainly due to the increased gain from sale of repossessed 
assets and other inventory in 2012.

Gains less losses from trading in foreign currencies and foreign exchange translations also 
increased by GEL 7.1 million or 27.3% to GEL 32.9 million, as a result of increased scale, client base 
and improved business activities in the country. 
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Non-interest expenses 
In Millions of GEL 

Staff costs

Depreciation and amortization

Administrative and other operating expenses

Non-interest Expenses

Cost to income ratio

Change in %2012

-92.3

-22.1

-69.4

-183.8

56.3%

2011

-78.4

-15.1

-51.7

-145.3

54.1%

17.7%

46.5%

34.2%

26.6%

2.2%



In 2012, non-interest expenses reached GEL 183.8 million, up by GEL 38.6 million, or 26.6%, 
compared to GEL 145.3 million in the previous year. Out of this increase, GEL 14.7 million or 38.2% is 
attributable to the increase in Bank Constanta�s non-interest expenses. In addition, non-interest 
expenses for 2011 only include 8 months or 73.1% of Bank Constanta�s total non-interest expenses 
(as it was acquired in May 2011); while in 2012 the Bank�s full period costs are consolidated.

Excluding Bank Constanta, total non-interest expenses increased by 18.1%, out of which staff costs 
increased 8.5% to GEL 78.0 million from GEL 71.9 million corresponding to the larger scale of 
business, new branch openings, associated increases in salaries and the number of staff on a Y-o-Y 
basis. Similarly, without Bank Constanta, administrative and other operating expenses grew by 
26.1% to GEL 57.4 million compared to GEL 45.5 million in 2011, largely due to higher advertising 
and marketing costs, which grew by 43.8% Y-o-Y as a result of intensified marketing and 
advertising activities associated with the 20th anniversary of the Bank. Excluding Bank Constanta, 
depreciation and amortisation expenses also increased to GEL 19.9 million, up GEL 5.8 million or 
41.4%, due to the fact that the Bank started using new servers in 2012 and accelerated depreciation 
to write off the old servers.

The Group�s cost to income ratio reached 56.3%, up 2.2%, compared to 54.1% in 2011, primarily 
driven by Bank Constanta�s expenses as well as the reduced NIM during 2012 which was largely 
driven by the Bank�s high liquidity position in 2012.
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In millions of GEL Change in %2012

744.2

2,370.2

407.7

245.7

131.9

3,899.7

76.2

2,486.9

666.0

66.5

3,295.7

604.0

2011

665.2

2,008.7

295.4

201.0

129.7

 3,300.0

110.4

1,999.3

660.3

61.4

2,831.2

468.8

11.9%

18.0%

38.0%

22.2%

1.7%

 18.2%

-31.0%

24.4%

0.9%

8.4%

16.4%

28.9%

Cash and due from banks

Loans and advances to customers (Net)

Financial securities

Fixed and intangible assets & investment property

Other assets     

Total assets

Due to other banks

Customer accounts

Borrowed funds & Subordinated Debt

Other liabilities

Total Liabilities

Total equity

Balance Sheet Discussion 



As of the 2012 year end, total liabilities reached GEL 3,295.7 million, up GEL 464.4 million, or 16.4% 
Y-o-Y. This increase was mainly attributable to an increase of GEL 487.7 million, or 24.4% Y-o-Y in 
customer deposits reaching GEL 2,486.9 million. This increase is largely due to the increase in 
retail deposits which grew GEL 299.2 million to GEL 1,398.1 million during 2012. With this portfolio, 
the Group maintained the largest retail deposits portfolio in the Georgian market. In terms of the 
other segments, corporate deposits grew GEL 100.8 million, SME grew GEL 85.6 million and micro 
deposits grew GEL 2.2 million.

Such solid performance in customer deposits drove the share of total customer deposits to total 
liabilities from 70.6% as of year end 2011 to 75.5% in 2012. 

Similarly, such strong deposit inflow during the year led the Group�s gross loans to client deposits 
ratio to further improve to 102.0% as of 31 December 2012 compared to 108.4% as of 31 December 
2011.

As of 31 December 2012, borrowed funds and subordinated debt were GEL 666.0 million, up 0.9% Y-
o-Y. Due to the Bank�s high liquidity position, the Management did not utilize some committed 
funding from international financial institutions.

Liabilities
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As of the 2012 year end, total assets reached GEL 3,899.7 million, up GEL 599.7 million or 18.2% 
from 31 December, 2011.

This increase was mainly attributable to the rise in net loan portfolio by GEL 361.5 million or 18.0% 
to GEL 2,370.2 million, compared to the 2011 year end. The growth in loan portfolio during 2012 was 
predominantly due to the Group�s gross corporate and retail segments which grew GEL 138.2 
million and GEL 111.9 million respectively. Despite the small portfolio size of the Group�s SME and 
micro segments, in 2012 each of these segments experienced strong growth of GEL 58.2 million 
and GEL 60.9 million, respectively. 

In addition to the solid performance in the loan portfolio, the increase in assets was also a reflection 
of an increase in cash and cash equivalents and due to banks by GEL 79.0 million to GEL 744.2 
million.

The Bank�s liquidity ratio defined by the National Bank of Georgia (NBG) increased to 36.6% as of the 
2012 year end, compared to 33.5% as of 31 December 2011. The increase in liquidity is in line with 
the Management�s decision to maintain high liquidity position (for detailed explanation, see note 2, 
page 54).

Assets



As of 31 December 2012, total equity was GEL 604.0 million, up 28.9% on a Y-o-Y basis. The main 
factors contributing to this increase were the net income attributable to the Bank�s shareholders of 
GEL 96.5 million and increased equity of GEL 25 million from the Bank�s existing shareholders, 
including IFC (International Finance Corporation), EBRD (European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development), DEG (Deutsche Investitions-und Entwicklungsgesellschaft mbH) and FMO 
(Nederlandsche Financierings-Maatschappij voor Ontwikkelingslanden N.V.).

In terms of the regulatory capital, as of 31 December 2012, the Bank improved its NBG tier 1 and 
total capital ratios to 11.2% and 13.6% respectively, compared to 8.5% and 13.1% for the same 
period of the previous year.

As per the Basel standards, the Bank�s BIS tier 1 capital ratio was 20.3%, up from 17.9% as of                   
31 December 2011. The tier 1 capital ratio was positively impacted by the increase in tier 1 capital, 
which as of December 31, 2012 was GEL 559.4 million, GEL 126.5 million higher than on                      
31 December 2011. In addition, TBC Bank extended its subordinated loan agreement with FMO, for 
USD 15 million which further strengthened the Bank�s total capital position. Risk weighted assets 
were GEL 2,761.4 million as of 31 December 2012, up 14.1% compared to 31 December 2011.

Total Equity
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE





RISK MANAGEMENT
Implementation of Basel requirements � a significant 
step forward for TBC bank risk management 

The major risks identified and analysed by TBC Bank based on its current business profile as well 
as its strategic goals are as follows:

Credit risk � a risk arising as a result of lending operations and other transactions with 
counterparties giving rise to financial assets. The credit risk is subdivided into the specific types of 
counterparty risk � concentration risk, currency induced credit risk and the residual risk � resulting 
from the use of credit risk mitigation techniques.

Banking Book Interest Rate risk � Interest rate risk in the banking book which arises from 
�Earnings� or �Economic Value of Equity� volatility generated from movements of interest rates.

Liquidity risk � has two categories: 

 Funding liquidity risk � the risk that the Bank will not be able to meet efficiently both expected 
and unexpected current and future cash flow and collateral needs without affecting either 
daily operations or the financial condition of the Bank. 

 Market liquidity risk � the risk that the Bank cannot easily offset or eliminate a position at the 
market price because of inadequate market depth or market disruption.

Foreign Exchange risk � a risk that can potentially arise as a result of adverse movements in 
exchange rates, which could affect the Bank�s financial results due to a revaluation of the Bank�s 
open currency position.

MAJOR RISKS CURRENTLY FACED
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The Group faces external and internal risk factors that might negatively affect its performance. 
These risk factors include but are not limited to:

 Macroeconomic risk related to the Georgian and global economy
 Political Risk
 Possibility of facing increasing funding costs and reduction of liquidity due to relatively high 

uncertainties in emerging markets 
 Increased competition and margin pressure
 Potential for deterioration of foreign currency denominated loan quality due to USD/GEL 

exchange rate depreciation
 Potential increase in operational risks due to increase in scale of operations.

MAJOR RISK FACTORS 



RISK MANAGEMENT STRATEGY

TBC Bank Group has a clear risk management strategy that is approved by the Supervisory Board. 
The strategic goals are to: 

 Contribute to the development of the Group�s business strategy by ensuring risk adjusted  
profitability. 

 Guarantee the Group�s sustainable development through the implementation of an efficient  
system for risk analysis, measurement and monitoring. 

The Group has developed risk management policies and procedures aimed at effectively 
controlling risk exposures and reflecting the day-to-day challenges faced by the Group. The Group�s 
risk management policy is designed to (i) identify and analyse risks using internal models based on 
industry best practice, which are periodically reviewed and updated; (ii) set appropriate risk 
exposure limits in line with the Group�s risk profile and (iii) periodically monitor risk exposure and 
limits and provide related reports to management.

The Group systematically reviews and continuously seeks to improve its risk management policies 
and systems in an effort to ensure that they are in line with any new challenges the Group faces from 
the changing market environment, as well as from the development and growth of the Group�s 
business. 

In order to ensure that all the risks are timely and adequately addressed, the Bank periodically 
performs risk assessment processes. Based on the results of the risk assessment, Risk Maps are 
created that are further used for risk quantification and management purposes. 
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Operational risk � the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people 
and systems, or from external events. 

Anti Money Laundering risk � the risk of legal or regulatory sanctions, material financial loss, or 
loss to reputation the Bank may suffer as a result of its failure to comply with Anti Money 
Laundering / Counter Terrorist Financing laws and regulations. 

Other types of risks such as strategic and reputational risks � strategic risk refers to the risks 
arising from the Group�s inability to implement appropriate business plans and strategies, and its 
inability to adapt to changes in its business environment. Reputation risk is the potential risk that 
negative publicity regarding the Group�s business practices, will cause a decline in the customer 
base, costly litigation or revenue reductions. 



Risk management in the Group takes place at three different levels: 

 Strategic level � encompasses functions performed by the supervisory board, its committees 
and the management board. The main functions are: definition of risk management strategy, 
definition of risk tolerance levels and ensuring the existence of an effective risk management 
system. 

 Middle level � encompasses activities performed by middle management and the 
corresponding committees. The main functions are development of systems, procedures and 
control tools so that risks are within predefined limits and reward compensates risks taken. 

 Transaction level � involves risk management at the transaction level, where risks are 
actually created. The risk management at this level should correspond to the policies and 
procedures outlined at the above levels. 

The monitoring and implementation of the Bank�s risk management function is divided among four 
principal risk management bodies: the Management Board, the Credit Committee, the Operational 
Risks Committee and the Assets and Liabilities Management Committee (ALCO).

The Chief Risk Officer is a member of the management board and is responsible for supervising all 
risk management activities throughout the Bank�s business, except for financial risk management, 
which is supervised by the Chief Financial Officer. The Chief Risk Officer is also required to ensure 
that the Bank�s risk exposure level is in accordance with the defined limits set in the Risk Appetite 
Statement.

The Bank�s risk management policies are implemented through a number of its departments 
including the Financial Risk Management, Credit Risk Management, Operational Risk 
Management, and Legal and Anti-Money Laundering departments, each of which reports to one of 
the principal risk management bodies referred to above.

RISK MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE
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CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT

The Bank is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay 
amounts in full when due. The Bank�s exposure to credit risk arises as a result of its lending 
operations and other transactions with counterparties giving rise to financial assets. The 
subcategories of credit risk are: 

 Counterparty default risk � the risk of negative consequences associated with defaults or 
non-fulfillment of concluded contracts in credit risk bearing operations due to a deterioration 
in the counterparty�s credit quality. Standardized method is used for risk measurement.

 Concentration risk � the risk of deterioration of portfolio quality due to large exposure to a 
small number of borrowers or individual industries. The Bank defines acceptable levels of 
concentration limits in its risk appetite statement.  In addition a threshold for exposure 
concentrations is set up which triggers additional capital requirements. 

 Foreign currency induced credit risk � risks due to the presence of foreign currency 
denominated loans in the portfolio. The risk is assessed by the Bank via internally developed 
models. 

 Residual risk � resulting from the use of credit risk mitigation techniques. Standardized 
method is used for risk measurement.

For efficient management of credit risk the adequate policies and procedures are in place. The 
credit policies establish the framework for lending decisions reflecting the Bank�s tolerance for 
credit risk. 

An acceptable level of credit risk is defined for the establishment of a balanced credit portfolio to 
generate the desired profitability of the Bank, be sufficiently sustainable and whereby the potential 
losses do not impose a threat to the stability of the Bank. 

The Supervisory Board approves the Credit Policy and Risk Appetite. At Board level, the Risk, Ethics 
and Compliance Committee oversees Credit Risk management.

Credit risks are managed at the transaction and portfolio level.  At the transaction level, credit risk 
management includes: credit applications review, credit application rating and pricing review, 
approval of credits and monitoring. As for the Portfolio level � credit risk management includes: 
definition of the risk appetite, credit portfolio analysis, industry analysis and development of credit 
policies and instructions.
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IRR MANAGEMENT

The Bank employs an advanced framework for Interest Rate Risk (IRR) management. On a day to 
day basis IRR is managed by the Financial Risk Management and Treasury Departments and is 
monitored by the ALCO. 

By the end of 2012, the Bank had introduced an advanced model for IRR management; it was 
developed together with Ernst & Young and is compliant with Basel II requirements.

Depending on the source of the risk the Bank defines and measures four types of Interest Rate Risk 
and separately assesses the risks arising from operations with new products in accordance with 
IRR methodology: 

 Repricing risk 

 Yield curve risk 

 Basis risk 

 Optionality (embedded option risk) 

The Bank assesses both Net Interest Income and Economic Value sensitivity:

 Net Interest Income Sensitivity � is used for interest rate risk capital charge calculation

 Economic Value Sensitivity � is used for limit control purposes.

In addition, stress tests and �what if?� scenarios are developed in accordance with Basel II 
requirements to ensure that the Bank can withstand severe but probable stress scenarios.

In order to manage Interest Rate Risk the Bank establishes appropriate limits, monitors 
compliance with the limits and prepares forecasts. ALCO decides on actions that are necessary for 
effective interest rate risk management and follows up on their implementation. Periodic reporting 
is carried out for the Management Board and Supervisory Board Risk, Ethics and Compliance 
Committee. 

LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT

The Bank has introduced the Basel III liquidity management requirement. On a daily basis liquidity 
risk is managed by the Financial Risk Management and Treasury departments and is monitored by 
the ALCO. 

Liquidity risk is measured internally by the Bank according to Basel III standards adapted for the 
Bank�s requirements. For Funding liquidity risk management the Bank uses both short-term and 
long-term liquidity risk management approaches. 
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In particular, the best practices followed for the Funding liquidity risk management are: 

 For Short-term Liquidity Risk Management � Liquidity Coverage Ratio 

 For Long-term Liquidity Risk Management � Net Stable Funding Ratio 

In addition to the above ratios, for Funding liquidity risk management ALCO sets limits for deposits 
concentration for large deposits as well as for non-resident clients� deposits in the total deposits 
portfolio.

The Liquidity risk management framework is designed to manage the Bank�s liquidity both under 
normal and stressed business conditions. Periodic stress testing and �what if?� scenario analysis 
is performed. The Bank has elaborated a �Liquidity Contingency Plan�. 

In order to manage Liquidity risk the Bank establishes appropriate limits, monitors compliance 
with the limits and prepares forecasts. ALCO decides on actions that are necessary for effective 
Liquidity risk management and follows up on their implementation. Periodic reporting is carried 
out for the Management Board and Supervisory Board Risk, Ethics and Compliance Committee. 

MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT 

Market risk is managed by the Financial Risk Management and Treasury departments and is 
monitored by the ALCO. 

As the Bank�s strategy is not to be involved in Trading Book activities or investments in 
commodities, the main component of market risk that the Bank is exposed to is foreign exchange 
risk arising from the potential change in foreign currency exchange rates, which can affect the 
value of a financial instrument. 

The Bank has measurement systems that take into account all sources of foreign exchange risk. 
The systems evaluate the effect of foreign exchange rate changes on the profitability of the Bank. 

The measurement systems: 

 evaluate all foreign exchange risks by currency (on both a gross and net basis) for the full 
range of the Bank�s assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet positions; 

 have accurate and timely data; 

 enable the Bank to monitor its foreign exchange risk in real-time in order to ensure risk limits 
will not be exceeded. 

In order to manage Market risk the Bank establishes appropriate limits, monitors compliance with 
the limits and prepares forecasts. ALCO decides on actions that are necessary for effective market 
risk management and follows up on their implementation. Periodic reporting is carried out for the 
Management Board and Supervisory Board Risk, Ethics and Compliance Committee. 
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OPERATIONAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Operational Risk is managed through a bank-wide framework, which aims to be consistent with the 
Bank�s Risk Appetite and to effectively manage operational risk as a distinct risk to the Bank�s 
safety and soundness. 

In order to effectively manage operational risk the Bank has developed and uses a number of tools, 
some of which are described below: 

 Risk maps are used to assess the risks of the existing processes and products and to 
determine adequate levels of controls;

 Key risk indicators are set to receive early warning signals on possible risks and to carry out 
preventive measures, therefore keeping the risks at acceptable level;

 Structural self-assessment identifies the quality of the processes, procedures, and controls 
in the structural units of the Bank making it possible to calculate, analyse and minimize risk 
exposure;

 Scenario analyses are used to determine potential operational risks, according to the results 
of which stress tests are performed;

 Risk analyses are conducted and �lessons-learned� activities carried out, to minimize the 
probability of event reoccurrence.

In addition, to further strengthen Operational Risk management systems and to comply with Basel 
II requirements, with the assistance of Ernst and Young, the Bank has introduced the Advanced 
Measurement Approach. In the AMA model together with internal data, the Bank uses scenario 
analysis and external loss databases.
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ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING 
RISK MANAGEMENT

TBC Bank has established an anti-money-laundering program in accordance with compliance 
legislation. It has developed a written policy in order to fulfill the requirements of the legislation and 
to protect the Bank from reputational, operational and juridical risks. The Bank has an anti-money-
laundering policy, which contains: �Know Your Customer� procedures; assessment of 
correspondent banks� and potential partners� AML policies; processing and retaining 
documentation; maintaining and updating its client database; operational standards; risk-based 
assessment of customers; due diligence and enhanced due diligence; responsibilities of parties 
participating in the banking process; identification of transactions that are subject to monitoring; 
and policies for reporting to the Financial Monitoring Service of Georgia (Financial Intelligence 
Unit). The policy and any amendments to it are approved by the Bank�s Management Board. The 
Bank�s anti-money-laundering policy is available to all employees on the Bank�s intranet. 

The Bank�s Financial Monitoring Department is responsible for anti-money-laundering issues and 
coordinates compliance monitoring. Besides the Financial Monitoring Department, structural 
units of the Bank (branches, service centers and several departments of the head office) are part of 
the monitoring processes and are obliged to notify the Financial Monitoring Department about any 



suspicious or unusual transactions in accordance with the procedures set out in the Bank�s 
policies. The Financial Monitoring Department analyses information received from structural units 
of the Bank; monitors client transactions on a regular basis (both automatically and manually); 
detects transactions that need to be reported and reports them to the FMS. 

TBC Bank�s Financial Monitoring Department has implemented a training program for bank 
employees of all levels. Training sessions on anti-money-laundering issues are conducted in 
branches annually. The training is followed by staff testing, organized by the Bank�s human 
resources department, again on an annual basis.

STRESS-TESTING 

The Bank uses stress-testing to provide valuable information for management decision-making 
within risk mitigation and economic capital management. It is not used alone, but in conjunction 
with other risk management measures. Stress-testing is carried out quarterly when there are 
significant changes in market conditions. The Bank�s senior management is regularly provided 
with stress-testing reports.

Stress-testing is subdivided into processes in terms of respective approaches applied to risk 
estimation and on the basis of models assumptions, if any. The Bank conducts stress-testing for 
individual risks as well for the Bank as a whole.

MAIN IMPROVEMENTS OF RISK MANAGEMENT 

With the introduction of Basel II, the bank reached a significant milestone in its risk management 
that will secure the long-term sustainable development of the Bank. The Basel II implementation 
project started at the beginning of 2012 and included significant improvements in overall risk 
management as well as the calculation of economic capital required for efficient and sustainable 
development of the Bank. In order to ensure that the industry best practices in risk management 
are used, TBC employed Ernst and Young as an external consultant to assist the Bank with the 
implementation process. 

OTHER TYPES OF RISK

In order to ensure an adequate capital cushion against miscellaneous risks such as Reputation risk 
and Strategic risk the Bank sets a capital cushion level for each type of risk under the ICAAP 
process.
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Major improvements were made in following areas:

Corporate Governance � The Bank introduced a Supervisory Board level Risk, Ethics and 
Compliance committee. The decision was made in accordance with best practice and Basel II 
requirements. The primary responsibility of this committee is to support the Supervisory Board in 
its work with, and supervision of, risk management.

Strategic Planning � The Bank has upgraded Business, Risk and IT strategies in accordance with 
the industry best practices.  

Risk Management:  

 Risk maps were created in order to better identify and evaluate the risks the Bank faces, 
ensure that the business remains stable and risks are taken according to the predefined risk 
appetite limits. 

 The Business borrowers grading methodology was updated in accordance with Basel II 
requirements.  

 A PD behavioral rating model was developed for retail loans by �Experian Decision Analytics�. 

 An application scorecard model developed by �FICO� was implemented for credit cards.

 Risk Policies were approved by the Supervisory Board. Relevant procedures were worked out 
and further approved by the TBC Bank Management Board. 

 Stress testing procedures using best practice methodologies were elaborated and 
implemented within the Bank.

 The Bank implemented an advanced model for Interest Rate Risk management. The model is 
based on industry best practices and is tailored for the Georgian market. The model, 
developed together with Ernst and Young, is in compliance with Basel II requirements. 

 The Basel III Net Stable Funding Ratio was introduced for long term liquidity risk 
management purposes.

 AMA model was introduced for operational risk management.

 Risk level and enterprise-wide stress testing was introduced.

Upgrade of Internal Regulation:

 The Risk Policies were updated and approved by the Supervisory Board.

 Relevant procedures were worked out and further approved by the Bank�s Management 
Board.

 Stress testing procedures using best practice methodologies were elaborated and 
implemented within the Bank.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

TBC Bank is committed to the highest standards of corporate governance that are in accordance 
with international best practices, Basel requirements and the Bank�s future development plans.

TBC Bank�s aim is to have a governance structure that establishes proper incentives for the 
Supervisory Board and the Management Board to pursue objectives that are in the interests of the 
Bank and effectively manages the relationship between the Management Board, the Supervisory 
Board, Shareholders and other stakeholders.

TBC Bank�s corporate governing bodies are: the General Meeting of Shareholders, the Supervisory 
Board and the Management Board. There are appropriate committees established at the 
Supervisory Board and the Management Board levels. 

AUDIT 
COMMITTEE

SUPERVISORY 
BOARD

SHAREHOLDERS
(Annual General Meeting)

RISKS, ETHICS AND 
COMPLIANCE 
COMMITTEE

MANAGEMENT 
BOARD

REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE AND 

NOMINATION 
COMMITTEE

EXTERNAL 
AUDITOR
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The General Meeting of Shareholders is the supreme governing body of the Bank, which takes 
decisions on the most important issues. It elects the Supervisory Board of the Bank, which is 
responsible for the supervision of, and appointment of members to, the Management Board. 

GOVERNING BODIES 

The General Meeting of Shareholders

The Supervisory Board has ultimate responsibility for the Bank�s business, risk strategy and 
financial soundness, as well as how the Bank organizes and governs itself. It appoints and 
supervises the Management Board. 

The Supervisory Board�s Responsibilities include:

 The supervision of the Management Board in respect of 
 Achievement of the Bank's strategic objectives; 
 Management�s reactions to the risks inherent in the business activities; 
 The structure and operation of the internal risk management and control systems; 
 The financial reporting process; 
 Compliance with laws and regulations.

 Appointment, evaluation and compensation of the Management Board members; 
 Establishment of the Board Committees and defining their role, the evaluation of the 

functioning of the Committees and the individual members of the Supervisory Board; 
 Addressing conflict of interest issues between the Bank and the members of the Supervisory 

Board;
 Enhancing corporate governance of the Bank.

The Supervisory Board consists of 7 members. Members of the Supervisory Board are elected by 
the General Meeting of Shareholders for a term of four years each.

According to the Shareholders Agreement of the Bank, each international financial institution (IFI) 
shareholder (IFC, EBRD, DEG, FMO) has 1 representative on the Board. Accordingly, 4 members of 
the Supervisory Board are IFI nominees. 

The Supervisory Board
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The Management Board is responsible for managing day-to-day activities of the Bank. It is 
accountable for achieving the Bank's objectives and the Bank�s annual budget as well as ensuring 
that the Bank�s activities are consistent with the Bank�s business, risk, IT and other strategies, risk 
tolerance/appetite and the policies approved by the Supervisory Board. 

Other responsibilities of the Management Board are:
 Enforcement of the Bank�s strategy (including business, risk, IT and other strategies);
 Establishment, under the guidance of the Supervisory Board, of an effective system of 

internal controls;
 Implementing the appropriate systems to manage the risks attached to the Bank�s activities 

and for financing the Bank. 
 Guaranteeing that the management structure promotes accountability and transparency;
 Supporting the implementation of internal and external auditors� recommendations.

There are 7 members of the Management Board, led by the CEO of the Bank. The members of the 
Management Board are appointed by the Supervisory Board for a renewable term of four years.

Management Board

HEAD OF 
CORPORATE 
BANKING
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In 2012, with the important milestone of the Basel implementation project, TBC Bank established 
the following committees at the Supervisory Board level: Risks, Ethics and Compliance Committee, 
Remuneration Committee and Corporate Governance and Nomination Committee. The 
committees are in line with best practices, Basel requirements and the Bank�s future development 
plans. In addition, the Audit Committee charter has been updated to reflect the best practices and 
Basel requirements.

SUPERVISORY BOARD COMMITTEES 

Responsibilities: Review, assess and recommend any actions to be taken by the Supervisory Board 
regarding the Bank�s risk management strategy, risk appetite and tolerance, as well as risk 
management systems and risk policies. This includes credit, market, liquidity, operational, 
compliance, reputational, and other risks the Bank faces. The Committee also reviews and 
approves large exposures to customers. The Committee�s other main responsibilities are to 
commit the Bank to the highest standards of ethical behavior and to oversee the compliance 
function of the Bank.

The Committee will be chaired by Mike Hesketh, EBRD representative on the Board and Senior 
Banker at EBRD.

Members of the Risks, Ethics and Compliance Committee: Badri Japaridze, Deputy Chairman of 
the Board, TBC Bank, and Irina Schmidt, DEG representative on the Board. 

Risks, Ethics and Compliance Committee 

Responsibilities: Advise the Supervisory Board on the compensation system for the Supervisory 
and the Management Boards; review the achievements of, and determine compensation for the 
Supervisory and the Management Boards, the highest paid employees and heads of business lines; 
approve a long-term motivation program and support its development; set compensation policy for 
management representatives terminated by the Bank and approve an annual report on 
remuneration policy and practice. 

The Committee will be chaired by Irina Schmidt.

Members of the Remuneration Committee: Mike Hesketh and Emile Groot, FMO representative on 
the Board.

Remuneration Committee 



Responsibilities: Develop Corporate Governance principles and guidelines applicable to the Bank; 
monitor the Bank�s governance practice against worldwide best practices; select and screen 
individuals qualified to become candidates for Supervisory Board and Management Board 
membership; consider and make recommendations to the Board on the composition of the 
Supervisory Board and the Management Board as well as on the composition and structure of the 
Supervisory Board Committees. 

The Committee will be chaired by Eric Rajendra, IFC representative on the Board and Senior 
Advisor in the Global Financial Markets Department at IFC.

Members of the Corporate Governance and Nomination Committee: Badri Japaridze and Irina 
Schmidt.

Corporate Governance and 
Nomination Committee

Responsibilities: The Audit Committee assists the General Meeting of Shareholders and the 
Supervisory Board in fulfilling its oversight function. Its responsibilities include: review and 
monitor the integrity of the financial statements of the Bank, as well as the effectiveness of internal 
controls over financial reporting; review and monitor the performance of the internal audit 
function, as well as the performance, qualifications and independence of the external auditors of 
the Bank; review and monitor the risk management activities with the existing policies and 
procedures.

The Committee is chaired by Emile Groot, FMO representative on the Board and Financial Sector 
Specialist at FMO.

Members of the Audit Committee: Eric Rajendra, Givi Lemonjava, independent member and Levan 
Zuroshvili, independent member. 

Audit Committee 

Outside Director Audit
Committee

Givi Lemonjava

Irina Schmidt

Levan Zuroshvili

Eric J. Rajendra

Emile Groot

Badri Japhardze

Michael Hesketh

Corporate
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Remuneration
Committee

MemberChairperson
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For proper and effective functioning of the Management Board, the following management 
Committees have been formed: Credit Committee, Assets and Liabilities Management Committee 
(ALCO), Operational Risk Management Committee, IT Steering Committee, Change Advisory 
Board, Marketing Committee, Customer Satisfaction Committee, Operations Management 
Committee, Cross-Sales Committee.

Management Board Committees 

The Credit Committee is responsible for overseeing the establishment and implementation of the 
Bank�s lending activities and policies, as well as reviewing the quality and collectability of the 
Bank�s loan portfolio. The Credit Committee reports directly to the Management Board and meets 
once a month or more frequently, as required. The Credit Committee has delegated all functions 
related to the approval of loans issued by the Bank to the relevant Loan Approval Committees. 

Credit Committee

The ALCO is responsible for overseeing the effective implementation of the Bank�s asset and 
liability management policies. The functions of the ALCO include setting risk exposure limits based 
on forecasts, financial models, stress tests and hypothetical scenarios provided by the Bank�s 
Financial Risk department and formulating policies in relation to the Bank�s Risk Appetite 
Statement. The ALCO meets once a month or more frequently, as required.

Assets and Liabilities Management 
Committee (ALCO)

Chaired by the CEO, the Operational Risk Management Committee has five members and reports to 
the Management Board. The Operational Risk Management Committee is responsible for 
reviewing operational risks faced by the Bank and making decisions in order to minimize such 
risks. Meetings of the Operational Risk Management Committee are held on a quarterly basis or 
more frequently, as required.

Operational Risk Management 
Committee
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The Marketing Committee is responsible for the brand�s image and for all the marketing 
communication of the bank to its customers and other target groups. The Committee sets the 
brand�s marketing strategy and its management strategy. The Marketing Committee meets on a 
weekly basis and reports to the CEO.

Marketing Committee
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The CEM Committee is responsible for overseeing and ensuring customer satisfaction. The 
Committee, headed by the CEO, meets  once a month and is represented by Business, IT, Business 
Support and Customer Experience Management heads. Service quality dashboard results are 
reported by functional owners directly to the CEO. The main customer related issues are reported 
by the Head of IT. Strategic questions are raised and decisions taken.

Customer Satisfaction Committee

Operations Management Committee is responsible for developing and improving the 
service processes in the Bank. 

IT Steering Committee and IT Change Advisory Board are responsible for the prioritization 
and approval of IT projects and overseeing the performance of the IT project portfolio as 
well as for the review and approval of all IT related change requests initiated by different 
business units. 

Cross-Sales Committee was formed to coordinate the collaborative sales activities of the 
Corporate, Retail and SME Sales departments. 

OTHER COMMITTEES 
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TBC Bank Group
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

In thousands of GEL Notes 2012 2011 2010

Interest income 30 456,545 360,215 271,805
Interest expense 30 (217,895) (151,134) (108,991)

Net interest income 238,650 209,081 162,814
Provision for loan impairment 8 (23,154) (16,049) (31,320)

Net interest income after provision for loan impairment 215,496 193,032 131,494
Fee and commission income 31 58,140 43,802 30,659
Fee and commission expense 31 (18,830) (15,094) (11,605)
Gains less losses from trading in foreign currencies 25,240 25,419 22,803
Net (losses less gains) / gains less losses from derivative financial
instruments (3,804) (4,987) (300)
Foreign exchange translation gains less losses/(losses less gains) 7,617 394 (664)
Recovery of impairment / (impairment) of investment securities available
for sale (10) 116 (173)
(Losses less gains) / gains less losses from disposal of investment
securities available for sale - - (166)
(Provision) / recovery of provision for liabilities and charges 20 (3,306) (1,553) (3,092)
Recovery of provision / (provision) for impairment of investments in
finance lease 12 (42) 174 (900)
(Provision) / recovery of provision for impairment of other financial
assets 11 (4,132) (397) (713)
Recovery of impairment / (impairment) for assets classified as held for
sale 17 - 1,519 (1,519)
Other operating income 32 19,772 9,923 8,972
Staff costs including salaries, bonuses and share based compensation (92,289) (78,426) (57,146)
Depreciation and amortisation 14,15 (22,103) (15,088) (14,162)
Administrative and other operating expenses 33 (69,440) (51,744) (47,276)

Profit before tax 112,309 107,090 56,212
Income tax expense 34 (14,498) (15,465) (6,777)

Profit for the year 97,811 91,625 49,435

Other comprehensive income:
Available-for-sale investments:
- Revaluation 29 682 1,277 (286)
Revaluation of premises and equipment 29 10,513 1,311 -
Exchange differences on translation to presentation currency (217) (904) 1,062
Income tax recorded directly in other comprehensive income (1,674) (335) 41

Other comprehensive income for the year 9,304 1,349 817

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 107,115 92,974 50,252

Profit is attributable to:
- Owners of the Bank 96,519 90,898 49,374
- Non-controlling interest 1,292 727 61

Profit for the year 97,811 91,625 49,435

Total comprehensive income is attributable to:
- Owners of the Bank 105,823 92,247 50,191
- Non-controlling interest 1,292 727 61

Total comprehensive income for the year 107,115 92,974 50,252

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the owners of the Bank
- Basic earnings per share 27 630.1 600.6 329.0
- Diluted earnings per share 27 630.1 598.5 323.1



TBC Bank Group
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

In thousands of GEL
No
te

Attributable to equity holders of the Bank Non-
controll-

ing
interest

Total
equityShare

capital
Share

premium
Share
based

payments
reserve

Other
reserves
(note 29)

Retained
earnings

Total

Balance at
1 January 2010 15,000 201,723 - 32,806 71,920 321,449 5,294 326,743

Profit for the year - - - - 49,374 49,374 61 49,435
Other comprehensive
income - - - 817 - 817 - 817

Total comprehensive
income for 2010 - - - 817 49,374 50,191 61 50,252

Share issue 25 113 - - - - 113 - 113
Transfer of revaluation
surplus on premises
to retained earnings - - - (1,810) 2,129 319 - 319

Disposal of non-
controlling interest in
subsidiaries - - - - - - (155) (155)

Balance at
31 December 2010 15,113 201,723 - 31,813 123,423 372,072 5,200 377,272

Profit for the year - - - - 90,898 90,898 727 91,625
Other comprehensive
income - - - 1,349 - 1,349 - 1,349

Total comprehensive
income for 2011 - - - 1,349 90,898 92,247 727 92,974

Share issue 25 58 1,585 - - 1,643 - 1,643
Share based payment 26 - - 6,180 - - 6,180 - 6,180
Dividends paid - - - (12,495) (12,495) - (12,495)
Business combination 42 - - - - - - 3,207 3,207

Balance at
31 December 2011 15,171 203,308 6,180 33,162 201,826 459,647 9,134 468,781

Profit for the year 96,519 96,519 1,292 97,811
Other comprehensive
income - - - 9,304 - 9,304 - 9,304

Total comprehensive
income for 2012 - - - 9,304 96,519 105,823 1,292 107,115

Share issue 25 815 23,612 - - - 24,427 - 24,427
Share based payment 26 - - 2,700 - - 2,700 - 2,700
Increase in share
capital arising from
share based payment 157 4,581 (4,738) - - - - -

Equity contribution by
non-controlling
interest - - - - - - 993 993

Transfer of revaluation
surplus on premises
to retained earnings - - - (527) 535 8 - 8

Balance at
31 December 2012 16,143 231,501 4,142 41,939 298,880 592,605 11,419 604,024
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TBC Bank Group
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

The notes set out on pages 5 to 81 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

In thousands of GEL Note 2012 2011 2010

Cash flows from operating activities
Interest received 430,700 346,346 243,707
Interest paid (200,303) (168,368) (108,275)
Fees and commissions received 58,140 42,746 30,377
Fees and commissions paid (18,830) (15,094) (11,605)
Income received from trading in foreign currencies 25,240 25,419 21,839
Other operating income received 16,085 10,980 7,745
Staff costs paid (89,589) (67,479) (48,768)
Administrative and other operating expenses paid (66,465) (50,921) (36,405)
Income tax (paid) / refunded (26,701) (438) (1,348)

Cash flows from operating activities before changes in
operating assets and liabilities 128,277 123,191 97,267

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Net (increase) / decrease in due from other banks (54,599) (217,232) (36,752)
Net (increase) / decrease in loans and advances to customers (404,568) (660,195) (443,889)
Net decrease in investment in finance lease (4,398) - 4,409
Net decrease / (increase) in other financial assets (25,276) - 2,770
Net decrease / (increase) in other assets 26,402 11,287 (6,205)
Net increase in due to other banks (34,013) 62,181 20,304
Net increase in customer accounts 474,948 703,751 373,562
Net (decrease) / increase in other liabilities 7,722 (2,091) 653

Net cash from operating activities 114,495 20,892 12,119

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of investment securities available for sale 9 (813,864) (646,538) (483,844)
Proceeds from disposal of investment securities available for sale 90,857 47,815 38,461
Proceeds from redemption at maturity of investment securities
available for sale 9 599,913 571,104 236,411
Acquisition of investment securities held to maturity 10 (5,000) - (27,921)
Proceeds from redemption of investment securities held to maturity 10 33,000 - 115,496
Acquisition of premises, equipment and intangible assets (52,820) (30,634) (13,931)
Proceeds from disposal of investment property 15 14,296 4,389 -
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary, net of disposed cash 42 - 150 -

Net cash used in investing activities (133,618) (53,714) (135,328)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from other borrowed funds 321,160 359,985 57,505
Redemption of other borrowed funds (286,695) (208,316) -
Proceeds from subordinated debt - 8,048
Redemption of subordinated debt (24,738) (7,875) -
Dividends paid - (12,495) -
Purchase of additional interest by minority shareholders 993 - -
Issue of ordinary shares 24,426 - 113

Net cash from / (used in) financing activities 35,146 131,299 65,666

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 8,411 251 120

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 24,434 98,728 (57,423)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 6 374,153 275,425 332,848

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 6 398,587 374,153 275,425
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TBC Bank Group
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements – 31 December 2012

1 Introduction

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards for the year ended 31 December 2012 for TBC Bank (the “Bank”) and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” or “TBC Bank Group”).

The Bank was incorporated and is domiciled in Georgia on 17 December 1992. The Bank is a joint stock
company limited by shares and was set up in accordance with Georgian regulations.

In 2009 the Group issued new shares and since then it does not have an ultimate controlling party. At 31
December 2012, 2011 and 2010 shareholders structure by ownership interest is as follows:

Shareholders

31 December
2012

Ownership
interest,%

31 December
2011

Ownership
interest,%

31 December
2010

Ownership
interest,%

International Finance Corporation 20% 20% 20%
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development 20% 20% 20%
TBC Holdings LTD 20% 21% 21%
Deutsche Investitions und Entwicklungsgesellschaft MBH 12% 11% 11%
Liquid Crystal International N.V. LLC 7% 7% 7%
Individuals 7% 8% 8%
JPMorgan Chase Bank 5% 5% 5%
Ashmore Cayman SPC 4% 5% 5%
Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij Voor
Ontwikkelingslanden N.V. 5% 3% 3%

Total 100% 100% 100%

Principal activity. The Bank’s principal business activity is universal banking operations that include
corporate, SME, retail and micro operations within Georgia. The Bank has operated under a general
banking license issued by the National Bank of the Georgia (“NBG”) since 20 January 1993.

The Bank has 13 (2011: 13; 2010: 13) branches and 45 (2011: 37; 2010: 32) service centres within
Georgia. As at 31 December 2012, the Bank had 2,705 employees (2011: 2,598 employees; 2010: 2,291
employees).

The Bank is a parent of a group of companies (the “Group”) incorporated in Georgia and Azerbaijan,
primary business activities include providing banking, leasing, brokerage, card processing services, to
corporate and individual customers. The list of companies included in the Group is provided in Note 2.
The Bank is the Group’s main operating unit and accounts for most of the Group’s activities.

Registered address and place of business. The Bank’s registered address and place of business is: 7
Marjanishvili Street, 0102 Tbilisi, Georgia.

Presentation currency. These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of
Georgian Lari ("GEL thousands"), unless otherwise indicated.
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TBC Bank Group
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements – 31 December 2012

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis for preparation. These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) under the historical cost convention, as modified by
the revaluation of premises, available-for-sale financial assets, the initial recognition of financial
instruments based on fair value and identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business
combination measured at their fair values at the acquisition date and financial instruments categorised as
at fair value through profit or loss. The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the periods presented, unless otherwise stated (refer to Note 3).

Consolidated financial statements. Subsidiaries are those companies and other entities in which the
Group, directly or indirectly, has an interest of more than one half of the voting rights, or otherwise has
power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are presently exercisable or presently convertible are considered when
assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group (acquisition date), and are deconsolidated from the date on
which control ceases.

The consolidated financial statements include the following principal subsidiaries:

Subsidiary

31 December
2012

Ownership /
voting,%

31 December
2011

Ownership /
voting,%

31 December
2010

Ownership /
voting,%

Country Date of
incorpo-
ration or
acquisi-

tion

Industry

JSC TBC Leasing 89.53% 89.53% 89.53% Georgia 2003 Leasing

TBC Kredit LLC 75% 75% 75% Azerbaijan 2008
Non-banking

credit institution

TBC Broker LLC 100% 100% 100% Georgia 1999 Brokerage
JSC United
Financial
Corporation 93.32% 93.32% 93.32% Georgia 1997

Card
processing

JSC Real Estate
Management Fund 100% 100% 100% Georgia 2010

Real Estate
Management

Banking System
Service Company
LLC 100% 100% 100% Georgia 2009 Service

TBC Pay LLC 100% 100% 100% Georgia 2009 Processing

TBC Invest LLC 100% 100% - Israel 2011
PR and

Marketing
Bank Constanta
JSC 83.85% 83.3% - Georgia 2011

Financial
Institution

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured
at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest.

The Group measures non-controlling interest that represents present ownership interest and entitles the
holder to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation on a transaction by transaction
basis, either at: (a) fair value, or (b) the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of net assets of the
acquiree. Non-controlling interests that are not present ownership interests are measured at fair value.

Goodwill is measured by deducting the net assets of the acquiree from the aggregate of the consideration
transferred for the acquiree, the amount of non-controlling interest in the acquiree and fair value of an
interest in the acquiree held immediately before the acquisition date. Any negative amount (“negative
goodwill”) is recognised in profit or loss, after management reassesses whether it identified all the assets
acquired and all liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed, and reviews appropriateness of their
measurement.

The consideration transferred for the acquiree is measured at the fair value of the assets given up, equity
instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed, including fair value of assets or liabilities from
contingent consideration arrangements, but excludes acquisition related costs such as advisory, legal,
valuation and similar professional services.
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TBC Bank Group
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements – 31 December 2012

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Transaction costs incurred for issuing equity instruments are deducted from equity; transaction costs
incurred for issuing debt are deducted from its carrying amount and all other transaction costs associated
with the acquisition are expensed.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the cost cannot be recovered. The Bank and all
of its subsidiaries use uniform accounting policies consistent with the Group’s policies.

Non-controlling interest is that part of the net results and of the equity of a subsidiary attributable to
interests which are not owned, directly or indirectly, by the Bank. Non-controlling interest forms a
separate component of the Group’s equity.

Entities in which Group holds more than 50% of voting rights but whose operations are immaterial for the
Group financial statements as a whole are not consolidated. UFC International Limited is not
consolidated.

Disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures. When the Group ceases to have control or
significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the change in
carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In
addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are recycled to profit or loss.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a
proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified
to profit or loss where appropriate.

Financial instruments – key measurement terms. Depending on their classification financial
instruments are carried at fair value, cost, or amortised cost as described below.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. Fair value is the current bid price for
financial assets and current asking price for financial liabilities which are quoted in an active market. For
assets and liabilities with offsetting market risks, the Group may use mid-market prices as a basis for
establishing fair values for the offsetting risk positions and apply the bid or asking price to the net open
position as appropriate. A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices
are readily and regularly available from an exchange or other institution and those prices represent actual
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.
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TBC Bank Group
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements – 31 December 2012

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Valuation techniques such as discounted cash flows models or models based on recent arms length
transactions or consideration of financial data of the investees are used to fair value certain financial
instruments for which external market pricing information is not available. Valuation techniques may
require assumptions not supported by observable market data. Disclosures are made in these
consolidated financial statements if changing any such assumptions to a reasonably possible alternative
would result in significantly different profit, income, total assets or total liabilities.

Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other consideration given to
acquire an asset at the time of its acquisition and includes transaction costs. Measurement at cost is only
applicable to investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of
such unquoted equity instruments. Refer to Note 9.

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal
of a financial instrument. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the transaction
had not taken place. Transaction costs include fees and commissions paid to agents (including
employees acting as selling agents), advisors, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and
securities exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties. Transaction costs do not include debt premiums or
discounts, financing costs or internal administrative or holding costs.

Amortised cost is the amount at which the financial instrument was recognised at initial recognition less
any principal repayments, plus accrued interest, and for financial assets less any write-down for incurred
impairment losses. Accrued interest includes amortisation of transaction costs deferred at initial
recognition and of any premium or discount to maturity amount using the effective interest method.
Accrued interest income and accrued interest expense, including both accrued coupon and amortised
discount or premium (including fees deferred at origination, if any), are not presented separately and are
included in the carrying values of related items in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The effective interest method is a method of allocating interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period so as to achieve a constant periodic rate of interest (effective interest rate) on the carrying
amount. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or
receipts (excluding future credit losses) through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, if appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial instrument. The effective interest rate
discounts cash flows of variable interest instruments to the next interest repricing date, except for the
premium or discount which reflects the credit spread over the floating rate specified in the instrument, or
other variables that are not reset to market rates. Such premiums or discounts are amortised over the
whole expected life of the instrument. The present value calculation includes all fees paid or received
between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate (refer to income and
expense recognition policy).

Initial recognition of financial instruments. Trading securities, derivatives and other financial
instruments at fair value through profit or loss are initially recorded at fair value. All other financial
instruments are initially recorded at fair value plus transaction costs. Fair value at initial recognition is best
evidenced by the transaction price. A gain or loss on initial recognition is only recorded if there is a
difference between fair value and transaction price which can be evidenced by other observable current
market transactions in the same instrument or by a valuation technique whose inputs include only data
from observable markets.

All purchases and sales of financial assets that require delivery within the time frame established by
regulation or market convention (“regular way” purchases and sales) are recorded at trade date, which is
the date that the Group commits to deliver a financial asset. All other purchases are recognised when the
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Derecognition of financial assets. The Group derecognises financial assets when (a) the assets are
redeemed or the rights to cash flows from the assets otherwise expired or (b) the Group has transferred
the rights to the cash flows from the financial assets or entered into a qualifying pass-through
arrangement while (i) also transferring substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets or
(ii) neither transferring nor retaining substantially all risks and rewards of ownership but not retaining
control. Control is retained if the counterparty does not have the practical ability to sell the asset in its
entirety to an unrelated third party without needing to impose additional restrictions on the sale.
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TBC Bank Group
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements – 31 December 2012

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are items which are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash
equivalents include cash on hand, amounts due from the National Bank of Georgia (“NBG”), excluding
mandatory reserves, and all interbank placements and interbank receivables with original maturities of
less than three months. Funds restricted for a period of more than three months on origination are
excluded from cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost.

Mandatory cash balances with the National Bank of Georgia. Mandatory cash balances with the
National Bank of Georgia are carried at amortised cost and represent mandatory reserve deposits which
are not available to finance the Group’s day to day operations and hence are not considered as part of
cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Investment securities available for sale. This classification includes investment securities which the
Group intends to hold for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response to needs for
liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices. The Group classifies investments as
available for sale at the time of purchase.

Investment securities available for sale are carried at fair value. Interest income on available for sale debt
securities is calculated using the effective interest method and recognised in profit or loss for the year.
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss for the year when the
Group’s right to receive payment is established and it is probable that the dividends will be collected. All
other elements of changes in the fair value are deferred in equity until the investment is derecognised or
impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity to profit or loss. Impairment
losses are recognised in profit or loss when incurred as a result of one or more events (“loss events”) that
occurred after the initial recognition of investment securities available for sale.

A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an equity security below its cost is an indicator that it
is impaired. The cumulative impairment loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost
and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that asset previously recognised in profit or loss –
is removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity instruments are not
reversed through profit or loss. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as
available for sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through current period’s
profit or loss for the year.

Investment securities held to maturity. This classification includes quoted non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Group has both the intention and
ability to hold to maturity. Management determines the classification of investment securities held to
maturity at their initial recognition and reassesses the appropriateness of that classification at each the
end of each reporting period. Investment securities held to maturity are carried at amortised cost.

Due from other banks. Amounts due from other banks are recorded when the Group advances money
to counterparty banks with original maturity of more than three months and with no intention of trading the
resulting unquoted non-derivative receivable due on fixed or determinable dates. Amounts due from other
banks are carried at amortised cost.

Loans and advances to customers. Loans and advances to customers are recorded when the Group
advances money to purchase or originate an unquoted non-derivative receivable from a customer due on
fixed or determinable dates and has no intention of trading the receivable. Loans and advances to
customers are carried at amortised cost.

When impaired financial assets are renegotiated and the renegotiated terms and conditions differ
substantially from the previous terms, the new asset is initially recognised at its fair value.
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TBC Bank Group
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements – 31 December 2012

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets carried at amortised cost. Impairment losses are recognised in profit
or loss when incurred as a result of one or more events (“loss events”) that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset and which have an impact on the amount or timing of the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. If the
Group determines that no objective evidence exists that impairment was incurred for an individually
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets
with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. The primary factors
that the Group considers whether a financial asset is impaired is its overdue status and realisability of
related collateral, if any. The following other principal criteria are also used to determine that there is
objective evidence that an impairment loss has occurred:

- any instalment is overdue and the late payment cannot be attributed to a delay caused by the
settlement systems;

- the borrower experiences a significant financial difficulty as evidenced by borrower’s financial
information that the Group obtains;

- the borrower considers bankruptcy or a financial reorganisation;

- there is adverse change in the payment status of the borrower as a result of changes in the
national or local economic conditions that impact the borrower; or

- the value of collateral significantly decreases as a result of deteriorating market conditions.

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of
similar credit risk characteristics. Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows
for groups or such assets by being indicative of the debtor’s ability to pay all amounts due according to
the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment, are
estimated on the basis of historical loss experience and the success of recovery of overdue amounts.
Historical experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current
conditions that did not affect past periods, and to remove the effects of past conditions that do not exist
currently.

If the terms of an impaired financial asset held at amortised cost are renegotiated or otherwise modified
because of financial difficulties of the borrower or issuer, impairment is measured using the original
effective interest rate before the modification of terms.

Impairment losses are always recognised through an allowance account to write down the asset’s
carrying amount to the present value of expected cash flows (which exclude future credit losses that have
not been incurred) discounted at the original effective interest rate of the asset. The calculation of the
present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects the cash flows
that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not
foreclosure is probable.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the
debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance
account through profit or loss.

Uncollectible assets are written off against the related impairment loss provision after all the necessary
procedures to recover the asset have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to impairment loss account in profit
or loss for the year.
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TBC Bank Group
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements – 31 December 2012

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Repossessed collateral. Repossessed collateral represents non-financial assets acquired by the Group
in settlement of overdue loans. The assets are initially recognised at fair value when acquired and
included in premises and equipment, investment property or inventories within other assets depending on
their nature and the Group's intention in respect of recovery of these assets and are subsequently re-
measured and accounted for in accordance with the accounting policies for these categories of assets.
Inventories of repossessed assets are recorded at the lower of cost or net realisable value.

Credit related commitments. The Group enters into credit related commitments, including letters of
credit and financial guarantees. Financial guarantees represent irrevocable assurances to make
payments in the event that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties and carry the same
credit risk as loans. Financial guarantees and commitments to provide a loan are initially recognised at
their fair value, which is normally evidenced by the amount of fees received. This amount is amortised on
a straight line basis over the life of the commitment, except for commitments to originate loans if it is
probable that the Group will enter into a specific lending arrangement and does not expect to sell the
resulting loan shortly after origination; such loan commitment fees are deferred and included in the
carrying value of the loan on initial recognition. At the end of each reporting period, the commitments are
measured at the higher of (i) the unamortised balance of the amount at initial recognition and (ii) the best
estimate of expenditure required to settle the commitment at the end of each reporting period.

Goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the acquirer’s
share of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired subsidiary or associate
at the date of exchange. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is presented separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position. Goodwill on acquisitions of associates is included in the
investment in associates. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

The Group tests goodwill for impairment at least annually and whenever there are indications that
goodwill may be impaired. Goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination. Such units
or group of units represent the lowest level at which the Group monitors goodwill and are not larger than a
segment. Gains or losses on disposal of an operation within a cash generating unit to which goodwill has
been allocated include the carrying amount of goodwill associated with the operation disposed of,
generally measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit which is retained.

Premises and equipment. Premises and equipment, except for buildings and construction in progress,
are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment, where required. Cost of
premises and equipment of acquired subsidiaries is the estimated fair value at the date of acquisition.

Following initial recognition, land, buildings and construction in progress are carried at revalued amount,
being the fair value at the date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations are performed frequently enough to ensure that
the carrying amount does not differ materially from that which would be determined using fair values at the
end of reporting period.

Any revaluation surplus is credited to the revaluation reserve for property and equipment included in equity,
except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, in which case the increase is recognized in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously charged. A revaluation deficit is
recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, except that a deficit directly offsetting a previous
surplus on the same asset is directly offset against the surplus in the revaluation reserve for property and
equipment.

Depreciation on revalued buildings is charged to consolidated statement of profit or loss. Upon disposal of
revalued property, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset being sold or retired is transferred
to retained earnings.

Costs of minor repairs and maintenance are expensed when incurred. Cost of replacing major parts or
components of premises and equipment items are capitalised and the replaced part is retired.
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If impaired, premises and equipment are written down to the higher of their value in use and fair value
less costs to sell. The decrease in carrying amount is charged to profit or loss to the extent it exceeds the
previous revaluation surplus in equity. An impairment loss recognised for an asset in prior years is
reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s value in use or fair
value less costs to sell.

Gains and losses on disposals determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount are recognised
in profit or loss.

Depreciation. Land and construction in progress are not depreciated. Depreciation on other items of
premises and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost or revalued
amounts to their residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Premises 30 – 50 years;
Furniture and fixtures 5 – 8 years;
Computers and office equipment 3 – 5 years;
Motor vehicles 4 – 5 years;
Other equipment 2 – 8 years; and
Leasehold improvements lesser of 7 years or the term of the underlying lease

The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that the Group would currently obtain from
disposal of the asset less the estimated costs of disposal, if the asset were already of the age and in the
condition expected at the end of its useful life. The residual value of an asset is nil if the Group expects to
use the asset until the end of its physical life. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Investment property. Investment property is property held by the Group to earn rental income or for
capital appreciation, or both and which is not occupied by the Group.

Investment property is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment, where
required. Investment property is amortised on a straight line basis over expected useful lives of thirty to
fifty years. If any indication exists that investment properties may be impaired, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount as the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell. The carrying amount of
an investment property is written down to its recoverable amount through a charge to profit or loss for the
year. An impairment loss recognised in prior years is reversed if there has been a subsequent change in
the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount.

Earned rental income is recorded in profit or loss for the year within other operating income.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group and the cost can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed when incurred.

Intangible assets. All of the Group’s intangible assets have definite useful life and primarily include
capitalised computer software and licenses.

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use the specific software. All other costs associated with computer software, e.g. its
maintenance, are expensed when incurred. Intangible assets are amortised on a straight line basis over
expected useful lives of two to eight years.

Investments in leases. Where the Group is a lessor in a lease which transfers substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership to the lessee, the assets leased out are presented as a finance lease
receivable and carried at the present value of the future lease payments. Investments in leases are
initially recognised at commencement (when the lease term begins) using a discount rate determined at
inception (the earlier of the date of the lease agreement and the date of commitment by the parties to the
principal provisions of the lease).
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The difference between the gross receivable and the present value represents unearned finance income.
This income is recognised over the term of the lease using the net investment method (before tax), which
reflects a constant periodic rate of return. Incremental costs directly attributable to negotiating and
arranging the lease are included in the initial measurement of the finance lease receivable and reduce the
amount of income recognised over the lease term. Finance income from leases is recorded within interest
income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss when incurred as a result of one or more events (“loss
events”) that occurred after the initial recognition of Investments in leases. The Group uses the same
principal criteria to determine that there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has occurred as for
loans carried at amortised costs disclosed earlier in this note. Impairment losses are recognised through
an allowance account to write down the receivables’ net carrying amount to the present value of expected
cash flows (which exclude future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the interest
rates implicit in the finance leases. The estimated future cash flows reflect the cash flows that may result
from obtaining and selling the assets subject to the lease.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale. Non-current assets and disposal groups, which may
include both non-current and current assets, are classified in the consolidated statement of financial
position as ‘non-current assets held for sale’ if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through
a sale transaction, including loss of control of a subsidiary holding the assets, within twelve months after
the end of the reporting period. Assets are reclassified when all of the following conditions are met: (a) the
assets are available for immediate sale in their present condition; (b) the Group’s management approved
and initiated an active programme to locate a buyer; (c) the assets are actively marketed for a sale at a
reasonable price; (d) the sale is expected within one year and (e) it is unlikely that significant changes to
the plan to sell will be made or that the plan will be withdrawn. Non-current assets or disposal groups
classified as held for sale in the current period’s consolidated statement of financial position are not
reclassified or re-presented in the comparative consolidated statement of financial position to reflect the
classification at the end of the current period.

A disposal group is a group of assets (current or non-current) to be disposed of, by sale or otherwise,
together as a group in a single transaction, and liabilities directly associated with those assets that will be
transferred in the transaction. Goodwill is included if the disposal group includes an operation within a
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated on acquisition. Non-current assets are assets
that include amounts expected to be recovered or collected more than twelve months after the end of the
reporting period. If reclassification is required, both the current and non-current portions of an asset are
reclassified.

Held for sale disposal groups as a whole are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell. Held for sale premises and equipment, investment properties and intangible
assets are not depreciated or amortised. Reclassified non-current financial instruments and deferred
taxes are not subject to the write down to the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell.

Liabilities directly associated with disposal groups that will be transferred in the disposal transaction are
reclassified and presented separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Due to other banks and other borrowed funds. Amounts due to other banks are recorded when money
or other assets are advanced to the Group by counterparty banks. The non-derivative liability is carried at
amortised cost. If the Group purchases its own debt, it is removed from the consolidated statement of
financial position and the difference between the carrying amount of the liability and the consideration
paid is included in gains or losses arising from retirement of debt.

Customer accounts. Customer accounts are non-derivative liabilities to individuals, state or corporate
customers and are carried at amortised cost.

Subordinated debt. Subordinated debt includes long-term non-derivative liabilities to international
financial institutions and is carried at amortised cost. The repayment of subordinated debt ranks after all
other creditors in case of liquidation and is included in “tier 2 capital” of the Bank.
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Derivative financial instruments. Derivative financial instruments, including foreign exchange contracts,
interest rate futures, forward rate agreements, currency and interest rate swaps, currency and interest
rate options are carried at their fair value. The Group also enters into offsetting deposits with its
counterparty banks to exchange currencies. Such deposits, while legally separate, are aggregated and
accounted for as a single derivative financial instrument (currency swap) on a net basis where (i) the
deposits are entered into at the same time and in contemplation of one another, (ii) they have the same
counterparty, (iii) they relate to the same risk and (iv) there is no apparent business purpose for
structuring the transactions separately that could not also have been accomplished in a single
transaction.

All derivative instruments are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value
is negative. Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments are included in profit or loss. The Group
does not apply hedge accounting.

Certain derivative instruments embedded in other financial instruments are treated as separate derivative
instruments when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contract.

Income taxes. Income taxes have been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with the legislation enacted or substantively enacted by the end of reporting period in the
respective territories that the Bank and its subsidiaries operate. The income tax charge/credit comprises
current tax and deferred tax and is recognised in the consolidation statement of profit or loss except if it is
recognised directly in equity because it relates to transactions that are also recognised, in the same or a
different period, directly in equity.

Current tax is the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the taxation authorities in respect of
taxable profits or losses for the current and prior periods. Taxable profits or losses are based on
estimates if consolidated financial statements are authorised prior to filing relevant tax returns. Taxes,
other than on income, are recorded within administrative and other operating expenses.

Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method for tax loss carry forwards and
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes. In accordance with the initial recognition exemption, deferred taxes are
not recorded for temporary differences on initial recognition of an asset or a liability in a transaction other
than a business combination if the transaction, when initially recorded, affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are not recorded for temporary differences on initial recognition of
goodwill and subsequently for goodwill which is not deductible for tax purposes. Deferred tax balances
are measured at tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting period which are
expected to apply to the period when the temporary differences will reverse or the tax loss carry forwards
will be utilised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are netted only within the individual companies of the
Group. Deferred tax assets for deductible temporary differences and tax loss carry forwards are recorded
only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductions
can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on post acquisition retained earnings of subsidiaries, except where the
Group controls the subsidiary’s dividend policy and it is probable that the difference will not reverse
through dividends or otherwise in the foreseeable future.

Uncertain tax positions. The Group's uncertain tax positions are reassessed by Management at the end
of each reporting period. Liabilities are recorded for income tax positions that are determined by
Management as more likely than not to result in additional taxes being levied if the positions were to be
challenged by the tax authorities. The assessment is based on the interpretation of tax laws that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of reporting period and any known Court or other
rulings on such issues. Liabilities for penalties, interest and taxes other than on income are recognised
based on Management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligations at the end of
the reporting period.

95



TBC Bank Group
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements – 31 December 2012

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Performance guarantees are contracts that provide compensation if another party fails to perform a
contractual obligation. Such contracts do not transfer credit risk. Performance guarantees are initially
recognised at their fair value, which is normally evidenced by the amount of fees received. This amount is
amortised on a straight line basis over the life of the contract. At the end of each reporting period, the
performance guarantee contracts are measured at the higher of (i) the unamortised balance of the
amount at initial recognition and (ii) the best estimate of expenditure required to settle the contract at the
end of each reporting period, discounted to present value if the discounting effect is material.

The Bank has the contractual right to revert to its customer for recovering amounts paid to settle the
performance guarantee contracts, such amounts are recognised as loans and receivables.

Provisions for liabilities and charges. Provisions for liabilities and charges are non-financial liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount. They are accrued when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can
be made.

Share capital. Ordinary shares with discretionary dividends are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds. Any excess of the fair value of consideration received over the par value of shares
issued is recorded as share premium in equity.Income and expense recognition. Interest income and
expense are recorded for all debt instruments on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. This
method defers, as part of interest income or expense, all fees paid or received between the parties to the
contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or
discounts.

Fees integral to the effective interest rate include origination fees received or paid by the entity relating to
the creation or acquisition of a financial asset or issuance of a financial liability, for example fees for
evaluating creditworthiness, evaluating and recording guarantees or collateral, negotiating the terms of
the instrument and for processing transaction documents. Commitment fees received by the Group to
originate loans at market interest rates are integral to the effective interest rate if it is probable that the
Group will enter into a specific lending arrangement and does not expect to sell the resulting loan shortly
after origination. The Group does not designate loan commitments as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss.

When loans and other debt instruments become doubtful of collection, they are written down to present value
of expected cash inflows and interest income is thereafter recorded for the unwinding of the present value
discount based on the asset’s effective interest rate which was used to measure the impairment loss.

All other fees, commissions and other income and expense items are generally recorded on an accrual
basis by reference to completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service
provided as a proportion of the total services to be provided.

Commissions and fees arising from negotiating, or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a
third party, such as the acquisition of loans, shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of
businesses, which are earned on execution of the underlying transaction are recorded on its completion.
Portfolio and other management advisory and service fees are recognised based on the applicable
service contracts, usually on a time-proportion basis. Asset management fees related to investment funds
are recorded rateably over the period the service is provided. The same principle is applied for wealth
management, financial planning and custody services that are continuously provided over an extended
period of time.

Foreign currency translation. The functional currency of each of the Group’s consolidated entities is the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates. The Bank’s functional
currency and the Group’s presentation currency is the national currency of Georgia, Lari.

96



TBC Bank Group
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements – 31 December 2012

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Monetary assets and liabilities are translated into each entity’s functional currency at the official exchange
rate of respective territories that the Bank and its subsidiaries operate, at the respective reporting period.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of transactions and from the translation
of monetary assets and liabilities into each entity’s functional currency at year-end official exchange rates
are recognised in profit or loss. Translation at year-end rates does not apply to non-monetary items,
including equity investments. Effects of exchange rate changes on the fair value of equity securities are
recorded as part of the fair value gain or loss.

The results and financial position of each group entity (the functional currency of none of which is a currency of
a hyperinflationary economy) are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the end of the respective reporting period;

(ii) income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions);

(iii) components of equity are translated at the historic rate; and

(iv) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

When a subsidiary is disposed of through sale, liquidation, repayment of share capital or abandonment of all,
or part of, that entity, the exchange differences deferred in equity are reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. At 31 December 2012 the closing rate of
exchange used for translating foreign currency balances was USD 1 = GEL 1.6567 (2011: USD 1 =
GEL 1.6703 ; 2010: USD 1 = GEL 1.7728); EUR 1 = GEL 2.1825 ( 2011: EUR 1 = GEL 2.1614 ; 2010:
EUR 1 = GEL 2.3500).

Offsetting. Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts, and there is an intention to either settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

Staff costs and related contributions. Wages, salaries, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses, and
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by the
employees of the Group.

Earnings per share. Earnings per share are determined by dividing the profit or loss attributable to
owners of the Bank by the weighted average number of participating shares outstanding during the
reporting year.

Segment reporting. Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the Group’s chief operating decision maker. Segments whose revenue, result or assets are
ten percent or more of all the segments are reported separately.

Share based payments. Under share-based compensation plan the Group receives services from
management as consideration for equity instruments of the Group. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the equity instruments is recognised as an expense. The total amount
to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted, excluding the
impact of any non-market service and performance vesting conditions. Non-market vesting conditions are
included in assumptions about the number of equity instruments that are expected to vest. The total amount
expensed is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of
equity instruments that are expected to vest based on the non-marketing vesting conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, in the consolidated income statement, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity. The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs
are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium when the equity instruments are exercised.

Amendments of the consolidated financial statements after issue. The Bank’s shareholders and
management have the power to amend the consolidated financial statements after issue.
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The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
Management’s experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances. Management also makes certain judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, in the process of applying the accounting policies. Judgements that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements and estimates that
can cause a significant adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year include:

Impairment losses on loans and advances and finance lease receivables. The Group regularly
reviews its loan portfolio and finance lease receivables to assess impairment. In determining whether an
impairment loss should be recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the Group makes
judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in
the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans or finance lease receivables before the decrease
can be identified with an individual loan in that portfolio. This evidence may include observable data
indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in a group, or
national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the group. Management
uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective
evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows. The
methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are
reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. A 5%
increase or decrease between actual loss experience and the loss estimates used will result in an
additional or lower charge for loan loss impairment of GEL 8,030 thousand (2011: GEL 7,933 thousand;
2010: GEL 8,313 thousand) and additional charge for impairment of finance lease receivables of GEL 6
thousand (2011: GEL 5 thousand ; 2010: GEL 5 thousand), respectively.

Impairment provisions for individually significant loans and leases are based on the estimate of
discounted future cash flows of the individual loans and leases taking into account repayments and
realisation of any assets held as collateral against the loan or the lease. A 5% increase or decrease in the
actual future discounted cash flows from individually significant loans which could arise from a mixture of
differences in amounts and timing of the cash flows will result in an additional or lower charge for loan
loss provision of GEL 4,374 thousand (2011: GEL 4,232 thousand; 2010: GEL 4,272 thousand),
respectively. A 5% increase or decrease in the actual future discounted cash flows from individually
significant leases which could arise from a mixture of differences in amounts and timing of the cash flows
will result in an additional or lower charge for provision of GEL 1 thousand (2011: nil; 2010: GEL 21
thousand), respectively.

Fair value disclosure of investment properties. Investment properties held by the Group are carried at
cost. However, as per the requirements of IAS 40, the Group also discloses the fair value of investment
properties as at the reporting dates. Fair value is determined by internal appraisers of the group. In
determining the fair values of investment properties, the Group uses the available information on the real
estate market in the media, reports of independent appraisers, who hold a recognised and relevant
professional qualification, information available on the valuation of similar assets and the general
knowledge of the Group’s internal appraisers. At 31 December 2012, investment properties comprised
real estate assets located in Tbilisi and other regions of Georgia with the fair value amounting to GEL
45,041 thousand (2011: GEL 37,966 thousand; 2010: GEL 41,914 thousand).

Finance leases and derecognition of financial assets. Management applies judgement to determine if
substantially all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of financial assets and lease assets are
transferred to counterparties, in particular which risks and rewards are the most significant and what
constitutes substantially all risks and rewards. As at 31 December 2012 the entity had investments in
finance lease of GEL 26,377 thousand (31 December 2011: GEL 21,979 thousand; 31 December 2010:
GEL 9,681 thousand).

Tax legislation. Georgian and Azerbaijani tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to varying
interpretations. Refer to Note 34.
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Initial recognition of related party transactions. In the normal course of business the Group enters into
transactions with its related parties. IAS 39 requires initial recognition of financial instruments based on
their fair values. Judgement is applied in determining if transactions are priced at market or non-market
interest rates, where there is no active market for such transactions. The basis for judgement is pricing for
similar types of transactions with unrelated parties and effective interest rate analysis. In management
judgment, at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010, there were no loans and advances at other than market
conditions. Terms and conditions of related party balances are disclosed in Note 41.

4 Adoption of New or Revised Standards and Interpretations

The following new standards and interpretations became effective for the Group from 1 January 2012:

“Disclosures—Transfers of Financial Assets” – Amendments to IFRS 7 (issued in October 2010
and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011). The amendment requires
additional disclosures in respect of risk exposures arising from transferred financial assets. The
amendment includes a requirement to disclose by class of asset the nature, carrying amount and a
description of the risks and rewards of financial assets that have been transferred to another party, yet
remain on the entity's balance sheet. Disclosures are also required to enable a user to understand the
amount of any associated liabilities, and the relationship between the financial assets and associated
liabilities. Where financial assets have been derecognised, but the entity is still exposed to certain risks
and rewards associated with the transferred asset, additional disclosure is required to enable the effects
of those risks to be understood. The amendment did not have a material impact on these financial
statements.

Other revised standards and interpretations. The amendments to IFRS 1 “First-time adoption of
IFRS”, relating to severe hyperinflation and eliminating references to fixed dates for certain exceptions
and exemptions, did not have any impact on these financial statements. The amendment to IAS 12
“Income taxes”, which introduced a rebuttable presumption that an investment property carried at fair
value is recovered entirely through sale, did not have a material impact on these financial statements.

5 New Accounting Pronouncements

Certain new standards and interpretations have been issued that are mandatory for the annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2013 or later, and which the Group has not early adopted.

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments Part 1: Classification and Measurement. IFRS 9, issued in November
2009, replaces those parts of IAS 39 relating to the classification and measurement of financial assets.
IFRS 9 was further amended in October 2010 to address the classification and measurement of financial
liabilities and in December 2011 to (i) change its effective date to annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2015 and (ii) add transition disclosures. Key features of the standard are as follows:

Financial assets are required to be classified into two measurement categories: those to be measured
subsequently at fair value, and those to be measured subsequently at amortised cost. The decision is
to be made at initial recognition. The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument.

An instrument is subsequently measured at amortised cost only if it is a debt instrument and both (i)
the objective of the entity’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flows,
and (ii) the asset’s contractual cash flows represent payments of principal and interest only (that is, it
has only “basic loan features”). All other debt instruments are to be measured at fair value through
profit or loss.
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All equity instruments are to be measured subsequently at fair value. Equity instruments that are held
for trading will be measured at fair value through profit or loss. For all other equity investments, an
irrevocable election can be made at initial recognition, to recognise unrealised and realised fair value
gains and losses through other comprehensive income rather than profit or loss. There is to be no
recycling of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss. This election may be made on an instrument-
by-instrument basis. Dividends are to be presented in profit or loss, as long as they represent a return
on investment.

Most of the requirements in IAS 39 for classification and measurement of financial liabilities were
carried forward unchanged to IFRS 9. The key change is that an entity will be required to present the
effects of changes in own credit risk of financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss in
other comprehensive income.

While adoption of IFRS 9 is mandatory from 1 January 2015, earlier adoption is permitted. The Group is
considering the implications of the standard, the impact on the Group and the timing of its adoption by the
Group.

IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements (issued in May 2011 and effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2013), replaces all of the guidance on control and consolidation in IAS
27 “Consolidated and separate financial statements” and SIC-12 “Consolidation - special purpose
entities”. IFRS 10 changes the definition of control so that the same criteria are applied to all entities to
determine control. This definition is supported by extensive application guidance. The Group does not
expect the amendment to have any material effect on its consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, (issued in May 2011 and effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2013), replaces IAS 31 “Interests in Joint Ventures” and SIC-13 “Jointly Controlled
Entities—Non-Monetary Contributions by Ventures”. Changes in the definitions have reduced the number
of types of joint arrangements to two: joint operations and joint ventures. The existing policy choice of
proportionate consolidation for jointly controlled entities has been eliminated. Equity accounting is
mandatory for participants in joint ventures. The Group does not expect the amendment to have any
material effect on its consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities, (issued in May 2011 and effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013), applies to entities that have an interest in a subsidiary,
a joint arrangement, an associate or an unconsolidated structured entity. It replaces the disclosure
requirements currently found in IAS 28 “Investments in associates”. IFRS 12 requires entities to disclose
information that helps financial statement readers to evaluate the nature, risks and financial effects
associated with the entity’s interests in subsidiaries, associates, joint arrangements and unconsolidated
structured entities. To meet these objectives, the new standard requires disclosures in a number of
areas, including significant judgments and assumptions made in determining whether an entity controls,
jointly controls, or significantly influences its interests in other entities, extended disclosures on share of
non-controlling interests in group activities and cash flows, summarised financial information of
subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests, and detailed disclosures of interests in unconsolidated
structured entities. The Group does not expect the amendment to have any material effect on its
consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 13, Fair value measurement, (issued in May 2011 and effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2013), aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a revised
definition of fair value, and a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use
across IFRSs. The Group does not expect the amendment to have any material effect on its consolidated
financial statements.

IAS 27, Separate Financial Statements, (revised in May 2011 and effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2013), was changed and its objective is now to prescribe the
accounting and disclosure requirements for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
when an entity prepares separate financial statements. The guidance on control and consolidated
financial statements was replaced by IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements. The Group does not
expect the amendment to have any material effect on its consolidated financial statements.
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5 New Accounting Pronouncements (Continued)

IAS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures“, (revised in May 2011 and effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013). The amendment of IAS 28 resulted from
the Board’s project on joint ventures. When discussing that project, the Board decided to incorporate
the accounting for joint ventures using the equity method into IAS 28 because this method is applicable to
both joint ventures and associates. With this exception, other guidance remained unchanged.

Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements (issued June 2011, effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012), changes the disclosure of items presented in other
comprehensive income. The amendments require entities to separate items presented in other
comprehensive income into two groups, based on whether or not they may be reclassified to profit or loss
in the future. The suggested title used by IAS 1 has changed to ‘statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income’. The Group expects the amended standard to change presentation of its
consolidated financial statements, but have no impact on measurement of transactions and balances.

Amended IAS 19, Employee Benefits (issued in June 2011, effective for periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2013), makes significant changes to the recognition and measurement of defined benefit
pension expense and termination benefits, and to the disclosures for all employee benefits. The standard
requires recognition of all changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) when they occur, as follows:
(i) service cost and net interest in profit or loss; and (ii) remeasurements in other comprehensive income.
The Group does not expect the amendment to have any material effect on its consolidated financial
statements.

“Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities“ - Amendments to IFRS 7
(issued in December 2011 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013).
The amendment requires disclosures that will enable users of an entity’s financial statements to evaluate
the effect or potential effect of netting arrangements, including rights of set-off.

“Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities“ - Amendments to IAS 32 (issued in
December 2011 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014). The
amendment added application guidance to IAS 32 to address inconsistencies identified in applying some
of the offsetting criteria. This includes clarifying the meaning of ‘currently has a legally enforceable right
of set-off’ and that some gross settlement systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement.

Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards (issued in May 2012 and effective
for annual periods beginning 1 January 2013). The improvements consist of changes to five
standards. IFRS 1 was amended to (i) clarify that an entity that resumes preparing its IFRS financial
statements may either repeatedly apply IFRS 1 or apply all IFRSs retrospectively as if it had never
stopped applying them, and (ii) to add an exemption from applying IAS 23 “Borrowing costs”,
retrospectively by first-time adopters. IAS 1 was amended to clarify that explanatory notes are not
required to support the third balance sheet presented at the beginning of the preceding period when it is
provided because it was materially impacted by a retrospective restatement, changes in accounting
policies or reclassifications for presentation purposes, while explanatory notes will be required when an
entity voluntarily decides to provide additional comparative statements. IAS 16 was amended to clarify
that servicing equipment that is used for more than one period is classified as property, plant and
equipment rather than inventory. IAS 32 was amended to clarify that certain tax consequences of
distributions to owners should be accounted for in the income statement as was always required by IAS
12. IAS 34 was amended to bring its requirements in line with IFRS 8. IAS 34 will require disclosure of a
measure of total assets and liabilities for an operating segment only if such information is regularly
provided to chief operating decision maker and there has been a material change in those measures
since the last annual consolidated financial statements.
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Transition Guidance Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 (issued in June 2012 and
effective for annual periods beginning 1 January 2013). The amendments clarify the transition
guidance in IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements”. Entities adopting IFRS 10 should assess
control at the first day of the annual period in which IFRS 10 is adopted, and if the consolidation
conclusion under IFRS 10 differs from IAS 27 and SIC 12, the immediately preceding comparative period
(that is, year 2012 for a calendar year-end entity that adopts IFRS 10 in 2013) is restated, unless
impracticable. The amendments also provide additional transition relief in IFRS 10, IFRS 11 “Joint
Arrangements” and IFRS 12 “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities”, by limiting the requirement to
provide adjusted comparative information only for the immediately preceding comparative period. Further,
the amendments will remove the requirement to present comparative information for disclosures related
to unconsolidated structured entities for periods before IFRS 12 is first applied.

Amendments to IFRS 1 “First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards -
Government Loans“ (issued in March 2012 and effective for annual periods beginning 1 January
2013). The amendments, dealing with loans received from governments at a below market rate of
interest, give first-time adopters of IFRSs relief from full retrospective application of IFRSs when
accounting for these loans on transition. This will give first-time adopters the same relief as existing
preparers

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 - Investment entities (issued on 31 October 2012 and
effective for annual periods beginning 1 January 2014). The amendment introduced a definition of an
investment entity as an entity that (i) obtains funds from investors for the purpose of providing them with
investment management services, (ii) commits to its investors that its business purpose is to invest funds
solely for capital appreciation or investment income and (iii) measures and evaluates its investments on a
fair value basis. An investment entity will be required to account for its subsidiaries at fair value through
profit or loss, and to consolidate only those subsidiaries that provide services that are related to the
entity's investment activities. IFRS 12 was amended to introduce new disclosures, including any
significant judgements made in determining whether an entity is an investment entity and information
about financial or other support to an unconsolidated subsidiary, whether intended or already provided to
the subsidiary.

Other revised standards and interpretations: IFRIC 20 “Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a
Surface Mine“, considers when and how to account for the benefits arising from the stripping activity in
mining industry. The interpretation will not have an impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Unless otherwise described above, the new standards and interpretations are not expected to affect
significantly the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

6 Cash and Cash Equivalents

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

Cash on hand 139,362 116,938 95,138
Cash balances with the National Bank of Georgia (other than mandatory
reserve deposits) 71,707 53,024 22,163
Correspondent accounts and overnight placements with other banks 163,869 128,552 123,516
Placements with and receivables from other banks with original maturities of
less than three months 23,649 75,639 34,608

Total cash and cash equivalents 398,587 374,153 275,425

Interest rate analysis of cash and cash equivalents is disclosed in Note 35.
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Credit rating of correspondent accounts and overnight placements with other banks is as follows:

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

AA - 749 203
AA- - 1,242 14,984
A+ 62,137 66,025 101,778
A 94,792 51,515 10
A- - 170 596
BBB+ - 563 130
BBB 764 - -
BBB- 11 366 53
BB ,3 591 - -
B+
B-
Not rated

511 - -
277 - -

1,786 7,922 5,762

Total 163,869 128,552 123,516

Credit rating of placements with and receivables from other banks with original maturities of less than
three months is as follows:

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

BB+
Not rated

16,369 - -
7,280 75,639 34,608

Total 23,649 75,639 34,608

The table contains ratings of Standard & Poor’s and Fitch Ratings international agencies. When different
credit ratings are designated by the agencies, the highest designated rating for this asset is used.
Balances with other banks without rating represent placements with top 10 Georgian Banks.
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7 Due from Other Banks

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

Placements with other banks with original maturities of more than three months 29,542 40,942 16,160
Mandatory cash balances with the National Bank of Georgia 316,061 250,067 58,576

Total due from other banks 345,603 291,009 74,736

Mandatory cash balances with the National Bank of Georgia (“NBG”) represents amounts deposited with
the NBG. Resident financial institutions are required to maintain an interest-earning obligatory reserve with
the NBG, the amount of which depends on the level of funds attracted by the financial institutions. The
Group earned up to 2% annual interest on the mandatory reserve with the NBG in 2012, 2011 and 2010.

Amounts due from other banks are not collateralised and represent current and not impaired amounts at the
end of 2012, 2011 and 2010.

Credit rating of placements with other banks with original maturities of more than three months is as follows:

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

A+
A - - 54
BBB+
BBB-
Not rated

- - 528

- - -
- - 13,944

29,542 40,942 1,634

Placements with other banks with original maturities of more than three
months 29,542 40,942 16,160

At 31 December 2012 the Group had placement with one counterparty bank with original maturities of more
than three months and with aggregated amounts above GEL 2,000 thousand (2011: one bank; 2010: two
banks). The total aggregate amount of these deposits was GEL 28,164 thousand (2011: GEL 40,006
thousand; 2010: GEL 14,037 thousand) or 95.3% of the total placements with other banks with original
maturities of more than three months (2011: 97.7%; 2010: 86.8%). Balances with other banks without rating
represent placements with top 10 Georgian Banks.

Refer to Note 39 for the estimated fair value of amounts due from other banks. Interest rate analysis of due
from other banks is disclosed in Note 35.

8 Loans and Advances to Customers

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

Corporate loans 1,142,087 1,003,849 811,559
Consumer loans 482,704 409,065 284,310
Mortgage loans 385,416 375,008 260,064
Loans to small and medium enterprises 294,217 236,016 152,946
Micro loans
Others

145,931 85,011 -
86,343 58,456 39,530

Total loans and advances to customers (before impairment) 2,536,698 2,167,405 1,548,409

Less: Provision for loan impairment (166,498) (158,660) (167,454)

Total loans and advances to customers 2,370,200 2,008,745 1,380,955

Included in the consumer loans are consumer loans, card loans, overdrafts, express and fast loans and
other loans. Included in micro loans are all loans issued by Bank Constanta.
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8 Loans and Advances to Customers (Continued)

Movements in the provision for loan impairment during 2012 are as follows:

In thousands of GEL

Corporate
loans

Consumer
loans

Mortgage
loans

Small and
medium

enterprises

Micro
loans

Total

Provision for loan impairment at
1 January 2012 114,106 25,833 12,661 5,459 601 158,660
Provision for impairment during the
year 1,190 15,649 649 1,198 4,468 23,154
Amounts written off during the year as
uncollectible (12,124) (16,717) (2,016) (3,210) (1,296) (35,363)
Recovery of amounts previously written
off as uncollectible 9,803 6,391 1,892 1,373 588 20,047

Provision for loan impairment at
31 December 2012 112,975 31,156 13,186 4,820 4,361 166,498

Loans and advances to customers written off in 2012 included loans to customers in the gross amount of
GEL 1,613 thousand issued during 2012 and GEL 33,750 thousand issued in prior years.

For terms of loans and advances to related parties, impairment provisions made against those loans and
amounts written off during the year refer to Note 41.

Movements in the provision for loan impairment during 2011 are as follows:

In thousands of GEL

Corporate
loans

Consumer
loans

Mortgage
loans

Small and
medium

enterprises

Micro
loans

Total

Provision for loan impairment at
1 January 2011 116,440 24,527 15,924 10,563 - 167,454
Provision for impairment during the
year 20,617 2,714 (3,315) (4,282) 315 16,049
Amounts written off during the year as
uncollectible (29,930) (11,385) (5,030) (3,841) (365) (50,551)
Recovery of amounts previously written
off as uncollectible 6,979 9,977 5,082 3,019 651 25,708

Provision for loan impairment at
31 December 2011 114,106 25,833 12,661 5,459 601 158,660

Loans and advances to customers written off in 2011 included loans to customers in the gross amount of
GEL 2,331 thousand issued during 2011 and GEL 48,220 thousand issued in prior years.
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Movements in the provision for loan impairment during 2010 are as follows:

In thousands of GEL

Corporate
loans

Consumer
loans

Mortgage
loans

Small and
medium

enterprises

Total

Provision for loan impairment at 1 January 2010 123,517 34,857 11,751 10,824 180,949

Provision for impairment during the year 19,331 1,758 9,768 463 31,320

Amounts written off during the year as uncollectible (38,621) (20,728) (8,635) (3,601) (71,585)
Recovery of amounts previously written off as
uncollectible 12,213 8,640 3,040 2,877 26,770

Provision for loan impairment at 31 December
2010 116,440 24,527 15,924 10,563 167,454

Loans and advances to customers written off in 2010 included loans to customers in the gross amount of
GEL 13,151 thousand issued during 2010 and GEL 58,433 thousand issued in prior years.

Economic sector risk concentrations within the customer loan portfolio are as follows:

2012 2011 2010
In thousands of GEL Amount % Amount % Amount %

Individual 868,119 34% 784,073 36% 544,374 35%
Services 426,300 17% 331,117 15% 149,431 10%
Real estate 184,946 7% 183,128 8% 120,895 8%
Oil and gas 146,600 6% 119,064 5% 108,944 7%
Consumer goods and automobile trading 134,540 5% 121,235 6% 96,537 6%
Food industry 117,511 5% 98,605 5% 99,732 6%
Construction 114,993 5% 87,768 4% 93,324 6%
Agriculture 110,866 4% 56,252 3% 7,165 1%
Energy 95,349 4% 107,322 5% 111,794 7%
Communication 91,709 4% 94,782 4% 62,499 4%
Pawn shop 86,343 3% 58,456 3% 39,530 2%
Transportation 66,699 3% 55,188 3% 15,548 1%
Manufacturing 30,073 1% 12,200 1% 10,000 1%
Mining 25,440 1% 23,794 1% 24,115 2%
Other 37,210 1% 34,421 1% 64,521 4%

Total loans and advances to customers (before
impairment) 2,536,698 100% 2,167,405 100% 1,548,409 100%

Trade and service sector contains loans disbursed to consumer service, healthcare, media and financial
service industries.

At 31 December 2012 the Group had 61 borrowers (2011: 52 borrowers; 2010: 43 borrowers) with
aggregated loan amounts above GEL 5,000 thousand. The total aggregate amount of these loans was GEL
879,619 thousand (2011: GEL 746,079 thousand; 2010: GEL 588,658 thousand) or 35% of the gross loan
portfolio (2011: 37%; 2010: 38%).
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Analysis by credit quality of loans outstanding at 31 December 2012 is as follows:

In thousands of GEL

Corporate
loans

Consum
er loans

Mortgage
loans

Small and
medium

enterprises

Micro
loans

Others Total

Current and not impaired
- Borrowers with credit history
over two years 583,682 214,312 236,243 120,317 672 4,134 1,159,360
- New borrowers 354,076 237,939 128,516 162,895 137,690 82,209 1,103,325

Total current and not
impaired 937,758 452,251 364,759 283,212 138,362 86,343 2,262,685

Past due but not impaired
- 1 to 30 days overdue 4,251 8,945 4,590 2,051 930 - 20,767
- 30 to 90 days overdue 414 4,469 3,048 430 - - 8,361
- 90 to 180 days overdue 123 27 - 10 - - 160
- 180 to 360 days overdue 6 - - - - - 6

Total past due but not
impaired 4,794 13,441 7,638 2,491 930 - 29,294

Loans individually determined to be
impaired (gross)

- not overdue 173,965 - - - - - 173,965
- 30 to 90 days overdue 13,377 - - - - - 13,377
- 90 to 180 days overdue 3,334 - - - - - 3,334
- 180 to 360 days overdue 4,115 - - - - - 4,115

Total individually impaired
loans 194,791 - - - - - 194,791

other impaired loans
- not overdue 2,811 3,177 8,407 4,904 1,753 - 21,052
- 1 to 30 days overdue 1,134 600 232 94 104 - 2,164
- 30 to 90 days overdue - 2,968 623 2,126 2,335 - 8,052
- 90 to 180 days overdue 35 6,665 2,401 510 2,447 - 12,058
- 180 – 360 days overdue 764 3,128 1,356 590 - - 5,838
- more than 360 days overdue - 474 - 290 - - 764

Total other impaired loans 4,744 17,012 13,019 8,514 6,639 - 49,928

Total loans and advances to
customers (before
impairment) 1,142,087 482,704 385,416 294,217 145,931 86,343 2,536,698

Total provision (112,975) (31,156) (13,186) (4,820) (4,361) - (166,498)

Total loans and advances to
customers 1,029,112 451,548 372,230 289,397 141,570 86,343 2,370,200
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Analysis by credit quality of loans outstanding at 31 December 2011 is as follows:

In thousands of GEL

Corporate
loans

Consume
r loans

Mortgage
loans

Small and
medium

enterprises

Micro
loans

Others Total

Current and not impaired
- Borrowers with credit history

over two years
383,614 137,038 195,279 85,932 629 - 802,492

- New borrowers 577,053 249,289 168,567 139,319 83,911 58,456 1,276,595

Total current and not
impaired 960,667 386,327 363,846 225,251 84,540 58,456 2,079,087

Past due but not impaired
- 1 to 30 days overdue 790 7,225 1,286 1,309 306 - 10,916
- 30 to 90 days overdue 12 3,517 1,055 487 72 - 5,143
- 90 to 180 days overdue - 37 - - 42 - 79
- 180 to 360 days overdue - 56 - - 51 - 107

Total past due but not
impaired 802 10,835 2,341 1,796 471 - 16,245

Loans individually determined to be
impaired (gross)

- not overdue 25,786 - - - - - 25,786
- 1 to 30 days overdue 5,586 - - - - - 5,586
- 90 to 180 days overdue 2,120 - - - - - 2,120

Total individually impaired
loans 33,492 - - - - - 33,492

other impaired loans
- not overdue 7,779 3,070 5,759 6,592 - - 23,200
- 1 to 30 days overdue - 354 317 65 - - 736
- 30 to 90 days overdue 1,109 1,355 521 118 - - 3,103
- 90 to 180 days overdue - 5,137 1,790 1,780 - - 8,707
- 180 – 360 days overdue - 1,829 434 414 - - 2,677
- more than 360 days overdue - 158 - - - - 158

Total other impaired loans 8,888 11,903 8,821 8,969 - - 38,581

Total loans and advances to
customers (before
impairment) 1,003,849 409,065 375,008 236,016 85,011 58,456 2,167,405

Total provision (114,106) (25,833) (12,661) (5,459) (601) - (158,660)

Total loans and advances to
customers 889,743 383,232 362,347 230,557 84,410 58,456 2,008,745
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Analysis by credit quality of loans outstanding at 31 December 2010 is as follows:

In thousands of GEL

Corporate
loans

Consumer
loans

Mortgage
loans

Small and
medium

enterprises

Others Total

Current and not impaired
- Borrowers with credit history over two
years

391,309 126,479 168,788 77,591 - 764,167

- New borrowers 305,640 141,677 75,456 61,015 39,530 623,318

Total current and not impaired 696,949 268,156 244,244 138,606 39,530 1,387,485

Past due but not impaired
- 1 to 30 days overdue 54 4,205 3,754 249 - 8,262
- 30 to 90 days overdue - 1,791 1,717 1,344 - 4,852

Total past due but not impaired 54 5,996 5,471 1,593 - 13,114

Loans individually determined to be impaired (gross)
- not overdue 81,824 - - - - 81,824
- 1 to 30 days overdue 12,807 - - - - 12,807
- 30 to 90 days overdue 1,538 - - - - 1,538
- 90 to 180 days overdue 2,776 - - - - 2,776
- 180 – 360 days overdue 6,395 - - - - 6,395

Total individually impaired loans 105,340 - - - - 105,340

other impaired loans
- not overdue 6,614 1,706 3,997 4,138 - 16,455
- 1 to 30 days overdue - 1,423 200 2,838 - 4,461
- 30 to 90 days overdue - 1,276 1,114 749 - 3,139
- 90 to 180 days overdue 2,413 3,785 3,101 4,748 - 14,047
- 180 – 360 days overdue 189 1,820 1,937 274 - 4,220
- more than 360 days overdue - 148 - - - 148

Total other impaired loans 9,216 10,158 10,349 12,747 - 42,470

Total loans and advances to
customers (before impairment) 811,559 284,310 260,064 152,946 39,530 1,548,409

Total provision (116,440) (24,527) (15,924) (10,563) - (167,454)

Total loans and advances to
customers 695,119 259,783 244,140 142,383 39,530 1,380,955

The Group applied the portfolio provisioning methodology prescribed by IAS 39, Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement, and created portfolio provisions for impairment losses that were incurred
but have not been specifically identified with any individual loan by the end of reporting period.

The tables above show analysis of loan portfolio based on credit quality. The Group’s policy for credit risk
management purposes is to classify each loan as ‘not impaired’ until specific objective evidence of
impairment of the loan is identified. The primary factors by which the Group considers a loan as impaired
are: overdue status of loan, financial position of a borrower and fair value of related collateral. The Group
conducts impairment analysis of each individual loan on a quarterly basis.

Past due but not impaired loans include overdue loans from ‘Standard’ and ‘Watch’ credit risk category.
Where ‘Standard’ is defined as loans extended to borrowers with good financial standing and good track
record for repayments, and ‘Watch’ is defined as adequately secured loans, for which the Bank identifies
the probability of worsening the borrowers’ financial standing.
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Loans individually determined to be impaired include all loans for which amount of IFRS impairment
provision was assessed individually and, at the same time, such loans do not fall in Standard and Watch
categories.

The overdue amounts reported throughout the table represent the total balance of loans, not only the
particular instalment (s) that is overdue.
The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty.
The main types of collateral obtained are the following:

Real estate properties,

inventory and equipment,

cash covers,

third party guarantees.

The financial effect of collateral is presented by disclosing collateral values separately for (i) those assets
where collateral and other credit enhancements are equal to or exceed carrying value of the asset (“over-
collateralised assets”) and (ii) those assets where collateral and other credit enhancements are less than
the carrying value of the asset (“under-collateralised assets”).

The effect of collateral at 31 December 2012:
Over-collateralis ed

assets
Under -collateralised

assets

In thousands of GEL
Carrying value
of the assets

Fair value of
collateral

Carrying value of
the assets

Fair value of
collateral

Corporate loans 774,701 1,873,588 367,386 203,772
Consumer loans 300,655 744,061 182,049 6,555
Mortgage loans 363,332 999,838 22,084 6,705
Loans to small and medium enterprises 271,350 789,728 22,867 6,256
Micro loans 57,368 124,177 88,563 775
Others 81,758 81,990 4,585 4,412

Total 1,849,164 4,613,382 687,534 228,475

The effect of collateral at 31 December 2011:
Over-collateralised

assets
Under -collateralised

assets

In thousands of GEL
Carrying value
of the assets

Fair value of
collateral

Carrying value of
the assets

Fair value of
collateral

Corporate loans 775,932 3,219,868 227,917 111,416
Consumer loans 217,830 608,937 191,235 4,570
Mortgage loans 358,019 929,690 16,989 5,453
Loans to small and medium enterprises 224,275 767,600 11,741 4,202
Micro loans 34,177 83,751 50,834 153
Others 58,456 58,456 - -

Total 1,668,689 5,668,302 498,716 125,794

The effect of collateral at 31 December 2010:
Over-collateralised

assets
Under -collateralised

assets

In thousands of GEL
Carrying value
of the assets

Fair value of
collateral

Carrying value of
the assets

Fair value of
collateral

Corporate loans 601,256 1,762,153 210,303 101,575
Consumer loans 169,060 482,754 115,250 5,213
Mortgage loans 245,602 689,284 14,462 8,780
Loans to small and medium enterprises 147,414 579,136 5,532 2,336
Others 39,530 39,530 - -

Total 1,202,862 3,552,857 345,547 117,904

The effect of collateral is determined by comparison of fair value of collateral to gross loans and advances
outstanding at the reporting date.
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The Group’s internal appraiser performed physical inspection of pledged real estate and estimated the fair
value of real estate at the balance sheet date using primarily market comparison method. Fair value of
inventory, equipment and other assets was determined by the Group’s credit department using the Group’s
internal guidelines.

Refer to Note 39 for the estimated fair value of each class of loans and advances to customers. Interest rate
analysis of loans and advances to customers is disclosed in Note 35. Information on related party balances
is disclosed in Note 41.

9 Investment Securities Available for Sale

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

Certificates of Deposit of National Bank of Georgia 187,551 168,537 126,148
Ministry of Finance of Georgia Treasury Bills 19,210 61,014 86,841
Georgian Government notes 196,004 32,942 -

Total debt securities 402,765 262,493 212,989

Corporate shares – unquoted 1,812 1,812 1,766
Corporate shares – quoted (VISA Inc) 3,156 2,131 1,568

Total investment securities available for sale 407,733 266,436 216,323

Management could not reliably estimate the fair value of the Group’s investment in shares of its unquoted
equity investment securities available for sale. Therefore, these investments are carried at cost of GEL
1,812 thousand (2011: GEL 1,812 thousand; 2010: GEL 1,766 thousand). The investees have not
published recent financial information about their operations, their shares are not quoted and recent trade
prices are not publicly accessible.

At 31 December 2012 investment securities available for sale carried at GEL 54,800 have been pledged to
local banks or financial institutions as collateral with respect to other borrowed funds (2011: nil; 2010: GEL
58,463 thousand). Refer to Note 23.

None of the debt securities available for sale are overdue or impaired.

The movements in investment securities available for sale are as follows:

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

Carrying amount at 1 January 266,436 216,323 3,619
Purchases 813,864 646,538 483,844
Disposals (90,857) (47,815) (38,461)
Redemption at maturity (599,913) (571,104) (236,411)
Revaluation 528 1,277 (286)
Interest income accrued (Note 30) 27,211 23,253 10,317
Interest income received (9,536) (2,036) (6,299)
Impairment - - -

Carrying amount at 31 December 407,733 266,436 216,323

At 31 December 2012 the principal equity investment securities available for sale are:

Name Nature of business Country of
registration

Carrying value
2012 2011 2010

JSC GRDC Property development Netherlands Antilles 1,502 1,502 1,502
Visa Inc. Card Processing USA 3,156 2,131 1,568
Other 310 310 264

Total 4,968 3,943 3,334
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10 Investment Securities Held to Maturity

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

Georgian Government notes - 28,956 28,986

Total investment securities held to maturity - 28,956 28,986

The movement in investment securities held to maturity is as follows:

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

Gross amount at 1 January 28,956 28,986 115,496
Additions 5,000 - 27,921
Redemption at maturity (33,000) - (115,496)
Interest income accrual (Note 30) 2,373 3,642 1,577
Interest income received (3,329) (3,672) (512)

Gross amount at 31 December - 28,956 28,986

Refer to Note 39 for the disclosure of the fair value of investment securities held to maturity. Interest rate
analysis of investment securities held to maturity is disclosed in Note 35.

11 Other Financial Assets

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

Receivable on terminated leases 4,345 4,528 5,473
Prepayments for purchase of leasing assets 6,859 5,480 1,691
Receivables on credit card services and money transfers 3,349 1,025 596
Receivables on guarantees 10,890 575 475
Other 6,743 3,697 2,692

Less: Provision for impairment (6,885) (3,966) (4,997)

Total other financial assets 25,301 11,339 5,930

Movements in the provision for impairment of other financial assets during 2012 are as follows:

In thousands of GEL

Receivables on
terminated

leases Other Total

Provision for impairment at 1 January 2012 3,966 - 3,966

Provision for impairment/(release from provision) during the year 579 3,553 4,132

Amounts written off during the year as uncollectible (658) (736) (1,394)

Recovery of amounts previously written off - 181 181

Provision for impairment at 31 December 201 2 3,887 2,998 6,885
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11 Other Financial Assets (Continued)

Movements in the provision for impairment of other financial assets during 2011 are as follows:

In thousands of GEL

Receivables on
terminated

leases Other Total

Provision for impairment at 1January 2011 4,639 358 4,997

Provision for impairment/(release from provision) during the year 755 (358) 397

Amounts written off during the year as uncollectible (1,428) - (1,428)

Provision for impairment at 31 December 2011 3,966 - 3,966

Movements in the provision for impairment of other financial assets during 2010 are as follows:

In thousands of GEL

Receivables on
terminated

leases

Receivables
on

guarantees Other Total

Provision for impairment at 1 January 2010 4,206 2,604 78 6,888

Provision for impairment during the year 433 - 280 713
Amounts written off during the year as
uncollectible - (2,604) - (2,604)

Provision for impairment at 31 December 2010 4,639 - 358 4,997

Analysis by credit quality of other financial receivables is as follows:

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

Current and not impaired

- Prepayments for purchase of leasing assets 6,859 5,480 1,691
- Receivables on credit card services and money transfers 3,349 1,025 596
- Receivables on guarantees 10.890 575 475
- Other 3,873 3,697 2,334

Total current and not impaired 24,971 10,777 5,096

Receivables individually determined to be impaired (gross)
- Receivables on terminated leases 4,345 4,528 5,473
- Other receivables 2,870 - 358

Total individually impaired (gross) 7,215 4,528 5,831

Less impairment provision (6,885) (3,966) (4,997)

Total other financial assets 25,301 11,339 5,930

Receivables on terminated leases are under-collateralised, estimated fair value of collateral on these equals
GEL 472 thousand (2011: GEL 636 thousand; 2010: GEL 921 thousand). The remaining assets are not
collateralized.
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12 Investments in Finance Lease

Investments in finance lease of GEL 26,377 thousand (2011: GEL 21,979 thousand; 2010: GEL 9,681
thousand) are represented by leases of equipment. Financial lease receivables are collateralised by leased
equipment.

Finance lease payments receivable (gross investment in the leases) and their present values are as follows:

In thousands of GEL
Due in 1 year Due between 2

and 5 years
Total

Finance lease payments receivable at 31 December 2012 18,616 15,418 34,034

Unearned finance income (4,629) (2,914) (7,543)
Impairment loss provision (71) (43) (114)

Present value of lease payments receivable at 31 December 2012 13,916 12,461 26,377

Finance lease payments receivable at 31 December 2011 14,110 15,742 29,852

Unearned finance income (4,209) (3,556) (7,765)
Impairment loss provision (61) (47) (108)

Present value of lease payments receivable at 31 December 2011 9,840 12,139 21,979

Finance lease payments receivable at 31 December 2010 7,401 5,807 13,208

Unearned finance income (1,798) (1,215) (3,013)
Impairment loss provision (307) (207) (514)

Present value of lease payments receivable at 31 December 2010 5,296 4,385 9,681

At 31 December 2012 the estimated fair value of financial lease receivables was GEL 26,377 thousand
(2011: GEL 21,979 thousand; 2010: GEL 9,681 thousand). Refer to Note 39.

Movements in the provision for impairment of net investment in finance lease are as follows:

In thousands of GEL
31 December

2012
31 December

2011
31 December

2010

Provision for impairment at the beginning of the year 108 514 929
(Recovery) / provision for impairment during the year 42 (174) 900
Amounts written off during the year as uncollectible (27) (212) (1,203)

Transfer from receivable from terminated leases (9) (20) (112)

Provision for impairment at the end of the year 114 108 514
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12 Investments in Finance Lease (Continued)

Analysis by credit quality of net investment in finance lease are as follows:

In thousands of GEL
31 December

2012
31 December

2011
31 December

2010

Current and not impaired
- Customers with more than two year experience 7,044 4,525 3,342
- New customers 15,365 16,802 2,893

Total current and not impaired 22,409 21,327 6,235

Past due but not impaired
- Less than 90 days overdue 872 719 853
- 180 days to 360 days overdue 6 41 14

Total past due but not impaired 878 760 867

Individually impaired gross 3,204 - 3,093
Total investment in finance lease - gross 26,491 22,087 10,195

Impairment loss provision (114) (108) (514)

Total net investment in finance lease 26,377 21,979 9,681

The Group applied the portfolio provisioning methodology prescribed by IAS 39, Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement, and created portfolio provisions for impairment losses that were incurred
but have not been specifically identified with any individual lease by the reporting date. The Group' s policy
is to classify each lease as “current and not impaired” until specific objective evidence of impairment of the
lease is identified. The primary factors that the Bank considers whether a lease is impaired are deterioration
of financial position of lessee, its overdue status and realisability of the leased asset.

The Group normally structures its finance lease contracts so that the lessee makes a minimum prepayment
of 20% of the equipment purchase price at the inception of the lease term. The Group holds title to the
leased assets during the lease term. The title to the asset under finance lease contract is transferred to the
lessees at the end of the contracts terms, including full repayment of lease payments. Generally the lease
terms are up to five years.

The effect of collateral at 31 December 2012:

Over-collateralised
assets

Under -collateralised
assets

In thousands of GEL
Carrying value of

the assets
Fair value of

collateral
Carrying value
of the assets

Fair value of
collateral

Investment in leases 24,670 51,590 1,821 221

Total 24,670 51,590 1,821 221

The effect of collateral at 31 December 2011:
Over-collateralised

assets
Under -collateralised

assets

In thousands of GEL
Carrying value of

the assets
Fair value of

collateral
Carrying value
of the assets

Fair value of
collateral

Investment in leases 21,023 37,949 1,064 899

Total 21,023 37,949 1,064 899
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12 Investments in Finance Lease (Continued)

The effect of collateral at 31 December 2010:

Over-collateralised
assets

Under -collateralised
assets

In thousands of GEL
Carrying value of

the assets
Fair value of

collateral
Carrying value of

the assets
Fair value of

collateral

Investment in leases 9,756 28,229 439 265

Total 9,756 28,229 439 265

13 Other Assets

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

Inventories of repossessed collateral 56,316 82,317 80,228
Prepayments for other assets 3,401 3,350 1,332
Inventories 3,383 2,293 1,646
Assets repossessed from terminated leases 1,852 867 2,071
Prepayments for construction in progress 905 2,131 396
Prepaid taxes other than income tax 528 2,193 5,758
Assets purchased for leasing purposes 413 82 1,143
Prepaid insurance of leasing assets 347 316 156
Other 209 104 407

Total other assets 67,354 93,653 93,137

Inventories of repossessed collateral represents real estate assets and equipment acquired by the Group in
settlement of overdue loans, other than those classified as investment property. The Group expects to
dispose of the assets in the foreseeable future. The assets are not classified as held for sale under IFRS 5
because the Group has yet to start to actively market them for sale. Such assets are initially recognised at
cost and subsequently measured at lower of cost and net realisable value.
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14 Premises, Equipment and Intangible Assets

In thousands of GEL

Note Premises
and

leasehold
improve-

ments

Office and
computer
equipment

Construction
in

progress

Total
premises

and
equipment

Computer
software
licences

Total

Cost or valuation at 1 January 2010 99,333 70,080 20,012 189,425 9,308 198,733
Accumulated depreciation/amortisation (8,866) (32,268) - (41,134) (4,130) (45,264)

Carrying amount at 1 January 2010 90,467 37,812 20,012 148,291 5,178 153,469

Additions 1,250 7,483 6,450 15,183 1,340 16,523
Transfers 50 - (50) - - -
Transfers to Investment Property (310) - (2,196) (2,506) - (2,506)
Reclassification to disposal group held for
sale - (475) - (475) (2,216) (2,691)
Disposals - (3,513) (157) (3,670) (48) (3,718)
Impairment charge to profit and loss - (1,434) (192) (1,626) - (1,626)
Depreciation/amortisation charge (4,034) (8,703) - (12,737) (1,164) (13,901)
Elimination of accumulated
depreciation/amortisation on disposals,
and transfers to investment property 199 1,770 - 1,969 470 2,439

Carrying amount at 31 December 2010 87,622 32,940 23,867 144,429 3,560 147,989

Cost or valuation at 31 December 2010 100,323 72,141 23,867 196,331 8,384 204,715
Accumulated depreciation/amortisation (12,701) (39,201) - (51,902) (4,824) (56,726)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2010 87,622 32,940 23,867 144,429 3,560 147,989

Additions 4,647 11,799 6,870 23,316 4,759 28,075
Transfers 9,122 631 (9,753) - - -
Transfers from Investment Property 3,188 - - 3,188 - 3,188
Disposals (786) (3,339) (1,392) (5,517) (54) (5,571)
Increase / (decrease) in value on
revaluation 1,311 - (481) 830 - 830
Acquisition of subsidiaries 5,093 1,317 671 7,081 773 7,854
Adjustment due to previous recognition of
disposal group held for sale (net of
depreciation and amortisation) - 1,299 - 1,299 2,216 3,515
Depreciation/amortisation charge (3,898) (9,587) - (13,485) (1,210) (14,695)
Elimination of accumulated
depreciation/amortisation on disposals,
transfers to investment property and
reclassification to disposal group held for
sale 250 2,488 - 2,738 20 2,758

Carrying amount at 31 December 2011 106,549 37,548 19,782 163,879 10,064 173,943

Cost or valuation at 31 December 2011 124,851 86,677 19,782 231,310 16,272 247,582
Accumulated depreciation/amortisation
including accumulated impairment loss (18,302) (49,129) - (67,431) (6208) (73,639)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2011 106,549 37,548 19,782 163,879 10,064 173,943

Additions 1,892 16,533 23,969 42,394 10,750 53,144
Transfers 15,751 309 (16,060) - - -
Transfers to Investment Property (2,418) - - (2,418) - (2,418)
Disposals (2,149) (5,478) (609) (8,236) (16) (8,252)
Transfer to Inventory - (309) - (309) - (309)
Increase / (decrease) in value on
revaluation 1,585 - 8,928 10,513 - 10,513
Impairment charge to profit and loss (769) - - (769) (1) (770)
Depreciation/amortisation charge (4,275) (15,360) - (19,635) (2,015) (21,650)
Elimination of accumulated
depreciation/amortisation on disposals,
and transfers to investment property 1,853 5,284 - 7,137 35 7,172

Carrying amount at 31 December 2012 118,019 38,527 36,010 192,556 18,817 211,373

Cost or valuation at 31 December 2012 138,744 97,732 36,010 272,486 27,005 299,491

Accumulated depreciation/amortisation
including accumulated impairment loss (20,724) (59,206) - (79,930) (8,186) (88,116)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2012 118,020 38,526 36,010 192,556 18,819 211,375
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14 Premises, Equipment and Intangible Assets (Continued)

Depreciation and amortisation charge presented on the face of the consolidated statement of total
comprehensive income include depreciation and amortisation charge of premises and equipment,
investment properties and intangible assets.

Construction in progress consists of construction and refurbishment of branch premises. Upon completion,
assets are transferred to premises.

Premises have been revalued to market value at 6 July 2012. The valuation was carried out by an
independent firm of valuers which holds a recognised and relevant professional qualification and who have
recent experience in valuation of assets of similar location and category. The basis used for the appraisal
was discounted cash flow, integrated cost estimation and sales comparison method. Fair values were
estimated using appropriate valuation techniques, depending on the degree to which the estimates met the
following characteristics: reliability and completeness of the information, specifics of the estimated property.

Management considers that the fair value has not changed significantly between 6 July and 31 December
2012.

At 31 December 2012 the carrying amount of premises would have been GEL 87,957 thousand (2011:
GEL 78,071 thousand; 2010: GEL 70,220 thousand) had the assets been carried at cost less depreciation
and impairment losses. At 31 December 2012 the carrying amount of construction in progress would have
been GEL 20,736 thousand (2011: GEL 13,278 thousand; 2010: GEL 18,001 thousand) had the assets
been carried at cost less impairment losses.

15 Investment Properties

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

Investment properties at cost as at 1 January 27,082 27,742 9,785

Transfer from property, plant and equipment 2,418 - 2,506
Repossessed assets from foreclosed loans 19,230 8,988 15,935
Transfer to finance lease - (1,805) (223)
Disposals (14,296) (4,389) -

Transfer to property, plant and equipment - (3,188) -
Elimination of depreciation on disposal 324 127 -
depreciation charge (453) (393) (261)

Investment properties as at 31 December 34,305 27,082 27,742

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other items of investment properties is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives of 30 to 50
years. Residual values of investment properties are estimated to be nil.

At 31 December 2012, investment properties comprised of 10 lots (2011: 11 lots) of land and 22 buildings
(2011: 28 buildings) located in Tbilisi and other regions of Georgia with the fair value amounting to GEL
34,928 thousand (2011: GEL 37,966 thousand; 2010: GEL 41,914 thousand). For details behind valuation
refer to note 3.
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16 Goodwill

Movements in goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries are:

In thousands of GEL Note 2012 2011 2010

Carrying amount at 1 January 2,726 1,262 1,958

Addition from acquisition of subsidiary 42 - 769 -
Transfer on de-classification of non-current assets
previously held for sale - 695 -
Transfer to non-current assets held for sale - - (696)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2,726 2,726 1,262

Goodwill Impairment Test

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (CGUs, which represent the lowest level within the Group at
which the goodwill is monitored by Management and which are not larger than a segment) as follows:

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

JSC Bank Constanta 769 769 -
JSC United Financial Corporation 695 695 -
LLC TBC Kredit 1,262 1,262 1,262

Total carrying amount of goodwill 2,726 2,726 1,262

The recoverable amount of each CGU was determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by Management covering a
five-year period.

Management determined budgeted gross margin based on past performance and its market expectations.
The weighted average growth rates used are consistent with the forecasts included in industry reports. The
discount rates used are after-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGUs.

If the revised estimated pre-tax discount rate applied to the discounted cash flows of JSC Bank Constanta
had been 10% higher than Management’s estimates, the Group would not need to reduce the carrying
value of goodwill. Recoverable amount of JSC Constanta Bank CGU exceeds its carrying amount by GEL
39,850 thousand (2011: GEL 34,711 thousand). The CGU’s carrying amount would equal its value in use at
a discount rate of 17.37% p.a. (2011: 18.06%).

If the revised estimated pre-tax discount rate applied to the discounted cash flows of JSC United Financial
Corporation had been 10% higher than Management’s estimates, the Group would not need to reduce the
carrying value of goodwill (2011: impairment of GEL 283 thousand would be recognized). Recoverable
amount of JSC United Financial Corporation CGU exceeds its carrying amount by GEL 5,774 thousand
(2011: GEL 391 thousand). The CGUs’ carrying amount would equal its value in use at a discount rate of
24.43% p.a.

If the revised estimated pre-tax discount rate applied to the discounted cash flows of LLC TBC Kredit had
been 10% higher than Management’s estimates, the Group would not need to reduce the carrying value of
goodwill (2011: reduce carrying value of goodwill by GEL 1,262 thousand and carrying value of net assets
by GEL 1,642 thousand; 2010: nil). Recoverable amount of LLC TBC Kredit CGU exceeds its carrying
amount by GEL 47,039 thousand (2011: GEL 2,671 thousand; 2010: GEL 11,291 thousand). The CGUs’
carrying amount would equal its value in use at a discount rate of 15.3% p.a. (2011: 10.25% p.a; 2010:
13.98% p.a.).
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17 Disposal Group Held for Sale

The assets and liabilities related to JSC United Financial Corporation have been presented as held for sale
following the approval of the Group’s management and shareholders on 20 December 2010 to sell
company JSC United Financial Corporation, however in 2011 the Group amended the decision to sell and
decided to retain the entity, therefore the Group discontinued classifying JSC UFC as held for sale and
reversed the pre-tax loss recognised on the re-measurement of net assets of the company to the lower of
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell in the amount of GEL 1,519 thousand.

Major classes of non-current assets classified as held for sale (or disposal groups) are as follows:

In thousands of GEL 2010

Assets of a disposal group held for sale:
Current income tax prepayment
Deferred income tax asset
Other assets
Intangible assets
Premises and equipment

53
136
235

2,216
475

Total non -current assets classified as disposal groups 3,115

Major classes of liabilities directly associated with disposal groups held for sale are as follows:

In thousands of GEL 2010

Other liabilities 300

Total liabilities directly associated with disposal groups held for sale 300

18 Due to Other Banks

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

Correspondent accounts and overnight placements of other banks 6,569 15,003 3,570
Term placements of banks and financial institutions 53,700 89,470 43,431
Short-term loans from banks 15,935 5,905 761

Total due to other banks 76,204 110,378 47,762

Refer to Note 39 for the disclosure of the fair value of the amounts due to other banks. Interest rate
analysis, liquidity analyses and geographical analyses of due to other banks are disclosed in Note 35.
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19 Customer Accounts

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

State and public organisations

- Current/settlement accounts 72,638 103,619 56,678
- Term deposits 225,926 70,887 11,618

Other legal entities

- Current/settlement accounts 635,181 506,432 347,462
- Term deposits 155,112 219,436 97,610

Individuals

- Current/demand accounts 386,737 354,582 350,228
- Term deposits 1,011,350 744,300 501,755

Total customer accounts 2,486,944 1,999,256 1,365,352

State and public organisations include government owned profit orientated businesses.

Economic sector concentrations within customer accounts are as follows:

2012 2011 2010
In thousands of GEL Amount % Amount % Amount %

Individual 1,398,087 56% 1,098,882 55% 851,983 62%
Energy 210,801 8% 76,941 4% 39,664 3%
Transportation 196,090 8% 160,488 8% 47,647 3%
Trade and Service 186,783 8% 214,031 11% 140,273 10%
Construction 115,775 5% 97,080 5% 62,453 5%
Real Estate 57,890 2% 15,025 1% 11,197 1%
Food Industry 51,161 2% 28,780 1% 24,200 2%
Consumer Goods and Automobile Trading 42,658 2% 36,649 2% 25,959 2%
Communication 19,135 1% 32,990 2% 31,356 2%
Manufacturing 18,869 1% 5,696 0% 14,135 1%
Oil and Gas 17,639 1% 8,156 0% 12,384 1%
Agriculture 11,374 0% 5,895 0% 11,530 1%
Mining 5,102 0% 11,765 1% 2,532 0%
Other 155,580 6% 206,878 10% 90,039 7%

Total customer accounts 2,486,944 100% 1,999,256 100% 1,365,352 100%

At 31 December 2012 the Group had 78 customers (2011: 64 customers; 2010: 10 customers) with
balances above GEL 3,000 thousand. The aggregate balance of these customers was GEL 758,428
thousand (2011: GEL 615,557 thousand; 2010: GEL 75,449 thousand) or 30% (2011: 31%; 2010: 9%) of
total customer accounts.

At 31 December 2012 included in customer accounts are deposits of GEL 3,572 thousand and GEL 33,135
thousand (2011: GEL 16,543 thousand and GEL 31,307 thousand; 2010: GEL 9,840 thousand and GEL
87,058 thousand) held as collateral for irrevocable commitments under letters of credit and guarantees
issued, respectively. Refer to Note 37.

Refer to Note 39 for the disclosure of the fair value of each class of customer accounts. Interest rate
analysis of customer accounts is disclosed in Note 35. Information on related party balances is disclosed in
Note 41.
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20 Provisions for Liabilities and Charges

Movements in provisions for liabilities and charges are as follows:

In thousands of GEL

Credit related
commitments and

performance
guarantees

Other Total

Carrying amount at 1 January 2010 3,789 1,500 5,289
Additions recorded in profit or loss 1,992 1,100 3,092
Amounts written off during the year - (1,500) (1,500)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2010 5,781 1,100 6,881

Additions recorded in profit or loss 1,353 200 1,553

Carrying amount at 31 December 2011 7,134 1,300 8,434

Additions less releases recorded in profit or loss 1,605 1,700 3,306
Utilisation of provision (5,565) - (5,565)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2012 3,174 3,000 6,174

Credit related commitments and performance guarantees: Provision was created against losses
incurred on financial and performance guarantees and commitments to extend credit to borrowers whose
financial conditions deteriorated.

Provisions for liabilities, charges, performance guarantees and credit related commitments are expected to
be fully utilised within twelve months after the year-end.

21 Other Financial Liabilities

Other financial liabilities comprise the following:

In thousands of GEL Note 2012 2011 2010

Derivative financial liabilities 38 7,139 5,152 300
Trade payables 5,688 2,210 1,953
Security deposits for finance lease 3,388 1,770 1,073
Debit or credit card payables 1,166 274 36
Other accrued liabilities 2,081 1,899 570

Total other financial liabilities 19,462 11,305 3,932

Refer to Note 39 for disclosure of the fair value of other financial liabilities.

22 Other Liabilities

Other liabilities comprise the following:

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

Accrued employee benefit costs 13,412 12,978 9,732
Advances received 534 1,986 215
Liabilities under customer loyalty programme 1,542 923 537
Taxes payable other than on income 1,337 468 7,661
Other 3,919 3,050 1,536

Total other liabilities 20,744 19,405 19,681

All of the above liabilities are expected to be settled less than twelve months after the year-end.
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23 Other Borrowed Funds

At 31 December 2012, other borrowed funds comprised the following:

In thousands of GEL
Outstanding amount in

original currency
Outstanding

amount in GEL

GEL USD EUR

Foreign banks and International financial institutions 28,961 271,826 256 479,854
Local banks and financial institutions 52,707 6,574 - 63,599
Other financial institutions - 596 2,968 7,466

Total 81,668 278,996 3,224 550,919

At 31 December 2011, other borrowed funds comprised the following:

In thousands of GEL
Outstanding amount in

original currency
Outstanding

amount in GEL

GEL USD EUR

Foreign banks and International financial institutions 18,186 292,860 2,617 513,006
Other financial institutions - 743 1,631 4,766

Total 18,186 293,603 4,248 517,772

At 31 December 2010, other borrowed funds comprised the following:

In thousands of GEL
Outstanding amount in

original currency
Outstanding

amount in GEL

GEL USD EUR

Foreign banks and International financial institutions 4,398 123,390 18 223,186
Local banks and financial institutions 55,011 - - 55,011
Other financial institutions - 891 480 2,709

Total 59,409 124,281 498 280,906

Refer to Note 39 for the disclosure of the fair value of other borrowed funds. Interest rate analysis of other
borrowed funds is disclosed in Note 35. Information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 41.
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24 Subordinated Debt

At 31 December 2012, subordinated debt comprised:

In thousands of GEL Grant Date
Maturity

Date

Outstanding
amount in

original
currency USD

Outstanding
amount in

GEL

International Financial Corporation 23-Apr-09 12-Nov-18 18,481 30,617
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development 23-Apr-09 12-Nov-18 18,413 30,505
Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij Voor
Ontwikkelingslanden N.V. 13-Dec-12 15-Apr-22 15,210 25,198
Deutsche Investitions und Entwicklungsgesellschaft MBH 19-Feb-08 15-Jun-18 10,353 17,152
Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij Voor
Ontwikkelingslanden N.V. 23-Apr-09 12-Nov-18 7,007 11,608

Total subordinated debt 69,464 115,080

At 31 December 2011, subordinated debt comprised:

In thousands of GEL Grant Date
Maturity

Date

Outstanding
amount in

original
currency USD

Outstanding
amount in

GEL

Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij Voor
Ontwikkelingslanden N.V. 30-May-07 15-Apr-14 20,219 33,771
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development 23-Apr-09 12-Nov-18 18,682 31,205
International Financial Corporation 23-Apr-09 12-Nov-18 18,632 31,120
Deutsche Investitions und Entwicklungsgesellschaft MBH 24-Feb-06 15-Feb-12 10,486 17,514
Deutsche Investitions und Entwicklungsgesellschaft MBH 19-Feb-08 15-Jun-18 10,237 17,099
Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij Voor
Ontwikkelingslanden N.V. 23-Apr-09 12-Nov-18 7,047 11,771

Total subordinated debt 85,303 142,480
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24 Subordinated debt (Continued)

At 31 December 2010, subordinated debt comprised:

In thousands of GEL Grant Date
Maturity

Date

Outstanding
amount in

original
currency USD

Outstanding
amount in

GEL

Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij Voor
Ontwikkelingslanden N.V. 30-May-07 15-Apr-14 20,191 35,795
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development 23-Apr-09 12-Nov-18 18,611 32,993
International Financial Corporation 23-Apr-09 12-Nov-18 18,570 32,920
Deutsche Investitions und Entwicklungsgesellschaft MBH 24-Feb-06 15-Feb-12 10,534 18,675
Deutsche Investitions und Entwicklungsgesellschaft MBH 19-Feb-08 15-Jun-18 10,348 18,345
Nederlandse Financierings-Maatschappij Voor
Ontwikkelingslanden N.V. 23-Apr-09 12-Nov-18 7,042 12,484
International Financial Corporation 16-Dec-04 15-Dec-11 4,055 7,189

Total subordinated debt 89,351 158,401

The debt ranks after all other creditors in case of liquidation.

Refer to Note 39 for the disclosure of the fair value of subordinated debt. Information on related party
balances is disclosed in Note 41.

25 Share Capital

In thousands of GEL except for number of
shares

Number of
outstanding

shares

Share
capital

Share
premium

Treasury
shares

Total

At 1 January 2010 150,000 15,000 201,723 - 216,723
New shares issued 1,131 113 - - 113

At 31 December 2010 151,131 15,113 201,723 - 216,836
New shares issued 579 58 1,585 - 1,643

At 31 December 2011 151,710 15,171 203,308 - 218,479
New shares issued 9,718 972 28,219 - 29,191
Treasury shares purchased (9) - (26) (1) (26)

At 31 December 2012 161,419 16,143 231,501 (1) 247,644

The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 161,419 shares (2011: 151,710 shares; 2010: 151,131
shares). All issued ordinary shares are fully paid.

All ordinary shares have a nominal value of GEL 100 per share (2011: GEL 100 per share; 2010: GEL 100
per share) and rank equally. Each share, except the shares granted under share based payment scheme,
carries one vote. Share premium represents the excess of contributions received over the nominal value of
shares issued.

At the reporting date the entity also has 1,157 shares reserved for issuance under share based payment
arrangement (2011: 2,718; 2010: nil). For share based payments refer to Note 26.

The Bank has not issued any dividends as at 31 December 2012 (2011: GEL 82.7 per share; 2010: nil).
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26 Share Based Payments

In November 2005, the Supervisory Board of the Group resolved to award 2,834 options to purchase the
Bank’s ordinary shares to the Bank's top management. Each share option converts into one ordinary share
of JSC TBC Bank on exercise at the nominal value of GEL 100 each. The options carry neither rights to
dividends nor voting rights. Share options are subject to 5 year vesting period. The fair value of the share
options as at the grant date was estimated at GEL 2,420 per share option. The valuation was carried out by
the Bank’s internal valuator. Management expensed granted share options over the vesting period within
staff costs. The options were fully exercised as at 31 December 2010.

In May 2011, Supervisory Board of the bank approved a new Senior Management Bonus scheme for the
years 2010 - 2012 and the Shareholders authorised 3,300 new shares in accordance with the scheme.

According to the scheme, each year, subject to defined performance and service conditions, certain number
of the shares are awarded to the top management of the Bank and some of the middle managers. The
shares are eligible to dividends but do not have voting rights. The shares cannot be sold or transferred to a
third parties before 2014, however, the right to sell the shares will be granted and they will become voting
shares before 2014 if:

The Bank is listed on a stock exchange; or

There is any other type of qualified sale of the Bank.

The Bank estimates that the fair value of the shares as at the grant date was GEL 2,837 per share. The
valuation was carried out by an external valuator.

In GEL except for number of share options 2012 2011 2010

Cumulative number of options outstanding as at the beginning of the
year 2,179 - 1,133
Number of options granted during the year 542 2,758 -
Number of options exercised (1,564) (579) (1,133)
Cumulative number of options outstanding at the end of the year 1,157 2,179 -

Value at grant date per share option (GEL) 2,837 2,837 2,420

Expense recognised as staff cost during the year (GEL thousand) 3,376 8,122 -

Increase in equity on granted but unexercised shares resulting from the scheme enacted in May 2011 is
accounted for under share based payment reserve which is equal to cumulative number of options
outstanding at the end of the year multiplied by value as at grant date.
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27 Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to owners of the Bank by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

In thousands of GEL except for number of shares Note 2012 2011 2010

Profit for the period attributable to the owners of the Bank 96,519 90,898 49,374

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 25 153,169 151,343 150,094

Basic earnings per ordinary share attributable to the
owners of the Bank (expressed in GEL per share) 630.1 600.6 329.0

Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to owners of the Bank by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares
during the period:

In thousands of GEL except for number of shares 2012 2011 2010

Profit for the period attributable to the owners of the Bank 96,519 90,898 49,374

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue adjusted for the
effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares during the period 153,169 151,886 152,815

Diluted earnings per ordinary share attributable to the owners of
the Bank (expressed in GEL per share) 630.1 598.5 323.1

127



128

TBC Bank Group
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements – 31 December 2012

28 Segment Analysis

The chief operating decision maker which is The Board of Directors reviews the Group’s internal reporting in
order to assess performance and allocate resources. The operating segments have been determined based
on these reports as follows:

Retail – all retail customers of the Group.

Corporate – customers as legal entities which have annual revenues of GEL 8 million or more or
have been granted a loan of USD 1,500,000 or more. However a few other legal entity customers
which have attractive potential for the Bank might also be assigned status of corporate customer.

SME – legal entity customers that are not included either in the Micro or Corporate segment. The
vast majority of such customers have been granted loans between USD 1,500,000 and USD 150,000
or have annual revenue of less than GEL 8 million.

Micro - customers of Bank Constanta, that do not fall in the above categories and have been granted
loans of USD 150,000 or less.

The Board of Directors assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of
adjusted profit before income tax. This measurement basis excludes the effects of certain expenses from
the operating segments as disclosed in the relevant reconciliation below. Other information provided to The
Board of Directors is measured in a manner consistent with that in these consolidated financial statements,
except for the items presented in the relevant reconciliation below. The reconciling items are managed at
the Group level and are not allocated to the segments for management and/or reporting purposes.

The reportable segments are the same as the operating segments.

The vast majority of the entity’s revenues are attributable to Georgia. A geographic analysis of origination of
the Group’s assets and liabilities is given in note 35.

Segment information for the reportable segments of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2012,
2011 and 2010 is set out below:

In thousands of GEL Retail Corporate SME Micro Total

31 December 201 2

External revenues:
- Interest income on loans and advances to

customers
189,942 148,720 38,486 37,101 414,249

- Fee and commission income 33,860 15,333 7,442 1,505 58,140
- Gains less losses from trading in foreign

currencies
6,858 15,580 8,242 875 31,555

Revenue from external customers 230,660 179,633 54,170 39,481 503,944

External Expenses:
- Interest expense on customer accounts 93,854 55,560 7,026 194 156,634
- Fee and commission expense 13,459 438 713 427 15,037
- Provision for loan impairment 16,298 1,190 1,198 4,468 23,154
- Provision for liabilities and charges (1) 2,045 (438) - 1,606

Expenses from external customers 123,610 59,233 8,499 5,089 196,431
Adjusted profit before non -segmental income,
administrative and other expense and income
tax 107,050 120,400 45,671 34,392 307,513

31 December 201 2

Total gross loans and advances to customers
reported 954,463 1,142,087 294,217 145,931 2,536,698
Total customer accounts reported 1,398,087 800,346 285,219 3,292 2,486,944
Total guarantees issued 253 249,194 23,677 - 273,124
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28 Segment Analysis (Continued)

In thousands of GEL Retail Corporate SME Micro Total

31 December 2011

External revenues:
- Interest income on loans and advances to

customers
153,103 125,345 30,387 14,671 323,506

- Fee and commission income 24,777 12,249 5,934 842 43,802
- Gains less losses from trading in foreign

currencies
6,765 12,478 6,176 - 25,419

Revenue from external customers 184,645 150,072 42,497 15,513 392,727

External Expenses:
- Interest expense on customer accounts 68,713 32,882 3,566 226 105,387
- Fee and commission expense 10,729 382 467 146 11,724
- Provision for loan impairment (601) 20,617 (4,282) 315 16,049
- Provision for liabilities and charges 9 1200 144 - 1,353

Expenses from external customers 78,850 55,081 (105) 687 134,513
Adjusted profit before non -segmental income,
administrative and other expense and income
tax 105,795 94,991 42,602 14,826 258,214

31 December 2011

Total gross loans and advances to customers
reported 842,529 1,003,849 236,016 85,011 2,167,405
Total customer accounts reported 1,098,882 699,590 199,677 1,107 1,999,256
Total guarantees issued 2,063 285,957 34,243 - 322,263

In thousands of GELs Retail Corporate SME Total

31 December 2010

External revenues:
- Interest income on loans and advances to customers 122,128 99,399 25,847 247,374
- Fee and commission income 15,934 10,008 4,717 30,659
- Gains less losses from trading in foreign currencies 7,460 9,991 5,352 22,803

Revenue from external customers 145,522 119,398 35,916 300,836

External Expenses:
- Interest expense on customer accounts 60,592 14,891 2,054 77,537
- Fee and commission expense 6,967 2,988 546 10,501
- Provision for loan impairment 11,526 19,331 463 31,320
- Provision for liabilities and charges 3 1,779 210 1,992

Expenses from external customers 79,088 38,989 3,273 121,350
Adjusted profit before non -segmental income,
administrative and other expense and income tax 66,434 80,409 32,643 179,486

31 December 2010

Total gross loans and advances to customers reported 583,904 811,559 152,946 1,548,409
Total customer accounts reported 851,983 377,085 136,284 1,365,352
Total guarantees issued 241 130,309 15,327 145,877
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28 Segment Analysis (Continued)

A reconciliation of adjusted profit before non-segmental income, administrative and other expenses and
income tax is provided as follows:

In thousands of GEL
31 December

2012
31 December

2011
31 December

2010

Adjusted profit before non -segmental income,
administrative and other expense and income tax 307,513 258,214 179,486
Non-segmental interest income 42,296 36,709 24,431
Non-segmental interest expense (61,261) (45,747) (31,454)
Non-segmental net fee and commission expense (3,793) (3,370) (1,104)
Non-segmental gains less losses from trading in foreign
currencies (6,315) - -
Non-segmental (provision for) / recovery of liabilities and
charges (1,700) (200) (1,100)
Net losses from derivative financial instruments (3,804) (4,987) (300)
Foreign exchange translation gains less losses / (losses less
gains) 7,617 394 (664)
Recovery of impairment / (impairment) of investment securities
available for sale (10) 116 (173)
(Losses) / Gains from disposal of investment securities available
for sale - - (166)
Recovery of impairment of investments in finance lease (42) 174 (900)
(Provision for) / recovery of impairment of other financial assets (4,132) (397) (713)
Recovery of impairment / (impairment) for assets classified as
held for sale - 1,519 (1,519)
Other operating income 19,772 9,923 8,972
Staff costs (92,289) (78,426) (57,146)
Depreciation and amortisation (22,103) (15,088) (14,162)
Administrative and other operating expenses (69,440) (51,744) (47,276)

Profit before tax 112,309 107,090 56,212

Reportable segments’ assets are reconciled to total assets as follows:

In thousands of GEL
31 December

2012
31 December

2011
31 December

2010

Total segment assets (loans and advances to customers) 2,370,200 2,008,745 1,380,955
Cash and cash equivalents 398,587 374,153 275,425
Due from other banks 345,603 291,009 74,736
Investment securities available for sale 407,733 266,436 216,323
Current income tax prepayment 10,135 - 2,500
Investment securities held to maturity - 28,956 28,986
Other financial assets 25,301 11,339 5,930
Investments in finance leases 26,377 21,979 9,681
Other assets 67,354 93,653 93,137
Premises and equipment 192,556 163,879 144,429
Intangible assets 18,817 10,064 3,560
Investment properties 34,305 27,082 27,742
Goodwill 2,726 2,726 1,262
Assets of disposal group classified as held for sale - - 3,115

Total assets per statement of financial position 3,899,694 3,300,021 2,267,781
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28 Segment Analysis (Continued)

Reportable segments’ liabilities are reconciled to liabilities assets as follows:

In thousands of GEL
31 December

2012
31 December

2011
31 December

2010

Total segment liabilities (customer accounts) 2,486,944 1,999,256 1,365,352
Due to other banks 76,204 110,378 47,762
Other borrowed funds 550,919 517,772 280,906
Current income tax liability - 14,162 -
Deferred income tax liability 20,143 8,048 7,294
Provisions for liabilities and charges 6,174 8,434 6,881
Other financial liabilities 19,462 11,305 3,932
Other liabilities 20,744 19,405 19,681
Subordinated debt 115,080 142,480 158,401
Liabilities of disposal group classified as held for sale - - 300

Total liabilities per statement of financial position 3,295,670 2,831,240 1,890,509

29 Other Reserves

Revaluation reserve for Cumulative
currency

translation
reserve

Total
other

reserves

In thousands of GEL

Premises Available for

sale
securities

At 1 January 2010 29,013 1,578 2,215 32,806
Fair value of investments available for sale - (286) - (286)
Realised revaluation reserve (2,129) - - (2,129)
Currency translation - - 1,062 1,062
Income tax effects 319 41 - 360

At 31 December 2010 27,203 1,333 3,277 31,813
Fair value of investments available for sale - 1,277 - 1,277
Revaluation reserve 1,311 - - 1,311
Currency translation - - (904) (904)
Income tax effects (245) (90) - (335)

At 31 December 2011 28,269 2,520 2,373 33,162
Fair value of investments available for sale - 682 - 682
Revaluation reserve 10,513 - - 10,513
Transfer of revaluation surplus on premises to retained
earnings (527) - - (527)
Currency translation - - (217) (217)
Income tax effects (1,520) (154) - (1,674)

At 31 December 2012 36,735 3,048 2,156 41,939

Revaluation reserve for available for sale securities is transferred to profit or loss when realised through
sale or impairment. Revaluation reserve for premises and equipment is transferred to retained earnings
when realised through sale or other disposal.
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30 Interest Income and Expense

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

Interest income
Loans and advances to customers 414,249 323,506 247,289
Investment securities available for sale (Note 9) 27,211 23,253 10,317
Due from other banks 6,960 6,113 8,766
Investment securities held to maturity (Note 10) 2,373 3,642 1,577
Investments in leases 5,734 3,438 3,856
Other 18 263 -

Total interest income 456,545 360,215 271,805

Interest expense
Customer accounts 156,634 105,387 77,537
Other borrowed funds 42,551 28,181 14,117
Subordinated debt 13,226 14,497 15,437
Due to other banks 5,395 3,031 1,812
Other 89 38 88

Total interest expense 217,895 151,134 108,991

Net interest income 238,650 209,081 162,814
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31 Fee and Commission Income and Expense

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

Fee and commission income
Fee and commission income in respect of financial instruments not
at fair value through profit or loss:
- Card operations 26,844 19,337 11,436
- Guarantees issued 9,530 8,167 6,647
- Settlement transactions 10,006 7,638 6,162
- Cash transactions 4,092 4,111 3,916
- Foreign exchange operations 1,632 1,296 1,098
- Issuance of letters of credit 2,762 1,056 282
- Other 3,274 2,197 1,118

Total fee and commission income 58,140 43,802 30,659

Fee and commission expense
Fee and commission expense in respect of financial instruments not
at fair value through profit or loss:
- Card operations 9,657 6,500 3,671
- Guarantees received 3,625 4,752 4,682
- Settlement transactions 1,501 1,477 916
- Cash transactions 1,084 521 244
- Foreign exchange operations 62 28 67
- Other 2,901 1,816 2,025

Total fee and commission expense 18,830 15,094 11,605

Net fee and commission income 39,310 28,708 19,054

32 Other Operating Income

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

Gain from sale of inventories of repossessed collateral 6,836 - -
Revenues from sales of pay-box terminals 5,154 3,094 1,722
Revenues from operational leasing 3,292 2,876 1,804
Administrative fee income from international financial institutions 1,163 799 1,040
Revenues from non-credit related fines 434 1,610 461
Net gain on terminated finance lease contracts 108 218 815
Gain on disposal of premises and equipment - 688 -
Fee income for temporary retention of repossessed collateral - - 1,887
Other 2,785 638 1,243

Total other operating income 19,772 9,923 8,972

Revenues from card processing operations and revenues from banking system services are included in
section other of other operating income.
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33 Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

In thousands of GEL Note 2012 2011 2010

Advertising and marketing services 15,183 10,014 4,794
Occupancy and rent 10,295 8,429 6,810
Professional services 10,054 7,932 6,352
Communications and supply 3,199 2,566 2,371
Taxes other than on income 3,363 2,435 1,519
Utility services 3,036 2,381 2,011
Stationery and other office expenses 2,958 1,790 1,056
Intangible asset maintenance 2,605 1,590 843
Premises and equipment maintenance 1,904 971 1,759
Transportation and vehicle maintenance 1,687 1,518 1,008
Loss on disposal of premises and equipment 1,658 - 1,256
Security services 1,522 1,327 858
Insurance 1,440 1,366 1,400
Write-down of current assets to fair value less costs to sell 1,317 1,281 9,394
Business trip expenses 1,104 753 423
Charity 911 982 694
Personal training and recruitment 574 722 209
Other 6,630 5,687 4,519

Total administrative and other operating expenses 69,440 51,744 47,276

34 Income Taxes

Income tax expense comprises the following:

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

Current tax charge 4,077 14,904 628
Deferred tax charge 10,421 561 6,149

Income tax expense for the year 14,498 15,465 6,777

The income tax rate applicable to the majority of the Group’s income is 15% (2011: 15%; 2010: 15%). The
income tax rate applicable to the majority of subsidiaries income ranges from 15% to 20% (2011: 15% -
20%; 2010: 15% - 20%).

Reconciliation between the expected and the actual taxation charge is provided below.

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

Profit before tax from continuing operations 112,309 107,090 56,212

Theoretical tax charge at statutory rate (2012: 15%; 2011: 15%; 2010: 15%) 16,846 16,064 8,432

Tax effect of items which are not deductible or assessable for taxation purposes:
- Income which is exempt from taxation (4,756) (4,012) (1,995)
- Non deductible expenses and other differences 2,408 3,413 340

Income tax expense for the year 14,498 15,465 6,777
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34 Income Taxes (Continued)

Differences between IFRS and statutory taxation regulations in Georgia and Azerbaijan give rise to
temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes
and their tax bases. The tax effect of the movements in these temporary differences is detailed below and is
recorded at the rate of 15% (2011: 15%; 2010: 15%) for Georgia and 20% for Azerbaijan (2011: 20%; 2010:
20%).

In thousands of GEL

31 December
2011

(Charged)/
credited to

profit or loss

Charged directly to
other

comprehensive
income

31 December
2012

Tax effect of deductible/(taxable)
temporary differences and tax loss carry
forwards
Premises and equipment (13,790) (1,651) (1,520) (16,961)
Loan impairment provision 9,752 (10,586) (834)
Fair valuation of investment securities
available for sale (407) 88 (154) (473)
Tax loss carry forwards 198 480 678
Other financial asstes - 1,320 1,320
Other assets (276) 1,141 865
Investment in leases 3 (200) (197)
Investment property (2,382) (194) (2,576)
Other liabilities (1,146) (819) (1,965)

Net deferred tax asset/(liability) (8,048) (10,421) (1,674) (20,143)

In thousands of GEL

31 December
2010

(Charged)/
credited to

profit or loss

Charged directly to
other

comprehensive
income

31 December
2011

Tax effect of deductible/(taxable)
temporary differences and tax loss carry
forwards
Premises and equipment (17,180) 3,635 (245) (13,790)
Loan impairment provision 5,741 4,011 - 9,752
Fair valuation of investment securities
available for sale (235) (82) (90) (407)
Tax loss carry forwards 5,212 (5,014) - 198
Other assets 1,674 (1,950) - (276)
Investment in leases 64 (61) - 3
Investment property (2,610) 228 - (2,382)
Other liabilities 176 (1,322) - (1,146)

Net deferred tax asset/(liability) (7,158) (561) (335) (8,048)
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34 Income Taxes (Continued)

In thousands of GEL

31 December
2009

(Charged)/
credited to

profit or loss

Credited to other
comprehensive

income or directly
into equity

31 December
2010

Tax effect of deductible/(taxable)
temporary differences and tax loss carry
forwards
Premises and equipment (18,226) 727 319 (17,180)
Loan impairment provision 4,936 805 - 5,741
Fair valuation of investment securities
available for sale (276) - 41 (235)
Tax loss carry forwards 12,892 (7,680) - 5,212
Other assets 131 1,543 - 1,674
Investment in leases 78 (14) - 64
Investment property (614) (1,996) - (2,610)
Other liabilities (290) 466 - 176

Net deferred tax asset/(liability) (1,369) (6,149) 360 (7,158)

In the context of the Group’s current structure and Georgian tax legislation, tax losses and current tax
assets of different group companies may not be offset against current tax liabilities and taxable profits of
other group companies and, accordingly, taxes may accrue even where there is a consolidated tax loss.
Therefore, deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when they relate to the same taxable entity and
the same taxation authority.

Difference between deferred tax liabilities as at 31 December 2010 presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position as and above reconciliation is due to deferred tax asset of the disposal group classified
as held for sale amounting to GEL 136 thousand (note 17).
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35 Financial and Other Risk Management

The risk management function within the Group is carried out in respect of the following risks: credit,
geographical, market which includes principally currency and interest rate risks, liquidity, operational and
legal risks as well as insurance risk arising on performance guarantees issued. The primary objectives of
the risk management function are to (i) Contribute to the development of the Group’s business strategy by
ensuring risk adjusted profitability and (ii) Guarantee the Group’s sustainable development through the
implementation of an efficient systems for the risk analysis, measurement and monitoring.

In order to ensure effective risk management structure, the Bank has introduced Supervisory Board level
Risk, Ethics and Compliance committee. The decision was made in accordance with best practices and
Basel II requirements. Primary responsibility of this committee will be to: Review, assess, and recommend
any actions to be taken by the Supervisory Board regarding the Bank’s risk management strategy, risk
appetite and tolerance, as well as risk management system and risk policies. This includes credit, market,
liquidity, operational, compliance, reputational, and other risks of the Bank. The committee also reviews and
approves large exposures to customers. Other main responsibilities of the Committee are to commit the
Bank to the highest standards of ethical behaviour and to oversee the compliance function of the Bank.

The committee members are IFI representatives on the Supervisory Board.

Credit risk. The Bank is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay
amounts in full when due. The Bank’s exposure to credit risk arises as a result of its lending operations and
other transactions with counterparties giving rise to financial assets or issuing guarantees.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is reflected in the carrying amounts of financial assets on the
consolidated statement of financial position as well as for financial and performance guarantees and
commitments to extend credit, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the amount of the commitment. Refer
to Note 37.

The subcategories of credit risk are: counterparty credit risk (default risk), concentration risk (large
exposures, industry concentration and indirect concentration risks arising from credit risk mitigation
techniques) and currency induced credit risks.

For efficiently management of credit risk the adequate policies, and procedures are in place. The credit
policies establish framework for lending decisions reflecting the Bank’s tolerance for credit risk.

The credit risks are managed at the transaction and portfolio level. At the transaction level credit risk
management includes: credit applications review, credit application rating and pricing review, approval of
credits and monitoring. As for the Portfolio level – credit risk management includes: definition of the risk
appetite, credit portfolio analysis, industry analysis and development of credit policies and instructions.

Loan Approval Committees are responsible to review credit applications and approve credit products. There
are three different Loan Approval Committees that within the established loan approval limits, review and
approve corporate, SME and retail loans. All of them are centralized at the Bank’s Head Office. Loan
Approval Committee consists of at least two persons with sufficient credit experience, votes in relation to
the approval of a loan are divided equally between Sales and Risk Management Departments, Corporate
Loans are in addition reviewed by the Credit Risk Management Department prior to presentation to Loan
Approval Committee.

The Group has established portfolio monitoring systems in order to manage its credit exposure effectively.
Reports are generated on a daily, weekly, monthly and quarterly basis in order to monitor the dynamics of
loan portfolio of the Bank’s business segments.

The Credit Risk Management Department analyses trends of the portfolio on a monthly basis, including total
credit portfolio exposure, concentrations, maturities, volumes and performance of non-performing loans,
write-offs and recoveries, and presents its findings to the Management Board. Furthermore, reports relating
to the credit quality of the credit portfolio are presented to the Supervisory Board on a quarterly basis. The
Group’s credit risk management department reviews ageing analysis of outstanding loans and follows up
past due balances. Management therefore considers it to be appropriate to provide ageing and other
information about credit risk as disclosed in Note 8.

Credit risk for off-balance sheet financial instruments is defined as the possibility of sustaining a loss as a
result of another party to a financial instrument failing to perform in accordance with the terms of the
contract. The Group uses the same credit policies in making conditional obligations as it does for on-
balance sheet financial instruments through established credit approvals, risk control limits and monitoring
procedures.
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Management monitors and discloses concentrations of credit risk by obtaining reports listing exposures to
borrowers with aggregated loan balances in excess of 10% of net assets.

Geographical risk concentrations. Assets, liabilities, credit related commitments and performance
guarantees have generally been based on the country in which the counterparty is located. Balances with
Georgian counterparties actually outstanding to/from off-shore companies of these Georgian counterparties
are allocated to the caption “Georgia”. Cash on hand and premises and equipment have been allocated
based on the country in which they are physically held.

The geographical concentration of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities at 31 December 2012 is set
out below:

In thousands of GEL Georgia OECD Non-OECD Total

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 216,913 160,598 21,076 398,587
Due from other banks 344,225 1,378 - 345,603
Loans and advances to customers 2,273,550 36,917 59,733 2,370,200
Investment securities available for sale 404,577 3,156 - 407,733
Investments in leases 26,377 - - 26,377
Other financial assets 25,262 39 - 25,301

Total financial assets 3,290,904 202,088 80,809 3,573,801

Non-financial assets 324,112 52 1,729 325,893

Total assets 3,615,016 202,140 82,538 3,899,694

Liabilities
Due to other banks 57,636 - 18,568 76,204
Customer accounts 2,245,785 239,433 1,726 2,486,944
Other borrowed funds 70,974 445,140 34,805 550,919
Other financial liabilities 18,679 297 486 19,462
Subordinated debt - 115,080 - 115,080

Total financial liabilities 2,393,074 799,950 55,585 3,248,609

Non-financial liabilities 45,666 112 1,283 47,061

Total liabilities 2,438,740 800,062 56,868 3,295,670

Net balance sheet position 1,176,276 (597,922) 25,670 604,022

Credit related commitments and performance
guarantees 538,237 - - 538,237
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The geographical concentration of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities at 31 December 2011 is set
out below:

In thousands of GEL Georgia OECD Non-OECD Total

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 246,023 123,054 5,076 374,153
Due from other banks 290,074 935 - 291,009
Loans and advances to customers 1,963,564 - 45,181 2,008,745
Investment securities available for sale 264,305 2,131 - 266,436
Investment securities held to maturity 28,956 - - 28,956
Investments in leases 21,979 - - 21,979
Other financial assets 11,339 - - 11,339

Total financial assets 2,826,240 126,120 50,257 3,002,617

Non-financial assets 296,310 36 1,058 297,404

Total assets 3,122,550 126,156 51,315 3,300,021

Liabilities
Due to other banks 85,698 - 24,680 110,378
Customer accounts 1,916,520 82,654 82 1,999,256
Other borrowed funds 17,973 469,074 30,725 517,772
Other financial liabilities 5,603 5,420 282 11,305
Subordinated debt - 142,480 - 142,480

Total financial liabilities 2,025,794 699,628 55,769 2,781,191

Non-financial liabilities 49,502 7 540 50,049

Total liabilities 2,075,296 699,635 56,309 2,831,240

Net balance sheet position 1,047,254 (573,479) (4,994) 469,738

Credit related commitments and performance
guarantees 580,274 - - 580,274
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The geographical concentration of the Group’s assets and liabilities at 31 December 2010 is set out below:

In thousands of GEL Georgia OECD Non-OECD Total

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 147,513 119,941 7,971 275,425
Due from other banks 59,471 1,153 14,112 74,736
Loans and advances to customers 1,347,189 - 33,766 1,380,955
Investment securities available for sale 214,755 1,568 - 216,323
Investment securities held to maturity 28,986 - - 28,986
Investments in leases 9,681 - - 9,681
Other financial assets 5,930 - - 5,930

Total financial assets 1,813,525 122,662 55,849 1,992,036

Non-financial assets 275,745 - - 275,745

Total assets 2,089,270 122,662 55,849 2,267,781

Liabilities
Due to other banks 45,410 - 2,352 47,762
Customer accounts 1,365,352 - - 1,365,352
Other borrowed funds 57,607 221,045 2,254 280,906
Other financial liabilities 3,932 - - 3,932
Subordinated debt - 158,401 - 158,401

Total financial liabilities 1,472,301 379,446 4,606 1,856,353

Non-financial liabilities 34,156 - - 34,156

Total liabilities 1,506,457 379,446 4,606 1,890,509

Net balance sheet position 582,813 (256,784) 51,243 377,272

Credit related commitments and performance
guarantees 257,802 - - 257,802

Market risk. The Group takes on exposure to market risks. Market risks principally arise from open
positions in (a) currency, and (b) interest rate, both of which are exposed to general and specific market
movements. Management sets limits on the value of risk that may be accepted, which is monitored on a
daily basis.

Currency risk. Currency risk arises from the potential change in foreign currency exchange rates, which
can affect the value of a financial instrument. This risk stems from the open currency positions created due
to mismatches in foreign currency assets and liabilities. At the bank standalone level, the NBG requires the
Bank to monitor both balance-sheet and total aggregate (including off-balance sheet) open currency
positions and to maintain such positions within 20% of the Bank’s regulatory capital. As at 31 December
2012, the Bank maintained a balance sheet open foreign currency position of 5.7% of regulatory capital
(2011: 0.03%; 2010: 3.98%) and an aggregate open currency position of 4.3% of regulatory capital (2011:
negative1.65%; 2010: 3.95%). The ALCO has set limits on the level of exposure by currency as well as on
aggregate exposure for both overnight and intra-day positions which are more conservative than those set
by the NBG. The Bank’s compliance with such limits is monitored daily by the heads of the Treasury and
Financial Risk Management Departments.

In order to further increase effectiveness of currency risk management the Bank has updated currency risk
management policy and introduced relevant methodologies as well as effective limit management system.
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The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at the balance
sheet date:

At 31 December 201 2

In thousands of GEL

Monetary
financial
assets

Monetary
financial
liabilities

Deri -
vatives

Net
balance

sheet
position

Georgian Lari 1,088,687 809,165 8,407 287,929
US Dollars 2,153,303 2,133,821 (3,294) 16,188
Euros 277,692 272,759 (4,802) 131
Other 54,119 32,864 - 21,255

Total 3,573,801 3,248,609 311 325,503

At 31 December 201 1 At 31 December 20 10

In thousands of
GEL

Monetary
financial
assets

Monetary
financial
liabilities

Deri -
vatives

Net
balance

sheet
position

Monetary
financial
assets

Monetary
financial
liabilities

Deri -
vatives

Net
balance

sheet
position

Georgian Lari 829,932 616,346 8,407 221,992 564,048 467,570 364 96,842
US Dollars 1,861,326 1,826,247 (53,967) (18,888) 1,214,034 1,187,328 (664) 26,042
Euros 244,902 258,868 13,617 (349) 186,447 186,821 - (374)
Other 66,457 79,730 32,109 18,836 27,507 14,634 - 12,873

Total 3,002,617 2,781,191 166 221,591 1,992,036 1,856,353 (300) 135,383

The above provided quantitative disclosure of the Group’s currency risk is based on information provided
internally to the management. For analyses of currency risk management assumes that provision for
impairment of loans and advances to customers is assumed to be entirely attributable to loans and
advances to customers denominated in GEL.

To assess the Group’s currency risk, a Value at Risk (VaR) analysis is performed on a monthly basis at
99.9% Confidence Interval. The holding period is determined to be one month and the look-back period is
three years. As at 31 December 2012 VAR amounted to GEL 824 (2011: GEL 482; 2010: GEL 2,118).
During 2012, 2011 and 2010 sensitivity analysis did not reveal significant potential effect on the Group
Equity.
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Interest rate risk. Interest rate risk arises from potential changes in market interest rates that can adversely
affect the value of the financial assets and liabilities of the Bank. This risk can arise from maturity
mismatches of assets and liabilities, as well as from the re-pricing characteristics of such assets and
liabilities. The loans and deposits offered by the Bank are at fixed interest rates, while a portion of the
Bank’s borrowings is based on a floating rate of interest. The Bank’s floating rate borrowings are, to a
certain extent, hedged by the NBG paying a rate that is adjusted to a floating rate on the minimum reserves
that the Bank holds with NBG. The Bank has also entered into interest rate swap agreements in order to
mitigate interest rate risk, analyses of derivative financial instruments is given in Note 38. Furthermore,
many of the Bank’s loans to customers contain a clause allowing it to adjust the interest rate on the loan in
case of adverse interest rate movements, thereby limiting the Bank’s exposure to interest rate risk.
Management also believes that the Bank’s interest rate margins provide a reasonable buffer in order to
mitigate the effect of possible adverse interest rate movement.

Interest rate risk is managed within the limit framework as established in accordance with the standards set
by the Group. The Bank’s interest rate gap is prepared and analysed by the Financial Risk Management
Department. Scenario analysis is also conducted on a quarterly basis in order to assess interest rate
earnings and the economic value sensitivity of the Bank, as well as to monitor compliance with the interest
rate gap and other limits set by Asset and Liability Management Committee.

The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to interest rate risks. The table presents the aggregated
amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of
contractual interest re-pricing or maturity dates (Currency swaps are not netted when assessing the Group’s
exposure to interest rate risks. Therefore, total financial assets and liabilities below are not traceable with
either balance sheet or other financial risk management tables).

In thousands of GEL Less than 1 year More than 1 year Total

31 December 201 2
Total financial assets 1,917,616 1,715,962 3,633,578
Total financial liabilities 2,256,548 1,051,705 3,308,253

Net interest sen sitivity gap at 31 December 2012 (338,932) 664,257 325,325

31 December 2011
Total financial assets 1,580,289 1,422,328 3,002,617
Total financial liabilities 1,896,863 884,328 2,781,191

Net interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 2011 (316,574) 538,000 221,426

31 December 2010
Total financial assets 1,159,183 832,853 1,992,036
Total financial liabilities 1,474,335 382,018 1,856,353

Net interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 2010 (315,152) 450,835 135,683

At 31 December 2012, if interest rates at that date had been 100 basis points lower with all other variables
held constant, profit for the year would have been GEL 1,695 thousand (2011 GEL 1,583 thousand; 2010:
GEL 1,576 thousand) higher, mainly as a result of lower interest expense on variable interest liabilities.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher, with all other variables held constant, profit would have
been GEL 1,695 thousand (2011: GEL 1,583 thousand; 2010: GEL 1,576 thousand) lower, mainly as a
result of higher interest expense on variable interest liabilities.

For the management of Interest Rate risk on a standalone basis, the Bank has introduced advanced model
developed together with Ernst & Young LLC.

The bank calculates impact on both Net Interest Income and Economic Value sensitivity using parallel shifts
as well as number of different scenarios. In addition, stress tests and what if scenarios are developed in
accordance with Basel 2 requirements to ensure that the bank can withstand severe but probable stress
scenarios. In order to manage Interest Rate risk the Bank establishes appropriate limits. The Bank monitors
compliance with the limits and prepares forecasts. ALCO decides on actions that are necessary for effective
Interest rate risk management and follows up on the implementation. Periodic reporting is done to
Management Board and Supervisory Board Risk, Ethics and Compliance Committee.
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Liquidity risk. Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations
associated with financial liabilities. The Group is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources from
overnight deposits, current accounts, maturing deposits, loan draw downs, guarantees and from margin and
other calls on cash settled derivative instruments. Short-term and long-term liquidity risk is managed by
Financial Risk Management and Treasury Departments and monitored by the Asset/Liability Management
Committee of the Group.

The principal objectives of the Group’s liquidity policy are:

- Ensure appropriate levels of liquidity, at all times to meet claims arising from both on and off balance

liability demands or asset commitments, both actual and contingent, at an economic price

- Monitor liquidity and funding on an ongoing basis to ensure that the approved business targets are met

in a manner that does not compromise the risk profile of the Bank; Analyse all potential future in- and

outflows and measure their effect on liquidity risk

- Recognize the structural mismatch that exists within the Bank’s balance sheet and set monitoring

ratios to manage funding in line with well balanced growth.

For the purpose of reliable liquidity risk management, the Bank has adopted maturity mismatch approach
and developed Liquidity Mismatch Model which is in accordance with Basel Principle for Sound Liquidity
Risk Management (Principle No 5). The framework is designed to comprehensively project cash flows
arising from assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items over the certain time bands.
The model requires:

- To analyse cash flows under various heading and place them in predetermined time bands based on

residual contractual maturity

- To apply behavioral adjustments, supported by documentary evidence, to cash flows of certain product

types

- To calculate net mismatches by time period, according to Liquidity Coverage Ratio definition:

Qualified Liquid Assets + Total Inflow/Total Outflow

- To assess the level of mismatch on net cumulative bases

- To control level of net mismatches via Prudential Limits

Critical Limits are set for the following time bands: 0-8 days, 9-30 days and 30-60 days, with the
corresponding liquidity coverage ratio limits of 150%, 120% and 100% respectively.

The results of liquidity calculated using Liquidity Mismatch Model are additionally stress-tested using large
shock scenario defined by NBG. Liquidity coverage internal limits in stress conditions are set at 100% for
the first three time bands.

The Bank calculates Internal Liquidity Coverage Ratio and Stress Test on weekly basis.

As a complement to Liquidity Mismatch Model and Stress Testing, the Bank has adopted Liquidity
Contingency Plan which is part of Group’s Prudential Liquidity policy, to meet the overall funding and
liquidity requirements. It is designed to enable the Bank to maintain its core business in deteriorating
liquidity conditions and to emerge from a liquidity crisis as a creditworthy organisation.

The Bank calculates liquidity ratio on a daily basis in accordance with the requirement of NBG. The limit is
defined by NBG for average liquidity ratio calculated as the ratio of average liquid assets to average
liabilities for the respective month, including borrowings from financial institutions with residual maturity up
to 6 months and off-balance sheet liabilities up to 6 months; The ratio was 36.59% at 31 December 2012
(2011: 33.54%; 2010: 32.77%), well above the prudential limit set by NBG.

143



TBC Bank Group
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements – 31 December 2012

35 Financial and Other Risk Management (Continued)

According to daily cash flow forecasts, and the surplus in liquidity standing, Treasury Department places
funds in short-term liquid assets, largely made up of short-term risk free securities, interbank deposits and
other inter-bank facilities, to ensure that sufficient liquidity is maintained within the Group as a whole.

The daily liquidity position is managed according to balance sheet cash flow models, which are the part of
assets/liabilities management process. The Asset/Liability Management Committee sets limits on the
minimum proportion of maturing funds available to meet deposit withdrawals and on the minimum level on
interbank and other borrowing facilities that should be in place to cover withdrawals at unexpected levels of
demand.

For liquidity management purposes, the acceptable level for the liquidity ratio and concentration limits such
as deposit to total obligations and large depositor concentration ratio as well as other ratios are set by the
Asset/Liability Management Committee (ALCO) and controlled by the Financial Risks Management
Department.

The table below summarizes the maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities as at 31 December
2012 based on remaining undiscounted contractual obligations. Repayments which are subject to notice are
treated as if notice were to be given immediately. However, the Group expects that many customers will not
request repayment on the earliest date the Group could be required to pay and the table does not reflect the
expected cash flows indicated by the Group’s deposit retention history.

In thousands of GEL

Less than
3 months

From 3 to
12 months

From
12 months
to 5 years

Over 5
years

Total

Liabilities
Due to other banks 33,254 3,220 42,461 - 78,935
Customer accounts – individuals 679,547 583,177 193,330 9,212 1,465,266
Customer accounts – other 753,368 142,647 173,640 19,854 1,089,509
Other financial liabilities 19,353 109 - - 19,462
Other borrowed funds 189,406 95,624 267,048 53,391 605,469
Subordinated debt 862 10,998 92,189 78,303 182,352
Gross settled forwards 63,094 8,075 - - 71,169
Financial and performance guarantees 82,913 154,402 88,953 45,865 372,133
Other credit related commitments 179,589 - - - 179,589

Total potential future payments for financial
obligations 2,001,386 998,252 857,621 206,625 4,063,884

The maturity analysis of financial liabilities at 31 December 2011 is as follows:

In thousands of GEL

Less than
3 months

From 3 to
12 months

From
12 months
to 5 years

Over 5
years

Total

Liabilities
Due to other banks 58,694 57,739 - - 116,433
Customer accounts – individuals 528,762 457,578 166,794 6,737 1,159,871
Customer accounts – other 677,435 76,376 167,640 5,675 927,126
Other financial liabilities 6,582 1,382 3,414 358 11,736
Other borrowed funds 138,899 168,262 225,539 64,497 597,197
Subordinated debt 19,318 21,870 109,269 59,874 210,331
Gross settled forwards 61,964 - - - 61,964
Financial and performance guarantees 99,894 171,318 81,086 48,040 400,338
Other credit related commitments 199,054 - - - 199,054

Total potential future payments for financial
obligations 1,790,602 954,525 753,742 185,181 3,684,050
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The maturity analysis of financial liabilities at 31 December 2010 is as follows:

In thousands of GEL

Less than
3 months

From 3 to
12 months

From
12 months
to 5 years

Over 5
years

Total

Liabilities
Due to other banks 47,766 - - - 47,766
Customer accounts – individuals 497,121 300,893 64,096 7,182 869,292
Customer accounts – other 430,888 69,155 12,089 8,867 520,999
Other financial liabilities 4,013 - - - 4,013
Other borrowed funds 86,654 44,914 93,584 64,185 289,337
Subordinated debt 2,065 10,165 87,080 67,583 166,893
Gross settled forwards 356 - - - 356
Financial and performance guarantees 19,259 57,611 28,662 26,692 132,224
Other credit related commitments 99,528 - - - 99,528

Total potential future payments for financial
obligations 1,187,650 482,738 285,511 174,509 2,130,408

The undiscounted financial liability analysis gap does not reflect the historical stability of current accounts.
Their liquidation has historically taken place over a longer period than indicated in the tables above. These
balances are included in amounts due in less than three months in the tables above.

Term Deposits included in customer accounts are classified based on contractual maturities, although, in
accordance with the Georgian Civil Code, individuals have a right to withdraw their deposits prior to maturity
if they partially or fully forfeit their right to accrued interest and the Group is obliged to repay such deposits
upon demand of a depositor. In line with historical experience, however, Management expects that many
customers will not require repayment on the earliest possible date and, accordingly, the table does not
reflect Management’s expectations as to actual cash flows indicated by the Bank’s deposit retention history.

The Group does not use the above undiscounted maturity analysis to manage liquidity. Instead, the Group
monitors liquidity gap analysis based on the expected maturities. In particular, the customers’ deposits are
distributed in the given maturity gaps following their behavioural analysis.
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The expected gap may be summarised as follows at 31 December 2012:

In thousands of GEL
Less than 3

months
From 3 to
12 months

Over 1 year Total

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 398,587 - - 398,587
Due from other banks 317,439 28,164 - 345,603
Loans and advances to customers 442,312 560,935 1,366,953 2,370,200
Investment securities available for sale 407,733 - - 407,733
Investment securities held to maturity - - - -
Finance lease receivables 4,799 9,127 12,451 26,377
Other financial assets 8,973 2,989 13,339 25,301

Total financial assets 1,579,843 601,215 1,392,743 3,573,801

Liabilities
Due to other banks 33,145 3,102 39,957 76,204
Customer accounts 310,867 87,043 2,089,034 2,486,944
Other borrowed funds 186,642 79,905 284,372 550,919
Other financial liabilities 19,353 109 - 19,462
Subordinated debt 793 1,434 112,853 115,080

Total financial liabilities 550,800 171,593 2,526,216 3,248,609

Credit related commitments and performance guarantees
Financial and performance guarantees 3,174 - - 3,174
Other credit related commitments 33,601 - - 33,601

Credit related commitments and performance guarantees 36,775 - - 36,775

Net liquidity gap at 31 December 201 2 992,268 429,622 (1,133,473) 288,417

Cumulative gap at 31 December 201 2 992,268 1,421,890 288,417

Management believes that the Group has sufficient liquidity to meet its current on- and off-balance sheet
obligations.
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The analysis by expected maturities may be summarised as follows at 31 December 2011:

In thousands of GEL
Less than
3 months

From 3 to
12 months

Over 1 year Total

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 374,153 - - 374,153
Due from other banks 250,836 40,173 - 291,009
Loans and advances to customers 351,624 468,693 1,188,428 2,008,745
Investment securities available for sale 266,436 - - 266,436
Investment securities held to maturity 8,833 20,123 - 28,956
Finance lease receivables 3,315 6,534 12,130 21,979
Other financial assets 5,559 2,575 3,205 11,339

Total financial assets 1,260,756 538,098 1,203,763 3,002,617

Liabilities
Due to other banks 54,243 56,135 - 110,378
Customer accounts 253,706 69,822 1,675,728 1,999,256
Other borrowed funds 132,057 150,970 234,745 517,772
Other financial liabilities 6,153 1,380 3,772 11,305
Subordinated debt 18,122 9,664 114,694 142,480

Total financial liabilities 464,281 287,971 2,028,939 2,781,191

Credit related commitments and performance guarantees
Financial and performance guarantees 7,134 - - 7,134
Other credit related commitments 27,351 - - 27,351

Credit related commitments and performance guarantees 34,485 - - 34,485

Net liquidity gap at 31 December 2011 761,990 250,127 (825,176) 186,941

Cumulative gap at 31 December 2011 761,990 1,012,117 186,941
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The analysis by expected maturities may be summarised as follows at 31 December 2010:

In thousands of GEL
Less than
3 months

From 3 to
12 months

Over 1
year

Total

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 275,425 - - 275,425
Due from other banks 58,576 16,160 - 74,736
Loans and advances to customers 225,793 356,878 798,284 1,380,955
Investment securities available for sale 216,323 - - 216,323
Investment securities held to maturity - - 28,986 28,986
Finance lease receivables 1,629 3,527 4,525 9,681
Other financial assets 5,930 - - 5,930

Total financial assets 783,676 376,565 831,795 1,992,036

Liabilities
Due to other banks 47,762 - - 47,762
Customer accounts 170,669 47,787 1,146,896 1,365,352
Other borrowed funds 86,036 41,564 153,306 280,906
Other financial liabilities 3,932 - - 3,932
Subordinated debt 2,048 7,103 149,250 158,401

Total financial liabilities 310,447 96,454 1,449,452 1,856,353

Credit related commitments and performance guarantees
Financial and performance guarantees 5,781 - - 5,781
Other credit related commitments 5,227 - - 5,227

Credit related commitments and performance guarantees 11,008 - - 11,008

Net liquidity gap at 31 December 2010 462,221 280,111 (617,657) 124,675

Cumulative gap at 31 December 2010 462,221 742,332 124,675
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In order to assess the possible outflow of the bank’s customer accounts management applied value at risk
analysis. The statistical data was used on the basis of a holding period of one month for a look-back period
of three years with a confidence level of 99%. The value at risk analysis was performed for the following
maturity gaps: (0-3 months) and (0-12 months), based on which the maximum percentage of deposits’
outflow was calculated.

The matching and/or controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities is
fundamental to the management of the Group. It is unusual for banks ever to be completely matched since
business transacted is often of an uncertain term and of different types. An unmatched position potentially
enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of losses. The maturities of assets and liabilities and
the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing liabilities as they mature, are important factors
in assessing the liquidity of the Group and its exposure to changes in interest and exchange rates.

Management believes that in spite of a substantial portion of customers accounts being on demand,
diversification of these deposits by number and type of depositors, and the past experience of the Group
would indicate that these customer accounts provide a long-term and stable source of funding for the
Group. Moreover, the Group’s liquidity risk management includes estimation of actual estimated maturities
for its current deposits. The estimation is based on statistical methods applied to historic information on
fluctuations of customer account balances.

Liquidity requirements to support calls under financial and performance guarantees and standby letters of
credit are considerably less than the amount of the commitment because the Group does not generally
expect the third party to draw funds under the agreement. The total outstanding contractual amount of
commitments to extend credit does not necessarily represent future cash requirements, since many of
these commitments will expire or terminate without being funded.

To promote more medium and long-term funding of the assets and activities TBC Bank has adopted the
Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) based on the guidelines given in the document ‘Basel III International
Framework for liquidity risk measurement, standards and monitoring - 2010, December’. This standard
establishes a minimum acceptable amount of stable funding based on the liquidity characteristics of the
Bank’s assets and activities over a one year horizon.

In particular, the NSFR standard is structured to be effective tool for liquidity risk management purposes by
ensuring that long term assets are funded with at least a minimum amount of stable liabilities in relation to
their liquidity risk profiles. The NSFR aims to limit over-reliance on short-term wholesale funding during
times of buoyant market liquidity and encourage better assessment of liquidity risk across all on- and off-
balance sheet items.

The objective of the standard is to ensure stable funding on an ongoing, viable entity basis, over one year in
an extended firm-specific stress scenario where a bank encounters, and investors and customers become
aware of:
- A significant decline in profitability or solvency arising from heightened credit risk, market risk or

operational risk and/or other risk exposures;

- A potential downgrade in a debt, counterparty credit or deposit rating by any nationally recognized

credit rating organization; and/or

- A material event that calls into question the reputation or credit quality of the institution.

The NSFR is defined as the amount of available amount of stable funding (ASF) to the amount of required
stable funding (RSF):

amount of stable funding

amount of stable funding
> 100%

The available amount of stable funding is calculated as the sum of the value capital and liabilities multiplied
by a specific required stable funding (ASF) factor assigned to each particular liability type.

The required amount of stable funding is calculated as the sum of the value of the assets held and funded
by the Bank, multiplied by a specific required stable funding (RSF) factor assigned to each particular asset
type, added to the amount of off-balance sheet activity (or potential liquidity exposure) multiplied by its
associated RSF factor

Net Stable Funding ratio is calculated based on NBG accounting standards for TBC Bank standalone. The
remaining maturity of the instruments is defined based on IFRS requirements.
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Calculation of the NSFR as at 31 December 2012 is summarized in the table below. The Bank introduced
the ratio in 2012 therefore there is no comparative data:

NSFR at 31 December 2012 116.77%

In thousands of GEL Factor Amount
Weighted
amount

Capital: Tier 1 & Tier 2 Capital Instruments 636,562

Tier 1 100% 504,843 504,843

Tier 2 100% 172,139 172,139

Deductions from Capital 100% (40,420) (40,420)

Long Term Funding (year > 1) 180,056
Long Term Borrowings (>1 year) 100% 165,477 165,477
Subordinated debt(>1 year) and not included in Tier 2 100% 14,579 14,579

Other Funding 1,775,581
Total Corporate deposits 50% 780,570 390,285
Total SME deposits 80% 268,666 214,933
Total Retail deposits 80% 1,363,369 1,090,695
Short term borrowings with remaining maturity (<=1year)
excluding NBG Loan 50% 159,335 79,668

Available amount of stable funding 2,592,198

Long term Assets with remaining maturity >1 year 1,763,027
Certificate of Deposits & Treasury bill's 5% - -
Reserves in NGB (Stable part) 100% 246,449 246,449
Corporate Loans more than 1 year 100% 592,926 592,926
SME Loans more than 1 year 100% 176,201 176,201
Retail Loans more than 1 year 100% 524,872 524,872
Fixed and Intangible Assets 100% 183,726 183,726
Repossessed Assets 100% - -
Equity Investments 100% 28,094 28,094
Other assets 100% 10,760 10,760

Short term Assets with remaining maturity <=1 year 429,455
Corporate Loans less than 1 year 50% 456,427 228,213
SME Loans less than 1 year 50% 81,377 40,689
Retail Loans less than 1 year 50% 321,106 160,553

Undrawn amount of committed credit and liquidity facilities 27,502
Unused credit lines and undisbursed amounts from loans 5% 177,313 8,866
Guarantees 5% 372,717 18,636

Required amount of stable funding 2,219,983

Insurance risk - amount, timing and uncertainty of profit and loss and future cash flows. The
insurance risk arises in connection with the performance guarantees issued by the Group. The risk under
performance guarantee contracts is the possibility that the insured event (i.e.: the failure to perform the
contractual obligation by another party) occurs. The key risks the Bank faces are significant fluctuations in
the frequency and severity of payments incurred on such contracts relative to expectations. The Bank uses
historical data and statistical techniques to predict levels of such payments. Claims must be made before
the contract matures and most claims are settled within short term. This allows the Bank to achieve a high
degree of certainty about the estimated payments and therefore future cash flows. The Bank manages such
risks by constantly monitoring the level of payments for such products and has the ability to adjust its fees in
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the future to reflect any change in claim payments experience. The Bank has a claim payment requests
handling process which includes the right to review the claim and reject fraudulent or non-compliant
requests. Most of the performance guarantee contracts are collateralised, e.g. by counter-guarantees
issued by other banking institutions.

36 Management of Capital

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are (i) to comply with the capital requirements set by NBG
(ii) to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and (iii) to comply with financial
covenants stipulated by borrowing agreements. Compliance with capital adequacy ratios set by NBG is
monitored monthly with reports outlining their calculation reviewed and signed by the Bank’s CFO and
Deputy CFO.

Under the current capital requirements set by NBG banks have to maintain a ratio of regulatory capital to
risk weighted assets (“statutory capital ratio”) above a prescribed minimum level. Regulatory capital is
based on the Bank’s stand alone reports prepared in the forms prescribed by NBG and comprises:

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

Share capital 251,785 224,659 216,836
Retained earnings and other disclosed reserves 253,057 222,985 108,940
General loan loss provisions (up to 1.25 % of risk – weighted assets) 44,224 42,172 23,776
Less intangible assets (14,048) (6,380) (3,375)
Less Investments into subsidiary companies and capital of other banks (68,615) (70,764) (46,913)
Subordinated debt (included in regulatory capital) 99,733 79,239 104,099

Total regulatory capital 566,136 491,911 403,363

The Group and the Bank are also subject to minimum capital requirements established by covenants stated
in loan agreements, including capital adequacy levels calculated in accordance with the requirements of the
Basle Accord, as defined in the International Convergence of Capital Measurement and Capital Standards
(updated April 1998) and Amendment to the Capital Accord to incorporate market risks (updated November
2005), commonly known as Basel I. The composition of the Group’s capital calculated in accordance with
Basel Accord is as follows:

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

Tier 1 capital
Share capital 247,644 218,479 216,836
Retained earnings and disclosed reserves 303,023 208,006 123,423
Less: Goodwill (2,726) (2,726) (1,262)
Non-controlling interest 11,419 9,134 5,200
Total tier 1 capital 559,360 432,893 344,197

Tier 2 capital
Revaluation reserves 41,939 33,162 31,813
General reserve 36,148 31,841 21,872
Subordinated debt (included in tier 2 capital) 99,733 79,239 104,099
Total tier 2 capital 177,820 144,242 157,784

Total capital 737,180 577,135 501,981

Following Basel I guidelines general reserve is defined by the management as the minimum among the
following:

a) IFRS provisions created on loans without impairment trigger event

b) 2% of loans without impairment trigger event

c) 1.25% of total RWA (Risk Weighted Assets)

The Bank has complied with all externally imposed capital requirements throughout 2012, 2011 and 2010.
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Legal proceedings. The Bank is a defendant in a legal claim, however on the basis of its own estimates
and both internal professional advice, management is of the opinion that no material losses will be incurred
in respect of claims, and accordingly no provision has been made in these financial statements.

Tax legislation. Georgian and Azerbaijani tax and customs legislation is subject to varying interpretations,
and changes, which can occur frequently. Management’s interpretation of such legislation as applied to the
transactions and activity of the Group may be challenged by the relevant authorities. Fiscal periods remain
open to review by the authorities in respect of taxes for five calendar years preceding the period of review.
To respond to the risks, the Bank has engaged external tax specialists who are performing periodic reviews
of Bank’s taxation policies and tax filings, consequently the Bank’s management believes that its
interpretation of the relevant legislation is appropriate and the Bank’s tax, and customs positions will be
sustained. Accordingly, as at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 no provision for potential tax liabilities has
been recorded.

Operating lease commitments. Where the Group is the lessee, the future lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases, if cancelled, would be as follows:

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

Not later than 1 year 58 395 -
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 271 95 667
Later than 5 years - 167 492

Total operating lease commitments 329 657 1,159

Compliance with covenants. The Group is subject to certain covenants related primarily to its borrowings.
Non-compliance with such covenants may result in negative consequences for the Group including growth
in the cost of borrowings and declaration of default. The Group was in compliance with covenants as at 31
December 2012, 2011 and 2010.

Credit related commitments and performance guarantees. The primary purpose of these instruments is
to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required. Financial guarantees and standby letters of
credit, which represent irrevocable assurances that the Group will make payments in the event that a
customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties, carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and
commercial letters of credit, which are written undertakings by the Group on behalf of a customer
authorising a third party to draw drafts on the Group up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and
conditions, are collateralised by the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate or cash deposits
and therefore carry less risk than a direct borrowing. Performance guarantees are contracts that provide
compensation if another party fails to perform a contractual obligation. Such contracts do not transfer credit
risk. The risk under performance guarantee contracts is the possibility that the insured event (i.e.: the failure
to perform the contractual obligation by another party) occurs. The key risks the Bank faces are significant
fluctuations in the frequency and severity of payments incurred on such contracts relative to expectations.

Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit in the form of
loans, guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Group
is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, the likely
amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments since most commitments to extend credit are
contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards. The Group monitors the term to maturity
of credit related commitments because longer-term commitments generally have a greater degree of credit
risk than shorter-term commitments.
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Outstanding credit related commitments and performance guarantees are as follows:

In thousands of GEL Note 2012 2011 2010

Financial and performance guarantees issued 273,124 322,263 145,877
Undrawn credit lines 179,589 199,054 99,329
Letters of credit

88,698 66,091 18,377
Total credit related commitments and performance
guarantees (before provision) 541,411 587,408 263,583

Less: Provision for credit related commitments and
performance guarantees (3,174) (7,134) (5,781)

Total credit related commitments and performance
guarantees 538,237 580,274 257,802

The total outstanding contractual amount of undrawn credit lines, letters of credit, and guarantees does not
necessarily represent future cash requirements, as these financial instruments may expire or terminate
without being funded. Binding undrawn credit lines as at 31 December 2012 composed GEL 124,448
thousand (2011: GEL 101,301 thousand; 2011:2010: GEL 19,361 thousand).

Fair value of credit related commitments and performance guarantees was GEL 3,174 thousand at 31
December 2012 (2011: GEL 7,134 thousand; 2010: GEL 5,781 thousand). They are denominated in
currencies as follows:

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

Georgian Lari 194,178 164,997 62,907
US Dollars2
Euro
Other

79,563 318,830 158,436
36,431 42,509 28,522
31,239 61,072 13,718

Total 541,411 587,408 263,583

Capital expenditure commitments. At 31 December 2012, the Group has no contractual capital
expenditure commitments in respect of premises and equipment (2011: GEL 1,290 thousand; 2010: nil).
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In the normal course of business, the Group enters into various derivative financial instruments, to manage
currency, liquidity and interest rate risks and for trading purposes.

In thousands of GEL 2012 2011 2010

Fair value of foreign exchange forwards and gross settled currency swaps 446 165 (300)
Fair value of Interest rate swaps (7,139) (5,152) -

Total (6,693) (4,987) (300)

Foreign Exchange Forwards and gross settled currency swaps . Foreign exchange derivative financial
instruments entered into by the Group are generally traded in an over-the-counter market with professional
market counterparties on standardised contractual terms and conditions. Derivatives have potentially
favourable (assets) or unfavourable (liabilities) conditions as a result of fluctuations in market interest rates,
foreign exchange rates or other variables relative to their terms. The aggregate fair values of derivative
financial assets and liabilities can fluctuate significantly from time to time.

The table below sets out fair values, at the balance sheet date, of currencies receivable or payable under
foreign exchange forwards contracts and gross settled currency swaps entered into by the Group. The table
reflects gross positions before the netting of any counterparty positions (and payments) and covers the
contracts with settlement dates after the respective balance sheet date. The contracts are short term in
nature.

2012 2011 2010

In thousands of GEL

Contracts
with

positive
fair value

Contracts
with

negative
fair value

Contracts
with

positive
fair value

Contracts
with

negative
fair value

Contracts
with

positive
fair value

Contracts
with

negative
fair

value

Foreign exchange forwards and
gross settled currency swaps:
fair values, at the balance sheet
date, of
- USD payable on settlement (-) - (36,428) - (53,968) - (664)
- USD receivable on settlement (+) 26,507 - - - - -
- GEL payable on settlement (-) - (26,508) - - - -
- GEL receivable on settlement (+) 41,676 - 8,407 - 364 -
- EUR payable on settlement (-) - (8,075) - - - -
- EUR receivable on settlement (+) 3,274 - 13,617 - - -
- Other payable on settlement (-) - - - - - -
- Other receivable on settlement (+) - - 32,109 - - -

Fair value of foreign exchange
forwards and gross settled
currency swaps 71,457 (71,011) 54,133 (53,968) 364 (664)

Net fair value of foreign exchange
forwards and gross settled
currency swaps 446 165 - - (300)

Interest rate swaps. In March 2010 TBC Bank entered into interest rate swap agreement, to hedge floating
interest rate on its subordinated debt. The hedge covers payment of floating rate interest payments with the
notional principal of USD 44,000. The swap expires in November 2018. At the reporting date fair value of
interest rate swaps was estimated to be minus USD 7,139 thousand (2011: minus USD 5,152 thousand;
2010: nil).

Information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 41.
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(a) Fair values of financial instruments carried at amortised cost.

Fair values of financial instruments carried at amortised cost are as follows:

2012 2011 2010
In thousands of GEL Fair value Carrying

value
Fair value Carrying

value
Fair value Carrying

value

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 398,587 398,587 374,153 374,153 275,425 275,425
Due from other banks 345,603 345,603 291,009 291,009 74,736 74,736
Loans and advances to
customers:
- Corporate loans 1,046,831 1,029,112 919,868 889,743 588,910 695,119
- Consumer loans 455,020 451,548 368,090 383,232 243,267 259,783
- Mortgage loans 375,406 372,230 356,354 362,347 230,286 244,140
- Small and micro loans 293,294 289,397 217,611 230,557 189,569 142,383
- Others 85,449 86,343 58,386 58,456 39,530 39,530
- Micro 134,010 141,570 80,114 84,410 - -
Investment securities held to
maturity - - 29,677 28,956 29,224 28,986
Investments in leases 26,377 26,377 21,979 21,979 9,681 9,681
Other financial assets 25,301 25,301 11,339 11,339 5,930 5,930

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSE TS
CARRIED
AT AMORTISED COST 3,185,878 3,166,068 2,728,580 2,736,181 1,686,558 1,775,713

FINANCIAL LIABILITIE S
Due to other banks 76,204 76,204 110,378 110,378 47,762 47,762
Customer accounts 2,486,944 2,486,944 1,999,256 1,999,256 1,365,352 1,365,352
Other financial liabilities 19,462 19,462 11,305 11,305 3,932 3,932
Other borrowed funds 550,917 550,917 517,772 517,772 280,906 280,906
Subordinated debt 115,082 115,082 142,480 142,480 158,401 158,401

TOTAL FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES CARRIED
AT AMORTISED COST 3,253,580 3,253,580 2,781,191 2,781,191 1,856,353 1,856,353

(b) Analysis by fair value hierarchy of financial instruments carried at fair value.

Financial instruments recognized at fair value are broken down for disclosure purposes into a three
level fair value hierarchy based on the observability of inputs as follows:

Quoted prices in an active market (Level 1) – Valuations based on quoted prices in active markets
that the Bank has the ability to access for identical assets or liabilities. Valuation adjustments and
block discounts are not applied to these financial instruments. Since valuations are based on
quoted prices that are readily and regularly available in an active market, valuations of these
products do not entail a significant amount of judgment;

Valuation techniques using observable inputs (Level 2) – Valuations based on inputs for which all
significant inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly and valuations based on one or more
observable quoted prices for orderly transactions in markets that are not considered active;

Valuation techniques incorporating information other than observable market data (Level 3) –
Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value
measurement.
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The Bank’s valuation approach and fair value hierarchy categorization for certain significant classes of
financial instruments recognized at fair value is as follows:

2012 2011 2010

In thousands of GEL

Quoted
price in an

active
market

(Level 1)

Valuation
technique

with
inputs

observa-
ble in

markets
(Level 2)

Quoted
price in

an
active
market

(Level 1)

Valuation
techniqu

e with
inputs

observa-
ble in

markets
(Level 2)

Quoted
price in

an
active
market

(Level 1)

Valuation
techniqu

e with
inputs

observa-
ble in

markets
(Level 2)

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Investment securities available for sale
- Certificates of Deposits of National
Bank of Georgia 187,551 - 168,537 - 126,148 -
- Ministry of Finance Treasury Bills 19,210 - 61,014 - 86,841 -
- Government notes 196,004 - 32,942 - - -
- Corporate shares (Visa Inc) 3,156 - 2,131 - 1,568 -

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSE TS CARRIED
AT FAIR VALUE 405,921 - 264,624 - 214,557 -

- Derivative financial liabilities - 6,828 - 4,987 - 300

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIAB ILITIES
CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE - 6,828 - 4,987 - 300

(c) The methods and assumptions applied in determining fair values.

Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction
between willing parties, other than in a forced sale or liquidation, and is best evidenced by an active quoted
market price. Where quoted market prices are not available, the Group used valuation techniques. Certain
valuation techniques required assumptions that were not supported by observable market data. Changing
any such used assumptions to a reasonably possible alternative would not result in significantly different
profit, income, total assets or total liabilities.

The fair value of floating rate instruments that are not quoted in an active market was estimated to be equal
to their carrying amount. The fair value of unquoted fixed interest rate instruments was estimated based on
estimated future cash flows expected to be received discounted at current interest rates for new instruments
with similar credit risk and remaining maturity.

Discount rates used depend on currency, maturity of the instrument and credit risk of the counterparty and
were as follows:

2012 2011 2010

Due from other banks 2% 2% 2%
Loans and advances to customers
Corporate loans 13% 14% 21%
Consumer loans 21% 23% 26%
Mortgage loans 13% 14% 21%
Loans to small and medium enterprises 13% 15% 20%
Micro loans 29% 33% -
Investment securities held to maturity 13% 14%
Due to other banks 4% 3% 5%
Customer accounts
Current/settlement accounts of legal entities 2% 3% 2%
Term deposits of legal entities 9% 11% 11%
Current/demand accounts of individuals 2% 3% 3%
Term deposits individuals 7% 9% 11%
Other borrowed funds 8% 5% 6%
Subordinated debt 10% 10% 10%
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For the purposes of measurement, IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition of Measurement, classifies
financial assets into the following categories: (a) loans and receivables; (b) available for sale financial
assets; (c) financial assets held to maturity and (d) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”). Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss have two subcategories: (i) assets designated
as such upon initial recognition, and (ii) those classified as held for trading. The following table provides a
reconciliation of classes of financial assets with these measurement categories as of 31 December 2012:

In thousands of GEL
Loans and
receivables

Available for
sale assets

Held to
maturity

Total

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents - - - 398,587
Due from other banks 345,603 - - 345,603
Loans and advances to customers 2,370,200 - - 2,370,200
Investment securities available for sale - 407,733 - 407,733
Investments in leases 26,377 - - 26,377
Other financial assets:
- Other financial receivables 25,301 - - 25,301

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSE TS 2,767,481 407,733 - 3,573,801

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 325,893

TOTAL ASSETS 3,899,694
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The following table provides a reconciliation of classes of financial assets with these measurement
categories as of 31 December 2011:

In thousands of GEL
Loans and
receivables

Available for
sale assets

Held to
maturity

Total

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents - - - 374,153
Due from other banks 291,009 - - 291,009
Loans and advances to customers 2,008,745 - - 2,008,745
Investment securities held to maturity - - 28,956 28,956
Investment securities available for sale - 266,436 - 266,436
Investments in leases 21,979 - - 21,979
Other financial assets:
- Other financial receivables 11,339 - - 11,339

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSE TS 2,333,072 266,436 28,956 3,002,617

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS - - - 297,404

TOTAL ASSETS - - - 3,300,021

The following table provides a reconciliation of classes of financial assets with these measurement
categories as of 31 December 2010:

In thousands of GEL
Loans and
receivables

Available for
sale assets

Held to
maturity

Total

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents - - - 275,425
Due from other banks 74,736 - - 74,736
Loans and advances to customers 1,380,955 - - 1,380,955
Investment securities available for sale - 216,323 - 216,323
Investment securities held to maturity - - 28,986 28,986
Investments in leases 9,681 - - 9,681
Other financial assets:
- Other financial receivables 5,930 - - 5,930

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSE TS 1,471,302 216,323 28,986 1,992,036

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS - - - 275,745

TOTAL ASSETS - - - 2,267,781

As at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010, all of the Group’s financial liabilities except for derivatives are
carried at amortised cost. Derivatives belong to the fair value through profit or loss measurement category.
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Parties are generally considered to be related if the parties are under common control or one party has the ability to
control the other party or can exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational
decisions. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the
relationship, not merely the legal form. Included in key management personnel are members of the Board of Directors
and close members of the family. Other related parties include entities in which shareholders have significant influence.

At 31 December 2012, the outstanding balances with related parties were as follows:

In thousands of GEL

Note Significant
shareholders

Key
management

personnel

Other
related
parties

Gross amount of loans and advances to customers (contractual
interest rate: 13 - 26 %) 13,137 1,571 15,358
Impairment provisions for loans and advances to customers 250 19 318
Derivative financial liability 38 7,139 - -
Other borrowed funds 161,767 - -
Customer accounts (contractual interest rate: 0 - 13 %) 3,839 4,530 22,192
Subordinated debt (contractual interest rate: 5 - 11.3 %)

61,122 - -

The income and expense items with related parties except from key management compensation for the
year 2012 were as follows:

In thousands of GEL

Note Significant
shareholders

Key
management

personnel

Other
related
parties

Interest income
Interest expense

1,757 261 1,644
385 386 565

Provision for loan impairment - - 26
Foreign exchange translation gains less losses 8 4 392
Fee and commission income 11 5 376
Administrative and other operating expenses 17 133 -
Net loss on derivative financial instruments 38 3,804 - -

At 31 December 2012, other rights and obligations with related parties were as follows:

In thousands of GEL

Significant
shareholders

Key
management

personnel

Other
related
parties

Guarantees issued by the Group at the year end - - 5,401

Aggregate amounts of loans advanced to and repaid by related parties during 2012 were:

In thousands of GEL

Significant
shareholders

Key
management

personnel

Other
related
parties

Amounts advanced to related parties during the year 1,816 1,018 15,253
Amounts repaid by related parties during the year (5,041) (1,994) (9,398)
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At 31 December 2011, the outstanding balances with related parties were as follows:

In thousands of GEL

Note Significant
shareholders

Key
management

personnel

Other
related
parties

Gross amount of loans and advances to customers (contractual
interest rate: 13 - 26 %) 14,711 3,129 6,933
Impairment provisions for loans and advances to customers (213) (35) (262)
Derivative financial liability 38 5,152 - -
Other borrowed funds 106,941 - -
Customer accounts (contractual interest rate: 0 - 13 %) 3,899 5,207 13,204
Subordinated debt (contractual interest rate: 5 - 11.3 %) 62,325 - -

The income and expense items with related parties except from key management compensation for the
year 2011 were as follows:

In thousands of GEL

Note Significant
shareholders

Key
management

personnel

Other
related
parties

Interest income
Interest expense

3,328 332 276
401 463 428

Provision for loan impairment - - -
Foreign exchange translation gains less losses 13 5 611
Fee and commission income 8 10 126
Administrative and other operating expenses 55 317 -
Net loss on derivative financial instruments 38 4,987 - -

At 31 December 2011, other rights and obligations with related parties were as follows:

In thousands of GEL

Significant
shareholders

Key
management

personnel

Other
related
parties

Guarantees issued by the Group at the year end - - 7,049

Aggregate amounts of loans advanced to and repaid by related parties during 2011 were:

In thousands of GEL

Significant
shareholders

Key
management

personnel

Other
related
parties

Amounts advanced to related parties during the year 1,435 1,448 12,467
Amounts repaid by related parties during the year (1,422) (645) (9,580)
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At 31 December 2010, the outstanding balances with related parties were as follows:

In thousands of GEL

Significant
shareholders

Key
management

personnel

Other
related
parties

Gross amount of loans and advances to customers (contractual
interest rate: 13 - 26 %) 15,528 1,135 4,303
Impairment provisions for loans and advances to customers (1,114) (83) (554)
Other borrowed funds 96,176 - -
Customer accounts (contractual interest rate: 0 - 13 %) 4,853 3,990 226
Subordinated debt (contractual interest rate: 5 - 11.3 %) 73,101 - -

The income and expense items with related parties except from key management compensation for the
year 2010 were as follows:

In thousands of GEL

Significant
shareholders

Key
management

personnel

Other
related
parties

Interest income 548 127 201
Interest expense 468 247 9
Provision for loan impairment 2,397 44 40
Foreign exchange translation gains less losses 49 4 138
Fee and commission income 3 - 315
Administrative and other operating expenses 27 105 -
Net loss on derivative financial instruments 300 - -

At 31 December 2010, other rights and obligations with related parties were as follows:

In thousands of GEL

Significant
shareholders

Key
management

personnel

Other
related
parties

Guarantees issued by the Group at the year end - - 2,257

Aggregate amounts of loans advanced to and repaid by related parties during 2010 were:

In thousands of GEL

Significant
shareholders

Key
management

personnel

Other
related
parties

Amounts advanced to related parties during the year 13,857 956 11,893
Amounts repaid by related parties during the year (12,134) (1,315) (7,720)

Compensation of the key management personnel and supervisory board members is presented below:

2012 2011 2010
In thousands of GEL Expense Accrued

liability
Expense Accrued

liability
Expense Accrued

liability

Salaries and cash settled
bonuses 7,932 4,415 9,845 4,887 5,561 4,935
Equity-settled share-based
compensation 2,700 - 6,180 - - -

Total 10,632 4,415 16,025 4,887 5,561 4,935
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42 Events After the End of the Reporting Period

After the end of reporting period, the Group received long-term loan from international financial institution amounting to
USD 50,000 thousand.
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